Diffusion in Copper and Copper Alloys, Part II. Copper-Silver and Copper-Gold Systems

Cite as: Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data **3**, 527 (1974); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.3253145 Published Online: 29 October 2009

Daniel B. Butrymowicz, John R. Manning, and Michael E. Read



Diffusion in Copper and Copper Alloys. Part I. Volume and Surface Self-Diffusion in Copper Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data 2, 643 (1973); https:// doi.org/10.1063/1.3253129

Diffusion in copper and copper alloys. Part III. Diffusion in systems involving elements of the groups IA, IIA, IIIB, IVB, VB, VIB, and VIIB

Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data 4, 177 (1975); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.555516

Diffusion in copper and copper alloys part IV. Diffusion in systems involving elements of group VIII

Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data 5, 103 (1976); https://doi.org/10.1063/1.555528



Where in the world is AIP Publishing? Find out where we are exhibiting next



View Onlin

Diffusion in Copper and Copper Alloys Part II. Copper-Silver and Copper-Gold Systems

Daniel B. Butrymowicz, John R. Manning, Michael E. Read

Diffusion in Metals Data Center, Metallurgy Division, Institute for Materials Research, National Bureau of Standards, Washington, D.C. 20234

A survey, comparison, and critical analysis is presented of data compiled from the scientific literature concerning diffusion in copper-silver and copper-gold systems. Here the term "copper alloy system" is interpreted in the broadest sense. For example, the review of diffusion in the Cu-M system reports all diffusion situations which involve both copper and element M, including diffusion of Cu in M or in any binary, ternary, or multicomponent alloy containing M: diffusion of M in Cu or in any alloy containing Gu; and diffusion of any element in any alloy containing both Cu and M. Topics include volume diffusion, surface diffusion, grain boundary diffusion, and diffusion in molten metals. An extensive bibliography is presented along with figures, tabular presentation of data and discussion of results.

Key words: Alloy diffusion; copper; diffusion; electromigration; gold; grain boundary diffusion; impurity diffusion; liquid metal diffusion; silver; surface diffusion; thermomigration.

Page List of Tables..... 527 List of Figures..... 528 1. Introduction..... 529 1.1. Organization of Review According to Alloy System..... 529 1.2. Methods Used to Present and Compare Data 530 1.3. Special Consideration in Allovs-Different Types of Diffusion Coefficients...... 531 2. Copper-Silver..... 533 Ag*→Cu..... 2.1533 $Cu^* \rightarrow Ag$ 2.2. 537 2.3. $Ag^* \rightarrow Cu - Ag$ 539 Cu-Ag Interdiffusion..... 2.4. 542Cu-Ag-Al..... 25 547 Cu-Ag-Au..... 2.6 5492.7. Cu-Ag-Be..... 550 2.8. Cu-Ag-Cd..... 550 2.9. Cu-Ag-Cr..... 550 2.10. Cu-Ag-Fe..... 550 2.11. Cu-Ag-O..... 550 2.12. Cu-Ag-S..... 553 2.13. Cu-Ag-Sb..... 555 2.14. Cu-Ag-Se..... 555 2.15. Cu-Ag-Te..... 555 2.16. Cu-Ag-Ti..... 558 2.17. Cu-Ag-Zn..... 558 2.18. Cu-Ag-Zr..... 559 2.19. Cu-Ag-X..... 559 2.20. Grain Boundary Diffusion..... 559 566 2.21. Surface Diffusion..... 568 2.22. Electromigration..... 568 2.23. Thermomigration.....

Contents

			Page
	2.24.	Strain-Enhanced Diffusion	568
	2.25.	Molten Metals	569
3.	Copp	er-Gold	569
	3.1.	Au→Cu	569
	3.2.	Cu→Au	572
	3.3.	$Au^* \rightarrow Cu_3Au$	574
	3.4.	Ordering in CuAu	575
	3.5.	Cu-Au Interdiffusion	575
	3.6.	Cu-Au-Ag	584
	3.7.	Cu-Au-Co	584
	3.8.	Cu-Au-Fe	585
	3.9.	Cu-Au-H	585
	3.10.	Cu-Au-Hg	586
	3.11.	Cu-Au-Ni	587
	3.12.	Cu-Au-O	587
	3.13.	Cu-Au-S	587
	3.14.	Cu-Au-Sn	588
	3.15.	Cu-Au-Zn	588
	3.16.	Cu-Au-X	589
	3.17.	Grain Boundary Diffusion	589
	3.18.	Surface Diffusion	592
	3.19.	Electromigration	594
	3.20.	Thermomigration	594
	3.21.	Molten Metals	595
R	eferen	ces	595
		、	

List of Tables

Cu-Ag

Table 1.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Ag in	
	OFHC Cu, Cu-Cr, Cu-Te, Cu-Ti, and	
	Cu-Zr	536
Table 2.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Ag in	
	Cu	536
Table 3.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Cu in	
	`Ag	539

Copyright © 1974 by the U.S. Secretary of Commerce on behalf of the United States. This copyright will be assigned to the American Institute of Physics and the American Chemical Society, to whom all requests regarding reproduction should be addressed.

		Page
Table 4.	D ₀ and Q Values for Tracer Diffusion of	
	Ag in Ag-Cu Alloys (1.75, 4.16, and	
	6.56 at .% Cu)	539
Table 5.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Ag in	
	Ag and Ag-Cu Alloys (0.85, 2.55, and	
	3.36 at .% Cu)	539
Table 6.	D_0 and Q Values for Tracer Diffusion of	
	Ag in Ag and in Ag-Cu Alloys (0.17-	
•	8.15 at .% Cu)	539
Table 7.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients and D_0	
	and Q Values of Ag in Ag-Cu Alloys	
	(1.38, 2.52, and 4.43 at .% Cu)	539
Table 8.	D_0 and Q Values for Interdiffusion in	
	Ag-Cu Alloys (Ag-rich)	544
Table 9.	D_0 and Q Values for Interdiffusion in	
	Cu-Ag Alloys (Cu-rich; Barreau et al.)	544
Table 10.	D_0 and Q Values for Interdiffusion in	
	Cu-Ag Alloys (Cu-rich; Oikawa et al.)	547
Table 11.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Ag in	
	Al and Al-Cu, and of Cu in Al and	
	Al-Ag	548
Table 12.	Cu-Au and Ag-Au Experimental Diffu-	
	sion Couple Compositions	549
Table 13.	Interdiffusion Coefficients in Cu-Ag-	
	Au	549
Table 14.	Grain Boundary Diffusion Coefficients	
	of Ag in Cu-Be	550
Table 15.	Interdiffusion Coefficients of Cu in	
	Ag_2S	553
Table 16.	Interdiffusion Coefficients of Ag in	
	Cu_2S	554
Table 17.	Interdiffusion Coefficients of Ag in	
	Cu-Se	555
Table 18.	Grain Boundary Diffusion Coefficients	
	of Ag in Cu and Cu-Ag (Gertsriken	• (1 ·
	et al.)	561
Table 19.	Grain Boundary Diffusion of Ag in	
	OFHC Cu (Barreau et al.)	562
Table 20.	Grain Boundary Diffusion of Ag in	
	Cu-Cr, Cu-Te, Cu-Ti, and Cu-Zr	564
Table 21.	Grain Boundary Diffusion Coefficients	
	of Ag in Cu (Blackburn et al.)	565
Table 22.	Grain Boundary Diffusion Coefficients	
	of Ag in Cu (Renouf)	566
Table 23.	Surface Diffusion Coefficients of Ag	
	in Cu	568

Cu-Au

Table 24.	Impurity Diffusion Coefficients of Au	
	in Cu (Sippel)	572
Table 25.	Impurity Diffusion Coefficients of Au in	
	Cu (Kawasaki et al.)	572
Table 26.	Impurity Diffusion Coefficients of Cu	
	in Au	573
Table 27.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Au in	
	Cu ₃ Au	574
Table 28.	Interdiffusion Coefficients in Cu-Au	
	(Austin et al.)	576

J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data, Vol. 3, No. 2, 1974

		Page
Table 29.	Interdiffusion Coefficients of Au in	
	Cu	576
Table 30.	Interdiffusion Coefficients in Cu-Au	
	(Badia)	577
Table 31.	Interdiffusion Coefficients in Cu-Au	
	(Borovskii et al.)	578
Table 32.	Interdiffusion Coefficients in AuCu	
	(Ordering Effect)	578
Table 33.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Co in	
		584
Table 34.	Diffusion and Permeation of Hydrogen	
	in Cu ₃ Au	586
Table 35.	Grain Boundary Diffusion Coefficients	
	of Au in Cu-Au Alloys	589
Table 36.	Grain Boundary Diffusion Coefficients	
	of Au in Cu	589

List of Figures

Cu-Ag

Figure 1.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Ag
	in Cu $(T > 650 ^{\circ}\text{C})$
Figure 2.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Ag
	in Cu ($T < 650 ^{\circ}$ C)
Figure 3.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Ag
	in Cu, Cu-Cr, Cu-Te, Cu-Ti, and
	Cu-Zr
Figure 4.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Cu
	in Ag 538
Figure 5.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of
-	Ag in Ag-Cu Alloys (Hoffman et
	al.)
Figure 6.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Ag
-	in Ag-Cu Alloys (Sato) 540
Figure 7.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Ag
	in Ag-Cu Alloys (Yanitskaya et
	al.)
Figure 8.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Ag
	in Ag-Cu Alloys (Patil et al.) 542
Figure 9.	Interdiffusion Coefficients in Ag-Cu
	Alloys (Ag-rich)
Figure 10.	Interdiffusion Coefficients in Cu-Ag
	Alloys (Cu-rich)
Figure 11.	Interdiffusion Coefficients in Ag-Cu
	Alloys (Ag-rich) vs Concentration 545
Figure 12.	Interdiffusion Coefficients in Cu-Ag
	Alloys (Cu-rich) vs Concentration 546
Figure 13.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Ag
	in Al, and Al-Cu, and of Cu in Al-Ag 548
Figure 14.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Ag
	in Single Crystal Cu ₂ O 55
Figure 15.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Ag in
	Polycrystalline Cu ₂ O 552
Figure 16.	Interdiffusion Coefficients of Cu in
	Ag ₂ S 555
Figure 17.	Interdiffusion Coeffcients of Ag
	in Cu ₂ S

529

Page

		Page
Figure 18.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Ag	
	in OFHC Cu and Cu-Te	556
Figure 19.	Grain Boundary Diffusion of Ag in	
	OFHC Cu and Cu-Te	557
Figure 20.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Ag	
	in β-Brass	558
Figure 21.	Grain Boundary Penetration of Ag	
	in Cu (Achter et al.)	559
Figure 22.	Grain Boundary Penetration of Ag	
0	in Cu (Couling et al.)	560
Figure 23.	Relative Grain Boundary Diffusion	000
0	Anisotropy of Ag in Cu	560
Figure 24.	Grain Boundary Diffusion Coefficients	000
	of Ag in Cu and Cu-Ag (Gertsriken	
	et al.)	561
Figure 25.	Grain Boundary Diffusion Coefficients	0.01
	of Ag in Cu (Barreau et al.)	562
Figure 26	Grain Boundary Diffusion of Ag in	
i igure 20.	Cu-Cr Cu-Te Cu-Ti and Cu-Zr	
	(Barreau et al.)	563
Figure 27	Grain Boundary Diffusion Coefficients	000
gui o 211	of Ag in Cu (Blackburn et al.)	564
Figure 28	Grain Boundary Diffusion Coefficients	001
1 18410 201	of Ag in Cu (Renout)	565
Figure 29	Surface Diffusion Coefficients of Cu	
1 igui 0 22.	on Ag	567
Figure 30	Surface Diffusion Coefficients of Ag	501
i iguit 00.	on Cu	567
	on outside the second sec	001

Cu-Au

Figure 31.	Impurity and Tracer Diffusion Coef-	
	ficients of Au in Cu $(T > 500 \text{ °C})$	570
Figure 32.	Impurity and Tracer Diffusion Coef-	
	ficients of Au in Cu $(T < 500 \text{ °C})$	571
Figure 33.	Impurity Diffusion Coefficients of Cu	
	in Au	573
Figure 34.	Tracer Diffusion Coefficients of Au	
-	in Cu ₃ Au	574
Figure 35.	Interdiffusion Coefficients in Cu-Au vs	
	Concentration (General Comparison)	576
Figure 36.	Interdiffusion Coefficients in Cu-Au	
-	vs 10 ⁴ / <i>T</i>	577
Figure 37.	Activation Energies for Interdiffusion	
-	in Cu-Au	578
Figure 38.	Interdiffusion Coefficients in Cu-Au	
U	$(50-50)$ vs $10^4/T$ (Borovskii et al.;	
	$T > 350 \ ^{\circ}\text{C}$)	579
Figure 39.	Interdiffusion Coefficients in Cu-Au	
	vs Concentration (Borovskii et al. and	
	Pinnel et al.; $T > 400 $ °C)	580
Figure 40.	Interdiffusion Coefficients in Cu-Au	
	vs Concentration (Borovskii et al. and	
	Pinnel et al.; $T < 400$ °C)	581
Figure 41.	Interdiffusion Coefficients in Cu-Au	
	(near 50-50) vs $10^4/T$ (Pines et al.;	
	<i>T</i> < 300 °C)	582

Figure 49	Average Atomic Diffusion Coef-	
	ficients in CuAu (50-50) ve $104/T$	
	(Sintering: $T > 350 \ \text{°C}$)	
D: 40	T Diff 250 C)	
Figure 43.	Iracer Diffusion Coefficients of Co	
	in Cu ₃ Au	
Figure 44.	Diffusion Coefficients of Hydrogen in	
	Cu ₃ Au	
Figure 45.	Permeability of Hydrogen in Cu ₃ Au	
Figure 46.	Grain Boundary Diffusion Coefficients	
0	of Hg in Cu-Au Allovs	,
Figure 47.	Self-Diffusion Coefficients of Zn in	
- garo - m	Cu-Zn and Cu-Zn-Au	
Figure 48	Grain Boundary Diffusion Coefficients	
i iguit 40.	of An in Cu	
E'	Surface Diffusion Coefficients of An	
r igure 49.	Surface Diffusion Coefficients of Au	
	on Lu (Austin et al. and Chatterjee	
	et al.)	
Figure 50.	Surface Diffusion Coefficients of Cu	
	on Au	,
Figure 51.	Surface Diffusion Coefficients of Au	
	on Cu (Pines et al.)	
Figure 52.	Surface Self-Diffusion on Cu-Au	
	Allove	

1. Introduction

1.1. Organization of Review According to Alloy System

The present review is the second in a series designed to provide data on diffusion in copper and copper alloys. The first paper [1] in this series covered copper selfdiffusion. The present paper begins the coverage of diffusion in copper alloys with the copper-silver and copper-gold systems. Succeeding papers in this series will cover the remaining copper alloy systems.

The term "copper alloy system" is interpreted in the broadest sense here. For example, the review of diffusion in the copper-silver system includes all diffusion situations which involve both copper and silver. This same format will be followed for all copper alloy systems. According to this format, the copper-silver review treats:

- (1) Diffusion of silver in pure copper.
- (2) Diffusion of copper in pure silver.
- Diffusion of copper or silver in copper-silver binary alloys.
- (4) Diffusion of other elements in copper-silver binary alloys.
- (5) Diffusion of any species in any ternary alloy containing both copper and silver (or in any multicomponent alloy containing both copper and silver).
- (6) Diffusion of copper in any alloy containing silver.
- (7) Diffusion of silver in any alloy containing copper.

To present the data in as systematic a form as possible, diffusion situations which involve only copper and

silver (items 1, 2, and 3 in the above list) are discussed first and are presented in separate subsections under the Cu-Ag system. Then situations involving a third element in addition to copper and silver are presented, with a separate subsection being provided for each third element. These subsections appear in alphabetical order according to the chemical symbol of the third element. If no diffusion data are available on a given three-component system, say Cu-Ag-M, then this system is simply not listed. Diffusion measurements in quaternary and other higher order multicomponent alloys are not common in copper 'alloy systems. General discussions of diffusion in these multicomponent alloys are presented in a single subsection, entitled for example in the copper-silver case, Cu-Ag-X, where X indicates that at least two other elements in addition to Cu and Ag are present. A final set of subsections is devoted to special diffusion effects such as grain boundary diffusion, surface diffusion, electromigration, thermomigration, and diffusion in molten metals. By contrast, the earlier subsections treat mainly volume diffusion in solids in the absence of external driving forces. For easy reference, a list of subsections is provided in the table of contents for each alloy system.

The organization of the data by alloy systems is intended to aid the reader in finding specific items of data. To avoid unnecessary fragmentation, all diffusion data for systems which include copper, silver and a given third element, M, are listed under the single ternary system, Cu-Ag-M. This procedure effectively combines items 4, 5, 6, and 7 of the above listing in a single set of subsections. Thus, diffusion of M into CuAg alloys, diffusion in CuAgM alloys, diffusion of Cu into AgM alloys and diffusion of Ag into CuM alloys all would be included in the Cu-Ag-M subsection. Combining items 4 to 7 seems reasonable since, when an impurity even in very dilute concentration diffuses in a binary alloy, the resulting three-component system can be regarded as forming a ternary alloy. It is logical to discuss all such ternary Cu-Ag-M alloys together, regardless of the concentrations of species Cu, Ag, and M.

1.2. Methods Used to Present and Compare Data

The primary quantities of interest for diffusion are the diffusion coefficient, D, and the activation energy for diffusion, Q. The diffusion coefficient is defined by the equation

$$J = -D(\partial c/\partial x), \tag{1}$$

where $\partial c/\partial x$ is the concentration gradient of the diffusing species along a direction (x) of interest and the diffusion flux, J, is the amount of diffusing species crossing unit area normal to the x-axis per unit time. D itself is a constant of proportionality and usually is expressed in units of cm²/s. Experimentally, D is usually found to depend exponentially on temperature according to an Arrhenius type equation

J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data, Vol. 3, No. 2, 1974

$$D = D_0 \exp\left(-Q/RT\right). \tag{2}$$

Thus, a straight line is usually obtained when log D is plotted as a function of T^{-1} . Here T is the absolute temperature, D_0 and Q are experimentally measured constants which can be determined from the intercept and the slope of that line, and R is the universal gas constant (1.987 cal \cdot K⁻¹ \cdot mol⁻¹ = 8.314 J \cdot K⁻¹ \cdot mol⁻¹).

The quantity Q in eq (2) is usually found expressed in the literature in units of kcal/mol, or in units of kcal alone (with the mole understood). Usually Q can be determined to only two or three significant figures and has a value between 10,000 and 100,000 cal/mol. Thus, when Q is expressed directly in terms of cal/mol, as is sometimes found in the literature, the last few zeros before the decimal are not significant figures. A second type of unit for Q frequently found in the literature is the electron volt or electron volt per atom. When this unit is reported, it is understood that R in eq (2) is replaced by Boltzmann's constant k (equal to 1.3806 $\times 10^{-23}$ J \cdot K⁻¹ or 8.617 $\times 10^{-5}$ eV \cdot K⁻¹).

In alloys, the dependence of D and Q on alloy composition provides another variable which must be considered in addition to those previously discussed for self-diffusion in pure copper [1]. Usually no consistent general equation can be written to express D(c) at all concentrations, c. Thus, data on the composition dependence of D or Q is usually summarized in this review by displaying the measured values on graphs of D or Q vs composition rather than by use of equations.

When the temperature dependence of D is considered, the best smooth line through the data often can be summarized by expressing D in the form of eq (2). In the present paper, the more reliable data usually are presented in display equations in the text in this form. In addition, individual D_0 and Q values may be quoted to provide information in summary form to expedite comparisons between differing measurements. Even for the temperature dependence of D, however, the most useful means of presenting and comparing data probably is by means of graphs, showing the diffusion coefficients themselves, in this case with log D plotted versus T^{-1} . A number of these graphs are shown in the present review.

The textual discussion provides commentary on the experiments reported and, wherever possible, provides a further comparison and evaluation of the reliability of the experimental methods and results. An attempt has been made here to provide comprehensive coverage. In cases where very little good data are available on a system, even poor data will be presented and discussed as providing some indication of diffusion behaviour in that system.

At temperatures near the melting point, volume diffusion through regions of good crystal structure is normally predominant. In substitutional copper alloys, volume diffusion usually occurs by a vacancy mechanism, where atoms move by exchanging with neighboring vacancies. Thus, vacancy jump frequencies, vacancy concentrations, and non-random vacancy diffusion effects have an important influence on diffusion in these alloys. In addition, if interstitial atoms are present in an alloy, they may diffuse rapidly in volume diffusion by jumping directly from one interstitial site to another.

At lower temperatures, diffusion along the easy paths provided by grain boundaries often becomes important. A separate diffusion coefficient, D_{gb} , for diffusion in a grain boundary can be defined from eq (1). A uniform D_{gb} value usually is assumed to apply to the entire grain boundary volume, which is regarded as extending in two dimensions but as having a finite width δ . With the grain boundary regarded as a plane, one can say that the plane envisioned in eq (1) normal to the concentration gradient will cut the grain boundary plane along a line. Experimentally, the flux J' crossing unit length of this line often is the quantity measured rather than the actual flux J per unit area, which is the quantity defined in eq (1). In such a case, taking the ratio $J'/-(\partial c/\partial x)$ yields $D_{ab} \cdot \delta$. Thus, where grain boundary diffusion results are quoted, $D_{gb} \cdot \delta$ frequently is given instead of just D_{gb} , with δ being an unknown grain boundary width, and $D_{gb} \cdot \delta$ is then expressed in units of cm³/s. A similar situation can arise in surface diffusion measurements if the surface is regarded as having a thickness δ . More commonly though, the surface concentration is expressed in terms of number of atoms c' per unit area (rather than number per unit volume). Then the ratio $J'/-(\partial c'/\partial x)$ yields a conventional surface diffusion coefficient, D_s , which can be expressed in the conventional units of cm²/s.

For descriptions of standard experimental techniques of measuring volume, grain boundary and surface diffusion coefficients and related diffusion quantities, the reader is referred to general review articles, for example references [1 to 6]. In addition, specific references and comments are provided at points in the textual commentary where results from some of the less standard types of measurements are discussed.

In choosing among various reported diffusion measurements for reliability, the internal consistency and reproducibility of the data are considered important. For example, it is expected that the experimental points, expressed as log D, should fall very nearly on a straight line when plotted as a function of T^{-1} , as given by eq (2). The degree of scatter from a line drawn through the experimental points is assumed to provide a good indication of the precision of the data. Such a line usually will not be well-established if only a few measurements in a limited temperature range are reported. For this reason, data taken at many different temperatures and over a wide temperature range usually are considered more reliable and are more easily evaluated.

1.3. Special Considerations in Alloys – Different Types of Diffusion Coefficients

For diffusion in alloys, one must be particularly

careful to establish the kind of diffusion coefficient which is reported. There are at least two main types of diffusion experiments in alloys frequently reported in the literature, tracer diffusion and interdiffusion. These experiments, which are described in more detail below, yield tracer diffusion coefficients and chemical interdiffusion coefficients, respectively. Also, a number of other types of diffusion measurements can yield still other types of "diffusion coefficients." Since the physical conditions defining these experiments differ from one another, the "diffusion coefficient" value measured in one type of experiment often differs from the "diffusion coefficient" measured in other experiments.

An understanding of why tracer and interdiffusion experiments which both define their diffusion coefficients, D, by means of eq (1), yield different diffusion coefficient values can be gained by considering the physical arrangement of these measurements and the basic diffusion equations. The basic kinetic diffusion equation for the atom flux, J, of a diffusing species with respect to the end of a specimen can be written as

$$J = -D^* \frac{\partial c}{\partial x} + \langle v \rangle_F c + v_k c.$$
 (3)

Here D^* is a quantity related to the atom jump frequencies of the diffusing species, $\langle v \rangle_F$ is the atom drift velocity from atomic driving forces, c is the concentration, and v_k is the velocity of the local lattice plane with respect to the ends of the specimen. It may be noted that eq (3) is similar to eq (1) but differs in two respects: (1) eq (3) contains two velocity-concentration terms, $\langle v \rangle_F c$ and $v_k c$, and (2) the coefficient of $\partial c/\partial x$ in eq (3) is the specific quantity D^* rather than a general diffusion coefficient D.

In a typical tracer diffusion experiment, a very thin layer of tracer atoms is deposited on the surface of a homogeneous alloy and diffusion is carried out in the absence of driving forces. Here the tracer atoms diffuse into an essentially unchanging homogeneous matrix and $\langle v \rangle_F$ and v_k are zero. Consequently, D^* is the measured diffusion coefficient in this type of experiment, which results in D^* being called the tracer diffusion coefficient.

By contrast, in an interdiffusion experiment, two bulk specimens of different alloy composition are brought into contact and atoms diffuse in both directions across the interface. These alloys usually have positive or negative energies of mixing, and atom drift velocities $\langle v \rangle_F$ can arise from forces created by gradients in these energies. Also, the D^* values of the various constituents usually are unequal. This inequality produces a net atom flux across the interface, which tends to shift the lattice plane at the interface toward one end of the specimen and makes v_k differ from zero. In simple interdiffusion experiments, where other driving forces are absent,

531

 $\langle v \rangle_F$ and v_k are proportional to $\partial c/\partial x$, and J still is found to be directly proportional to $\partial c/\partial x$. However, if one calculates an interdiffusion coefficient \tilde{D} from the ratio $-J/(\partial c/\partial x)$, as in eq (1), one should expect to find $\tilde{D} \neq D^*$.

For a binary alloy, \tilde{D} is the same for both constituents. Thus, there are two different tracer coefficients for the two constituents in a binary alloy but only one interdiffusion coefficient. The interdiffusion coefficient in some references is called the chemical diffusion coefficient or the chemical interdiffusion coefficient.

The interdiffusion coefficient \overline{D} in a binary alloy containing constituents A and B can be related to the tracer diffusion coefficients D_A^* and D_B^* for A and B atoms in that alloy by the equation

$$\tilde{D} = (N_A D_B^* + N_B D_A^*) \Phi S, \qquad (4)$$

where N_A and N_B are the mole fractions of species A and B in the alloy, Φ is the thermodynamic factor and S is the vacancy wind factor. When either N_A or N_B goes to zero, both Φ and S go to unity, so in the limit of a very dilute binary alloy \tilde{D} should equal the tracer diffusion coefficient of the dilute constituent. In non-dilute alloys, ΦS can differ appreciably from unity, say by a factor of four. In these alloys, additional information (which is usually not available) on thermodynamic activity coefficients is needed to determine \tilde{D} from D_A^* and D_B^* .

A third major type of diffusion coefficient in alloys is the intrinsic diffusion coefficient D_i^I . This coefficient is defined by eq (1) when J in that equation is defined as the atom flux of species i with respect to a local lattice plane. By contrast, J for the interdiffusion coefficient is the flux with respect to the ends of the specimen. When v_k differs from zero D_i^I will differ from \tilde{D} . When $\langle v \rangle_F$ differs from zero, D_i^I will differ from D_i^* . Equations relating D_i^I to these other diffusion coefficients are given, for example, in reference [7].

In the discussion of D_i^1 and \tilde{D} given above it was assumed that the only atomic driving force was that from the heat of mixing. If other driving forces of unknown magnitude are present in an experiment or if other lattice distortions contribute to v_k , the measured diffusion coefficient $[= -J/(\partial c/\partial x)]$ will, of course, be affected. Usually in these cases, one refers to an "effective diffusion coefficient" obtained from eq (1).

In situations where the measured J or $\partial c/\partial x$ values are believed to contain significant unknown errors, an "apparent diffusion coefficient" may still be defined based on the apparent values of J and $\partial c/\partial x$ (or of the other related quantities) which the particular experiment provides.

Diffusion coefficients may show a strong dependence on alloy composition. This composition dependence can lead to very non-symmetric concentration versus distance profiles in some interdiffusion experiments. If a non-symmetric profile is assumed to be symmetric, a

J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data, Vol. 3, No. 2, 1974

single "average diffusion coefficient" can be calculated for the experiment. Other methods of finding an average diffusion coefficient applicable to a given concentration range may give somewhat different results, since the types of averaging may differ.

When $\langle v \rangle_F$ arises from a known driving force F, it is found [8] that $\langle v \rangle_F = F \psi^{-1} D^* / kT$. For impurity diffusion or for diffusion in alloys, ψ^{-1} can be a rather complex quantity, depending for example on the vacancy jump frequency ratios near an impurity and sometimes even being negative. When the force, F, arises from a temperature gradient, one can define a "measured heat of transport" O^{**} such that $F = O^{**} \psi T^{-1} (\partial T / \partial x)$, as described in reference [1]. Then O^{**} can be calculated directly from the ratio $\langle v \rangle_F / D^*$ as measured at temperature T and temperature gradient $\partial T/\partial x$. Similarly when the force, F, arises from an electric field, E, one can define a "measured effective charge," q^{**} , such that $F = q^{**}\psi E$. Here q^{**} is the effective charge which appears in a conventional Nernst-Einstein relation, $\langle v \rangle_F / D^* = q^{**} E(kT)^{-1}$. Use of q^{**} provides a convenient means of reporting experimental results. However, q^{**} may differ greatly from the actual charge of the diffusing species.

In ternary and higher order multicomponent alloys, there will be more than one independent concentration gradient. Then instead of defining a single diffusion coefficient as in eq (1), it often is convenient to define a set of partial diffusion coefficients D_{ij} , where

$$J_i = -\sum_j D_{ij} \frac{\partial c_j}{\partial x}.$$
 (5)

Here J_i is the flux of species *i* and $\partial c_j/\partial x$ is the concentration gradient of species *j*. Since the sum of the concentration gradients of all species in the crystal must equal zero, one of the concentration gradients must be eliminated from the general expression if one wishes to obtain independent partial diffusion coefficients. This gradient can arbitrarily be chosen to be any one of the gradients $\partial c_n/\partial x$. Then,

$$J_i = -\sum_{j \neq n} D_{ij}^n \frac{\partial c_j}{\partial x}.$$
 (6)

where

$$D_{ij}^{n} = D_{ij} - D_{in}.$$
 (7)

For an *n*-component alloy, there are n-1 independent partial diffusion coefficients $D_{i_i}^n$ for each species *i*.

In interdiffusion experiments, the velocity v_k of the original interface lattice plane with respect to the ends of the specimen normally is proportional to $\tau^{-1/2}$, where τ is the diffusion time. Here it is assumed that the original composition profile was a step function with a single step occurring at the original interface and that the interdiffusion couple was held at a constant tempera-

ture for time τ . The net shift in position of the original interface lattice plane, which can be measured, for example, by placing inert wires or other markers at this plane, is called the Kirkendall shift x_k . For normal parabolic diffusion, where v_k is proportional to $\tau^{-1/2}$, the Kirkendall shift will be proportional to $\tau^{+1/2}$, since $x_k = \int t_0 v_k dt$. Then, for simple interdiffusion in a binary A-B alloy,

$$x_k = 2\tau (D_A^{I} - D_B^{I}) (\partial N_A / \partial x)_{\tau}.$$
(8)

From this equation, it is apparent that there is no Kirkendall shift when the intrinsic diffusion coefficient $D_{\rm A}^{\rm l}$ of species A equals the intrinsic diffusion coefficient $D_{\rm B}^{\rm l}$ of species B. Also, in parabolic diffusion $\partial N_{\rm A}/\partial x$ is proportional to $\tau^{-1/2}$, so eq (8) yields $x_k \propto \tau^{1/2}$, as expected.

In a binary alloy, \tilde{D} is related to the intrinsic diffusion coefficients by

$$\tilde{D} = N_{\rm A} D_{\rm B}^{\rm I} + N_{\rm B} D_{\rm A}^{\rm I}. \tag{9}$$

If \tilde{D} and x_k are measured at a binary alloy interface of known composition and concentration gradient, D_A^I and D_B^I can be found from eqs (8) and (9).

The tracer diffusion coefficient D_i^* is directly related to the atom jump frequency for atoms of species *i* and also to the average displacement of an individual atom. According to kinetic diffusion theory, atom jump frequencies are expected to depend exponentially on reciprocal absolute temperature. Thus, there is reason to expect D_i^* to depend exponentially on reciprocal absolute temperature, as in eq (2). By contrast, the temperature dependence of D^1 or \tilde{D} may be more complex. Nevertheless, eq (2) is commonly used in the literature to express the temperature dependence of these other diffusion coefficients as well.

Since tracer measurements usually can be made more accurately than other types of diffusion coefficient measurements, special attention is paid to tracer measurements in this review. In practical applications where one wants to know the probability of an individual atom penetrating through a thin homogeneous film or where diffusion of a very dilute constituent is of interest, knowledge of D_i^* is directly needed. In other applications, D^1 or \tilde{D} may more directly provide the information needed. Nevertheless, as discussed above, these other diffusion coefficients, D^1 and \tilde{D} , can often be related to the more fundamental quantities D^* .

The intrinsic diffusion coefficients, D^1 , also can be interpreted on an atomic level. In a simple interdiffusion experiment, the flux of atoms of species *i* across a given atomic lattice plane is proportional to D_i^1 . The D^1 thus determine the net transport of material across this lattice plane and the value of v_k at this plane.

The interdiffusion coefficient, \vec{D} , is proportional to the rate at which an original concentration gradient in an

interdiffusion experiment tends to smooth itself out. Thus, \tilde{D} has an easily visualized macroscopic meaning. Since in most metallurgical applications, one is concerned with interdiffusion between two bulk samples or in the rate of alloy homogenization, interdiffusion coefficients are of considerable technological importance.

In multicomponent alloys, partial diffusion coefficients can be either intrinsic diffusion coefficients or interdiffusion coefficients. Here again the distinction is that the intrinsic diffusion coefficients are related to the fluxes with respect to local lattice planes whereas interdiffusion coefficients are related to fluxes measured relative to the undiffused ends of specimens.

2. Copper-Silver

2.1. Ag*→Cu

Values for the volume diffusion rate of radioactive silver in copper have been reported in a number of papers [9-26], which were not always in agreement with each other. Figures 1 (high temperature region) and 2 (low temperatures) are a comparison of the Arrhenius plots for lattice diffusion from a number of these sources.

The first systematic measurements of the lattice diffusion of radioactive silver in pure copper were reported in the thesis of Mercer [11]. In the temperature region 850 to 1070 $^{\circ}$ C, he obtained the following Arrhenius expression for the tracer diffusion coefficient:

$$D^*_{Ag \to Cu} = (0.846 \pm 7\%) \exp(-47,290 \text{ cal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1} \pm 0.4\%/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s}.$$

The temperature dependence of these coefficients are shown in figure 1 in comparison with the results of other investigators. Tomizuka similarly performed tracer diffusion experiments, and his initial analysis of his data yielded the Arrhenius expression:

$$D^*_{Ag \to Cu} = 0.23 \exp(-44,000 \text{ cal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s},$$

as being valid for an unspecified high temperature range [13]. A later revision by Tomizuka [14] changed the above expression to:

$$D^*_{A_{a}\to C_{u}} = 0.63 \exp(-46,500 \text{ cal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s}.$$

The publication of this revised expression in several review papers by Lazarus [10, 28] resulted in it being widely quoted for a number of years although Morrison reports that Tomizuka [27] has since re-calculated the values of the pre-exponential factor, D_0 , and the activation energy, Q, to be:

$$D_0 = (0.27 \pm 15\%) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s}$$

$$Q = (44.,700 \pm 500)$$
 cal \cdot mol⁻¹.



FIGURE 1. Tracer diffusion coefficients of silver in pure copper as a function of the reciprocal absolute temperature.

The data shown are the high-temperature results extracted from the data of Barrean et al. [16], betweeken and Revo [20], Mercer [11], and Tomizuka [27].



FIGURE 2. Tracer diffusion coefficients of silver in pure copper as a function of the reciprocal absolute temperature.

The data shown are the low-temperature results extracted from the data of Barreau et al. [16], Morrison [26], Renoff [19], and the high-temperature data of Tounizuka [27] extrapolated to low temperature.

J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data, Vol. 3, No. 2, 1974

.

 $D^*(cm^2/s)$ *T*(°C) OFHC Cu-Cr Cu-Te Cu-Zr Cu-Ti (0.6 wt %) (0.1 wt %) (0.12 wt %) (0.8 wt %) Cu 1.69×10-8 1064 2.07×10^{-8} 1000 6.62×10-9 7.45×10-9 3.93×10-9 4.35×10-9 967 4.67×10-9 960 4.37×10^{-9} 954 3.48×10-9 4.25×10-9 2.97×10^{-9} 916 1.60×10-9 1.65×10-9 1.56×10^{-9} 2.27×10^{-9} 906 1.76×10-9 1.79×10^{-9} 866 8.35×10-10 2.6×10-10 816 800 2.18×10-10 1.4×10⁻¹⁰ 793 1.80×10^{-10} 765 8.9×10-11 1.07×10⁻¹⁰ 6.95×10-11 751 4.37×10-11 1.18×10-10 726 5.17×10-11 5.80×10-11 3.05×10-1 700 3.3×10^{-1} 1.3×10-11 697 2.44×10^{-11} 2.25×10^{-11} 7.85×10-1 2.06×10-11 684 1.85×10^{-1} 623 a 2.3×10-1 618 2.83×10^{-12} 5.15×10-12 4.50×10^{-13} 557 4.15×10-1 455 a 1.62×10−1 8.4×10⁻¹⁹

 TABLE 1.
 Silver-110 tracer diffusion coefficients in OFHC copper and dilute copper alloys [16]

^a Obtained from single crystal specimens.

Barreau et al. [15, 16], more recently, have measured the rate of lattice diffusion of radioactive silver-110 into oxygen-free high-conductivity copper (99.99% purity) over a wide range of temperature (455 to 1064 °C). The values they obtained for the silver tracer diffusion coefficients are listed in table 1 and plotted as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature in figure 3. A straight line can be fitted to the data and the resulting temperature dependence expressed as:

$D_{\text{Ag} \rightarrow \text{Cu}}^* = 0.61 \exp(-46,600 \text{ cal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s}.$

Morrison [26] confined his tracer measurements to relatively low temperatures (485 to 625 °C) and observed a somewhat lower activation energy for diffusion (40,000 \pm 5,000 cal mol⁻¹) than that found by some of the other investigators. The tracer diffusion coefficients he observed (see table 2 and figure 2) were close to the extrapolation of the high temperature data (except for the two lowest temperature determinations, where there is probably an enhancement due to dislocations providing easy paths for silver diffusion in the copper single crystals).

Renouf [19] in his autoradiographic study of the grain boundary diffusion of Ag-110 in copper bicrystals. made several low temperature determinations of the lattice diffusion coefficient. These are plotted in figure 2 and are in reasonable agreement with those of Morrison [26].

J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data, Vol. 3, No. 2, 1974

 TABLE 2.
 Silver-110 tracer diffusion coefficients in copper [26]

<i>T</i> (℃)	
625 595 574 529 485	$\begin{array}{c}(2.91\pm 0.08)\times 10^{-12}\\(1.8\pm 0.2)\times 10^{-12}\\(8.2\pm 0.6)\times 10^{-13}\\(2.39\pm 0.05)\times 10^{-13}\\(4.9\pm 0.1)\times 10^{-14}\end{array}$

Arkharov et al. [9] made a single determination at 650 °C, finding the tracer diffusion coefficient of silver in copper to be 6.4×10^{-12} cm²/s.

All of the above mentioned results are in good agreement with each other except for Morrison's two determinations where he was probably measuring the diffusion of silver atoms along dislocations rather than pure lattice diffusion. The small descrepancies between the results of Tomizuka, Mercer, and Barreau et al. can probably be attributed to the method of sectioning specimens and the counting of the activity. Tomizuka sectioned his samples on a precision lathe and measured the amount of radioactivity contained in the removed chips. This method can usually be expected to provide the most accurate results. Barreau et al. used a modified Gruzin technique [29-31] of measuring the residual activity in the bulk specimen. Arkharov et al. employed the pure Gruzin method [29, 30] of measuring the silver-110 penetration. The details of Mercer's experiments were never published (although Morrison in his paper [26] gives many of Mercer's results). Morrison, because of the small silver-110 penetration rates, utilized an unconventional sectioning technique (anodic removal of layers from the specimen surface and then counting the amount of activity in the removed material) and interpreted his silver concentration profiles using the analysis of Hart [32] as modified by Mortlock [33].

Other investigations have yielded results which led to unexplicably high [17, 20] or unexplicably low [24] rates of diffusion for the silver tracer.

The effect of dilute alloying additions (0.8 wt. % chromium, 0.6 wt. % tellurium, 0.1 wt. % titanium, or 0.12 wt. % zirconium) on the silver tracer diffusion coefficient were determined over the temperature range 618 to 1064 °C by Barreau and coworkers [15, 16]. The results were obtained in the same manner as the tracer studies performed with pure copper and are found in table 1 and figure 3.

Schreiner et al. [25] diffused radioactive silver into pressed-powder compacts of copper, measuring penetration depths obtained after diffusion anneals at 500 °C.

Grain boundary diffusion, surface diffusion, electromigration, thermomigration, strain-enhanced diffusion and diffusion in molten metals for silver diffusing in copper are discussed in subsequent sections covering these topics for the copper-silver alloy systems.





The effect of minor alloying additions of Cr. Te. Ti. and Zr to the copper is also depicted. Data taken from Barreau et al. [15, 16].

2.2. Cu* → Ag

The diffusion of radioactive copper-64 in silver has been measured in the temperature range 700 to 950 °C [34, 35]. Using careful experimental technique [36, 37], single crystals of pure silver (nominally 99.99%), were plated with the copper isotope and given diffusion anneals ranging from 5 to 45 hours. After diffusion, uniform sections were then removed from the specimens with a precision lathe and the activity of each section measured. When the logarithm of the activity was plotted versus the square of the penetration distance, linear curves were obtained. A "least-squares fit" of these concentration-depth curves allowed the tracer diffusion coefficients in table 3 to be calculated directly. Figure 4 is a plot of the tracer diffusion coefficients as a function of the reciprocal of the absolute temperature. A straight line can be fitted to the experimental data points with the aid of a least squares analysis, and an activation energy, Q, and the frequency factor, D_0 ,

determined. The resulting Arrhenius expression for the tracer diffusion coefficient in the temperature range 700 to 950 °C is:

$$D^*_{Cu \to Ag} = 1.23 \exp(-46,100 \text{ cal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s}.$$

The estimated probable error in D^* is ± 4 percent, in Q is ± 2 percent and as much as ± 20 percent in D_0 . The short half-life of the copper isotope contributed to the loss in accuracy of these data. The average difference between values of the tracer diffusion coefficient measured at a given temperature is a little less than 2 percent, with 6.3 percent scatter present in the highest temperature data. The mean deviations from the values given by Arrhenius expressions are less than 2 percent, with a maximum deviation of about 4 percent.

Surface diffusion measurements of copper on silver are reported in the section on surface diffusion in the copper-silver systems.



 \vec{r} IGURE 4. Copper tracer diffusion coefficients in silver as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

Data taken from Sawatzky [34], and Sawatzky and Jaumot [35].

DIFFUSION	IN	COPPER	AND	COPPER	ALLOYS
-----------	----	--------	-----	--------	--------

T(°C)	$D^{*}(\mathrm{cm}^{2}/\mathrm{s})$	Average D*
944.5	6.740×10-9	6.54×10 ⁻⁹
	6.334×10-9	
925	$4.922 imes 10^{-9}$	4.82×10^{-9}
	4.710×10 ⁻⁹	
000	0.071 × 10.0	0.05 1/10 8
899	3.371×10^{-3}	3.35×10^{-9}
	3.327×10^{-9}	
854.5	1.435×10^{-9}	1.42×10^{-9}
	1.395×10^{-9}	
804	$5.429 imes 10^{-10}$	5.41×10^{-10}
	5.386×10 ⁻¹⁰	
758	2 030 × 10-10	2 03 × 10-10
150	2.035 × 10~10	2.03 × 10
	2.010 ~ 10	
752	1.860×10-10	1.85×10-**
	1.838×10 ⁻¹⁰	
716.5	8.354×10-11	8.30×10 ⁻¹¹
	8.253×10-11	

TABLE 3. Copper-64 tracer diffusion coefficients in silver [35]

 TABLE 5.
 Silver-110 tracer diffusion coefficients in silver-copper alloys (after K. Sato [39])

Ag-Cu Alloy (at .% Cu)	<i>T</i> (°C)	$D^{*}(\mathrm{cm}^{2}/\mathrm{s})$	$D_0(\mathrm{cm^2/s})$	$Q(\text{kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1})$	
0.0			0.40	44.1	
	850	$1.08 imes 10^{-9}$			
0.95	820	6.18×10 ⁻¹⁰	0.20	11.0	
0.85	795	$3.81 imes 10^{-10}$	0.39	44.0	
	690	4.44×10-11			
		-			
	850	$1.44 imes 10^{-9}$			
2.55	820	8.45×10 ⁻¹⁰	0.20	42.1	
	795	5.21×10-10	0.50	45.1	
	690	$5.99 imes 10^{-10}$			
	850	1.60×10-9			
3.36	820	9.23 × 10-10	0.96	49.9	
	795	5.56×10-10	0.20	+2.2	
	690	7.00×10^{-11}			
			L		

 TABLE 6.
 Diffusion parameters for silver-110 tracer diffusion in silvercopper alloys (after M. E. Yanitskaya et al. [41])

Ag-Cu Alloy (at .% Cu)	$D_0(\mathrm{cm^2/s})$	$Q(ext{kcal} \cdot ext{mol}^{-1})$	Temperature range (°C)
0.00	0.62	45.2	690-906
0.17	0.65	45.2	780906
0.17	1.06	41.0	690-780
0.84	0.68	45.2	780-906
0.84	0.08	39.0	690-906
1.68	0.07	40.6	725-906
5.00	0.06	39.9	725-880
8.15	0.04	38.3	725-830

 TABLE 7.
 Silver-110 tracer diffusion coefficients in silver-copper alloys. After Patil and Sharma [43].

Ag-Cu Alloy (at.% Cu)	<i>Т</i> (°С)	D^* (cm ² /s)	$\frac{D_0}{(\mathrm{cm}^2/\mathrm{s})}$	Q (kcal·mol ⁻¹)
	840 800	10.23×10^{-10} 6.46×10^{-10}		
1.38	690	5.47×10-11	1.04	45.13
	638	1.82×10^{-11}		
	010	7.23 × 10		
	818	1.12×10- °		
	818	1.03×10- ⁹		
	780	5.39×10-10		
2.52	780	4.78×10-10	0.63	43.76
	748	2.39×10-10		
	748	2.36×10^{-10}		
	653	2.81×10 ⁻¹¹		
	653	2.56×10-11		
	010	1 10 × 10-9		
	790	1.10×10^{-10}		
4 49	700	5.72×10^{-10}	0.57	13 31
4.40	740	5.52×10^{-10}	0.57	40.01
	748	2.91×10^{-10}		
	/48	3.16×10^{-10}		
	653	3.15×10^{-11}		
· .	653	2.80×10^{-11}		

2.3. Ag* → Cu-Ag

The self-diffusion of silver-110 in silver-copper alloys has been measured in a number of experiments [17, 20-23, 38-43, 55]. The results, for the most part, are in agreement with each other and the most reliable of the measurements are listed in tables 4, 5, 6, and 7 for a number of alloy compositions. Figures 5, 6, 7, and 8 are plots of the same data, illustrating the temperature and concentration dependence of the silver tracer diffusion coefficients.

The results of Gertsriken and Revo [20] have to be considered erroneous in light of the other errors found in their paper (see the discussion above dealing with the tracer diffusion of silver in pure copper where their values for the actication energy were found to be significantly lower than some of the more reliable determinations). The activation energies obtained by Spasov and Ivanov [17] for silver tracers diffusing in copper rich alloys of Cu-Ag are so much lower than the values obtained by other investigators as to be suspect. (In fact, the activation energy they obtain for silver-110 diffusing in pure copper is less than one-half of the more reliable values).

TABLE 4.Diffusion parameters for silver-110 tracer diffusion in silver-
copper alloys in the temperature range 700 to 900 °C (after
R. E. Hoffman et al. [38])

Ag-Cu Alloy (at.% Cu)	$D_0(\mathrm{cm}^2/\mathrm{s})$	$Q(\text{kcal·mol}^{-1})$	
1.75	0.66	44.8	
4.16	1.84	46.6	
6.56	0.51	43.5	

J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data, Vol. 3, No. 2, 1974



FIGURE 5. Silver tracer diffusion coefficients in several silver-copper alloys (1.75, 4.16, and 6.56 at. % Cu) as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

Data of R. E. Hoffman et al, [38]. TEMPERATURE (°C) 750 650 950 850 10-3.36 at. % Cu 2.55 at. % Cu 0.85 at. % Cu Pure Ag 6 COEFFICIENT (cm²/s) 2 10-9 ε 6 DIFFUSION 2 10-10 TRACER 10~11 10 н 9 ρ 104/T (K-1)

FIGURE 6. Silver tracer diffusion coefficients in several silver-copper alloys (0.85, 2.55, and 3.36 at. % Cu) as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

Data taken from K. Sato [39].





The self-diffusion coefficients in pure silver were determined concurrently by the same authors. Yanitskaya et al. [41].



FIGURE 8. Silver tracer diffusion coefficients in several silver-copper alloys (1.38, 2.52, 4.43 at. % Cu) as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

Data taken from Patil and Sharma [43].

Zhukhovitskii and co-workers, in an early publication [42], arrived at some incorrect diffusion coefficients. A re-evaluation of their data led to new values for the coefficients |41|.

In all of the more carefully performed experiments, it was found that dilute alloying additions of copper enhanced the silver self-diffusion rates.

Grain boundary diffusion and molten metal diffusion measurements for silver in Cu-Ag can be found in the pertinent section covering these topics for the copper silver alloy systems.

2.4. Cu-Ag Interdiffusion

There have been a number of investigations of interdiffusion in the Cu-Ag binary system [16, 21, 23, 44-62, 70]. Not all of the measurements are good, nor are all of the more reliable measurements in agreement with each other. Some of the earliest determinations were either too qualitative in nature [44, 49] or incorrect [47, 48, 50].

Measurements of the rate of interdiffusion of copper in silver [60] and silver (rich)-copper alloys [16, 45] differ in the amount of curvature present in the Arrhenius plots of the data. Cahoon and Youdelis [45], who employed polycrystalline diffusion couples and measured the interdiffusion coefficient over the range 0 to 2 at. percent copper, observed a discontinuity in the Arrhenius plot at ~ 700 °C. The higher-valued interdiffusion coefficients they observed can be attributed to grain boundary diffusion contributions. Hall and Haworth [60] also observed a marked curvature in the Arrhenius plot of the data they obtained from the interdiffusion occurring between an electroplated copper layer on single crystals of silver in the temperature range 498 to 701 °C. The behavior in this case is attributed to dislocation pipe diffusion. Barreau et al. [16] made the only measurements for which no curvature was found in the Arrhenius plots (see figure 9) even though they performed experiments at temperatures as low as 550 °C. The resulting pre-exponential factors and activa-

tion energies for the various compositions of these silver-rich alloys are listed in table 8. These experiments were performed concurrently with experiments in copper-rich alloys, the Arrhenius plots of which are displayed in figure 10. Compiled in table 9 are the values of D_0 and Q obtained from the above Arrhenius plots. All of the interdiffusion coefficients were calculated by the use of the Matano analysis [63] or Hall's method [64]. Shown in figures 11 and 12 are the calculated interdiffusion coefficients as a function of composition. The values of the interdiffusion coefficient near infinite dilution are near the appropriate tracer diffusion coefficient values (mentioned in references [16], [26], and [35]). The effect of dilute alloving additions (0.8 wt. % chromium or 0.12 wt. % zirconium) on the interdiffusion coefficients was also measured and the results are shown in figures 9, 10, 11, and 12.



FIGURE 9. Interdiffusion coefficients as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature. The interdiffusion coefficient in eilvor-rich alloys an determined by Barreau et al. [16], is compared to the tracer diffusion coefficient of Cu⁴⁴ in pure silver as determined by Jaumot and Sawatsky [35].

543

 Image: CABLE 8. Diffusion parameters for interdiffusion in silver-copper alloys [16]

Ag-Cu Alloy (at.% Cu)	$D_0(\mathrm{cm}^2/\mathrm{s})$	Q(kcal·mol ⁻¹)
0.1	1.2	45.9
1	1.7	46.9
2	2.5	47.8
4	3.1	48.4
6	6.8	50.2

TABLE 9.	Diffusion	parameters	for	interdiffusion	in	copper-silver
	alloys [16]]				•••

Cu-Ag Alloy (at.% Cu)	$D_0(\mathrm{cm}^2/\mathrm{s})$	$Q(\text{kcal}\cdot \text{mol}^{-1})$
99.9	0.88	46.5
99.5	1.6	48.1
99	3.1	49.7
98.5	6.8	51.5



FIGURE 10. Interdiffusion coefficients as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature. The interdiffusion coefficients between silver and some copper-rich alloys (as determined by Barreau et al. [16] and copper-rich solid solutions by Oikawa et al. [58]) are compared to the silver tracer diffusion coefficient in pure copper (as determined by Barreau et al. [15, 16], and by Tomizuka [27]).



FIGURE 11. Interdiffusion coefficients as a function of composition. Pure silver was bonded to OFHC copper and copper containing chromium or zirconium. Data taken from Barreau et al. [16].



FIGURE 12. Interdiffusion coefficients as a function of copper concentration.

Copper or copper-rich alloys (Cu-Ag, Cu-Cu, Cu-Zr) were bonded to pure silver. Compared are the data of Barreau et al. [16] and the results of Oikawa et al. [58] in solid solutions.

Guy [61] interdiffused pure, polycrystalline copper and silver bars at 755 °C for as long as 46 hours and found a great deal of porosity at the interface of his couples. He was able to reduce pore formation in subsequent experiments by use of pressure (1000 psi). Experiments performed at 610 °C revealed preferential grain boundary diffusion (and precipitation of a silverrich phase along the boundaries) in the pure metal sandwich couples.

Alexander and Balluffi plated silver on pure copper wire (and vice versa) and interdiffused same at 750 °C [62]. From the relative void content in the couples, they concluded that copper was the faster diffusing species.

It should be pointed out here that in much of the above-mentioned work, pure copper-pure silver configurations were employed in the design of the diffusion couple. This disregard for the large two-phase field existing between the two terminal solid solutions (e.g., see Hansen [65]) and its role in the interdiffusion process can, in part, be responsible for the disagreement in results obtained by the different researchers.

Interdiffusion in copper-rich Cu-Ag solid solutions has been investigated by Oikawa and co-workers [58]. They employed sandwich-type diffusion couples, constructed of pure copper and a copper-silver (21. at. %) alloy, which were interdiffused in the temperature range 974 to 1273 K. The silver concentration gradients were determined with an electron microprobe and interdiffusion coefficients were calculated with the aid of the Hall method [64] or the Matano analysis [63]. The diffusion parameters are listed in table 10. These same results are plotted in figure 12 as a function of composition and in figure 10 as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature. As can be seen in each of these figures, there is poor agreement with the results of Barreau and co-workers [16], quite possibly because of the formation of an inteface in the interdiffusion zone of the couples of Barreau et al. In the experiments of Oikawa and co-workers [58], the values of the interdiffusion coefficient, near infinite dilution, are in good agreement with the appropriate tracer diffusion coefficient values.

TABLE 10. The diffusion parameters (with probable errors) for interdiffusion in copper-rich Cu-Ag solid solutions. Data taken from Oikawa et al. [58]

Silver concen- tration (at.%)	$D_0(\mathrm{cm}^2/\mathrm{s})$	$Q(\text{kcal}\cdot\text{mol}^{-1})$
0	$0.206^{+0.092}_{-0.063}$	$43.97 \pm .74$
0.5	0.251+0.089 -0.065	44.16±.57
1.0	$0.177^{+0.067}_{-0.049}$	$43.37 \pm .55$
1.5	0.187+0.069 -0.050	43.28±.60
2.0	$0.224^{+0.088}_{-0.064}$	$43.66 \pm .64$

Kirkendall shift measurements were also made by Oikawa et al. [58] at the single temperature of 1174 K. Marker movement was always toward the silver-rich side of the diffusion couple.

Kuczynski and Alexander [51, 52] made a metallographic study of the copper-silver interface in the interdiffusion zone of sintered wires, though no quantitative information was reported. Carpenter and Houska [53. 54], made an X-ray investigation of the interdiffusion zone between planar deposits of silver on single crystals of copper. Interdiffusion occurring between vacuumdeposited thin films of copper and silver has been followed with electron diffraction techniques [56]. Tanzilli and Heckel [57] undertook research in the Cu-Ag system to compare experimental data with mathematical models of interdiffusion occurring in finite-geometry, two-phase diffusion couples. Ziebold and Ogilvie [59, 70], in their experimental analysis of interdiffusion in the ternary system Cu-Ag-Au, made measurements in the Cu-Ag binary. These measurements are discussed in the context of ternary diffusion in the section dealing with multicomponent alloys. Zhukhovitsky and co-workers [21, 55] performed marker motion studies in couples composed of Ag or Cu and an alloy of Cu-Ag and found that motion was always away from the copper or silver.

2.5. Cu-Ag-Al

The tracer diffusion of silver impurities in single crystals of dilute copper-aluminum alloys has been studied by conventional tracer-sectioning techniques by Alexander and Slifkin [66]. Also reported in the same paper are results for the tracer diffusion of copper impurities in dilute aluminum-silver alloys. The amount of solute (silver or copper) added to the aluminum was one at. percent. Considerable care was exercised in the experiment so as to allow the tracer to diffuse into the bulk, unimpeded by any oxide film. The temperatures of the diffusion anneals, the tracer diffusion coefficients of silver-110 and copper-64 (along with the corresponding values in pure aluminum) are given in table 11 and plotted in figure 13.

From the results, it appears that the copper tracer diffusion coefficient in the aluminum-silver (1 at. %) alloy is enhanced by approximately 13 percent (relative to that for diffusion in pure aluminum).

In the aluminum-copper (1 at. %) alloys, the silver tracer diffusion coefficient is approximately 10 percent larger than in pure aluminum.

Alexander and Slifkin give a semiquantiative interpretation (in terms of the oscillating nature of the electrostatic screening potential) for the enhanced solute diffusion they observed.

The tracer diffusion of silver-110 in copper-rich copper-aluminum alloys has been studied by Spasov and Ivanov [67]. The composition of their alloys varied from 1 to 5 weight percent aluminum and the temperature range of their investigation was 750 to 950 °C. Their

BUTRYMOWICZ, MANNING, AND READ

Tracer	7(90)	$D^*(\text{cm}^2/\text{s})$		
	1(-C)	Aluminum	Al-Ag(1 at.%)	Al-Cu(1 at.%)
Ag	634.0	2.2×10^{-8}		3.64×10 ⁻⁸
Ag	613.2	1.5 × 10-8		1.88×10 ⁻⁸
Cu	608.0	5.4 × 10-9	6.17×10-9	
Ag	581.2	8.76×10 ⁻⁹		9.52×10-9
Ag	558.0	5.4 $\times 10^{-9}$		
Cu	489.0	3.44×10-10	3.88×10-10	
Ag	469.8	7.6 × 10 ⁻¹⁰		7.87×10 ⁻¹⁰
Ag	411.3	1.6 × 10 ⁻¹⁰		1.76×10 ⁻¹⁰
Ag	342.0	1.44×10-11		1.55×10-11

TABLE 11. Silver-110 and copper-64 tracer diffusion coefficients in aluminum and dilute aluminum alloys [66]



FIGURE 13. Tracer diffusion coefficients of Ag-110 and Cn-64 in aluminum and dilute aluminum alloys as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature. Data taken from Alexander and Slitkin [66]

results were very peculiar (activation energies ranging from 17 to 62 kcal \cdot mol⁻¹) and will need some verification.

Aaron and Weinberg [68], with the aid of autoradiography, studied the diffusion of silver-110 along interphase boundaries of a two phase alloy, copper-aluminum (14.3 at. %). After diffusion anneals at 600 °C, the results seemed to indicate that interphase boundaries provide short-circuit paths for the silver-110 diffusion, similar to grain boundaries. Also, the results suggest that the enhanced interphase boundary diffusion of silver-110 is a function of the coherency of the boundary, the incoherent interphase boundaries being more effective short circuit paths for silver diffusion than semicoherent interphase boundaries.

2.6. Cu-Ag-Au

Braune [69], while studying interdiffusion in couples constructed of pure copper and silver-gold alloys, found copper to diffuse more rapidly in the silver-rich alloys than the gold-rich alloys in the temperature range 1040 to 1189 K.

Ziebold [70] and Ziebold and Ogilvie [59] have reported on a series of interdiffusion experiments in this ternary system at a temperature of approximately 725 °C. Some 17 sandwich diffusion couples were employed in their investigation (see table 12 for the terminal compositions of the couples). After interdiffusion, the specimens were subjected to electron microprobe analysis. The method [71-73] employed in converting X-ray intensities to chemical compositions yielded an overall reproducibility of composition measurements within 1 at. percent. From the penetration curves, composition-dependent interdiffusion coefficients were calculated with the aid of Kirkaldy's extension of the Boltzmann-Matano analysis [74]. Coefficients were computed at 28 points in the ternary system (see table 13). The authors also present in their paper a number of diagrams graphically illustrating trends in the partial interdiffusion coefficients D_{ii}^{3}

The direct coefficient for copper (D_{11}^3) appears to be nearly independent of silver concentration for lowsilver alloys. Because the authors were able to correlate the silver cross coefficient with thermodynamic data in these dilute (< 20 at. % silver) silver alloys, they were led to conclude that the mobilities of copper and gold are nearly equal. Interdiffusion occurring near the critical point of the two-phase field in the isothermal section of 725 °C causes the copper and silver composition gradients to approach infinity while the direct and cross coefficients become equal. Kirkaldy and Purdy [75] have analyzed this data near the ternary critical state more recently from the thermodynamic point of view. Guy and Philibert [76] feel that the Matano-type analysis applied to the data obtained from these experiments in the copper-silver-gold system does not yield completely satisfactory final results. DeHoff and coworkers [77] have calculated composition paths and Kirkendall shift patterns in this ternary alloy system.

 TABLE 12.
 Diffusion couple compositions in experiments by Ziebold et al. [59, 70]

Couple	Cu-Au	Alloy	Ag-Au	Ag-Au Alloy	
number	Cu(at.%))	Au(at.%)	Ag(at.%)	Au(at.%)	
1	100.0	0.0	0.0	100.0	
2	100.0	0.0	8.65	91.35	
3	100.0	0.0	30.9	69.1	
4	100.0	0.0	55.4	44.6	
5	100.0	0.0	72.8	27.2	
6	100.0	0.0	100.0	0.0	
7	82.3	17.7	- 100.0	0.0	
8	67:4	32.6	100.0	0.0	
9	44.0	56.0	100.0	0.0	
10	12.6	87.4	100.0	0.0	
11	0.0	100.0	100.0	0.0	
12	92.3	7.7	88.0	12.0	
13	67.4	32.6	55.4	44.6	
14	44.0	56.0	30.9	69.1	
15	92.3	7.7	55.4	44.6	
16	44.0	56.0	55.4	44.6	
17	44.0	56.0	8.65	91.35	

 TABLE 13.
 Interdiffusion coefficients in the copper-silver-gold system at 725 °C [59]

Composition		Interdiffusion coefficient a $(\text{cm}^2/\text{s} \times 10^{-10})$				
Cu(at.%)	Ag(at.%)	D_{11}^{3}	D ³ ₂₂	D^{3}_{12}	D ³ ₂₁	
2.1	86.9	1.2	0.42	0.07	-0.60	
5.9	84.5	1.7	1.4	0.04	0.19	
13.8	78.1	0.74	1.6	-0.28	0.81	
3.6	72.7	2.3	0.63	0.70	0.00	
11.2	71.9	2.1	1.3	0.50	0.21	
7.3	59.3	1.2	0.76	0.28	0.83	
7.5	58.6	1.00	0.91	0.22	0.96	
14.0	45.7	1.9	2.4	1.1	2.1	
13.1	34.0	0.99	1.3	0.09	1.7	
35.1	18.0	2.5	4.0	1.6	2.8	
35.1	4.2	3.0	2.8	1.7	0.57	
41.8	3.0	3.1	2.0	0.75	0.29	
44.6	2.5	3.2	3.3	0.73	0.81	
58.5	4.8	2.3	3.0	0.53	0.81	
60.3	12.9	2.3	3.1	1.11	1.8	
62.9	9.5	2.4	3.6	1.04	1.9	
66.6	2.7	1.8	1.5	0.20	0.18	
66.3	0.7	2.1	1.8	2.4	0.04	
79.8	5.9	1.11	1.5	0.28	0.42	
81.0	3.9	0.93	1.4	0.20	0.17	
81.6	2.4	0.73	1.3	-0.01	0.11	
88.6	3.0	0.61	0.93	-0.03	0.08	
90.1	2.1	0.43	0.85	-0.21	0.04	
6.0	59.5	1.1	indete	rminate	0.77	
6.2	59.3	0.86	indete	rminate	0.57	
1.2	56.2	0.53	indete	rminate	0.39	
6.3	36.6	0.89	indete	rminate	0.86	
6.1	11.8	1.3	indete	rminate	0.73	

^a Subscripts: 1 refers to copper. 2 refers to silver.

3 refers to gold.

2.7. Cu-Ag-Be

Arkharov and co-workers investigated [49, 78-82] the effect of dilute alloying additions of beryllium on the diffusion of silver in polycrystalline copper. In the studies made on the effect of beryllium alloying additions on the grain boundary diffusion of silver in polycrystalline copper [78, 81], the results conflict. The earlier results [49, 81] (which claim that beryllium retards both the volume and grain boundary diffusion of silver in copper) are believed to be in error because of the rather inaccurate method of analysis (microstructure comparisons). The more recent investigation [78] utilized a radioactive tracer (silver-110) which was vacuum sputtered onto the copper-beryllium alloy specimens. After the diffusion anneals, the specimens were analyzed using Gruzin's method [30]. Grain boundary diffusion coefficients were calculated using Fisher's analysis [83]. The calculations assumed a grain boundary width of approximately 10^{-o} cm and a volume diffusion coefficient of silver-110 in the copper-beryllium alloys of approximately 10⁻¹² cm²/s at 590 °C. The volume diffusion coefficient assumption was based on similar work in copper-antimony alloys [12]. All the diffusion studies were performed at 590 °C for 100 hours, although pre-diffusion heat treatments were different for each specimen. The results are given in table 14 and seem to indicate that a minor alloying addition of beryllium (of the order of 0.1 wt%) accelerates the grain boundary diffusion of silver in copper. Special note should be taken that results are based upon a "less-than rigorous" calculation.

TABLE 14. Silver grain boundary diffusion coefficients in a Cu-Be $(0.1\%)^{a}$ alloy at 590 °C [78]

Pre-diffusion heat treatment	$D_{gb}(cm^2/s)$
None	$3.7 imes 10^{-8}$
100 h @ 863 °C	$2.4 imes 10^{-8}$
100 h @ 863 °C and 50 h @ 590 °C	3.3×10 ⁻⁸

^a Author did not specify atomic or weight percent.

2.8. Cu-Ag-Cd

The effects of small amounts of cadmium on the aging process in copper-silver solid solutions in the temperature range 300-700 °C has been studied [119]. Although the significance of diffusion in the aging process is made apparent, no diffusion data is measured.

2.9. Cu-Ag-Cr

Measurements [15, 16] of the tracer, grain boundary and interdiffusion of silver in a dilute copper-chromium (0.8 wt%) alloy are reported in the sections on $Ag^* \rightarrow Cu$, chemical interdiffusion in Cu-Ag, and grain boundary diffusion in the copper-silver system, respectively.

2.10. Cu-Ag-Fe

Arkharov et al. [79] qualitatively followed the interdiffusion processes occurring between silver and polycrystalline copper-iron alloys (0.001 to 0.04 wt% iron) at 500 °C. The silver penetration was primarily through the grain boundaries rather than through the lattice. Varying iron concentrations caused no substantial changes in the rate of interdiffusion of the silver. The addition of antimony and/or beryllium to the copperiron alloys and their effects or the interdiffusion process were also observed.

Arkharov and co-workers [80] also examined the interdiffusion occurring between silver and copper-hearing steels at 900 °C. Metallographic examination revealed little or no preferential diffusion of silver in the grain boundaries of the steels.

2.11. Cu-Ag-O

The diffusion of silver impurities in cuprous oxide (Cu₂O) has been the subject of several studies by Andrievskii and co-workers [84-87]. Their most recent study [84] was an experimental investigation into the diffusion of radioactive silver-110 in cuprous oxide in the temperature range 700 to 1050 °C. The cuprous oxide was prepared by the oxidation of metallic copper in air at a temperature of 1030 °C, the technique yielding single crystals of Cu₂O [87]. After the electrolyticallydeposited silver-110 was diffused into the Cu₂O, the amount of penetration was determined by grinding and counting the radioactivity in the bulk specimen. The results are plotted in figure 14 as function of the reciprocal absolute temperature.

The temperature dependence of the lattice diffusion of radioactive silver-110 in single crystals of Cu₂O can be expressed as:

$$D^*_{Ag \to Cu_2C}$$

 $= 0.6 \times 10^{-2} \exp(-27,630 \operatorname{cal} \cdot \operatorname{mol}^{-1}/RT) \operatorname{cm}^{2}/s.$

The tracer diffusion coefficient of silver-110 impurities into large-grained polycrystals of cuprous oxide did not possess the same simple temperature dependence (see figure 15). The temperature dependence of the tracer diffusion coefficient in the polycrystalline oxide can be written as the sum of two exponential functions,

$$\begin{split} D^*_{\rm Ag \to Cu_2} &= (0.56 \times 10^{-2}) \exp(-28,\!270 \; {\rm cal \cdot mol^{-1}}/RT) \; {\rm cm^2/s} \\ &+ (0.24 \times 10^{-4}) \exp(-14,\!080 \; {\rm cal \cdot mol^{-1}}/RT) \; {\rm cm^2/s}, \end{split}$$

the first term referring to the high-temperature region, the second term to the low-temperature region.

The authors also studied the diffusion of the silver-110 tracer in copper oxide during the growth of the latter at temperatures of 950, 1000, and 1050 °C. The oxidation



FIGURE 14. The tracer diffusion coefficients of silver-110 into single crystals of Cu₂O as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

Data from Andrievskii et al. [84].

process resulted in the formation of Cu₂O and the silver tracer diffusion coefficients ranged in value from 0.808×10^{-8} cm²/s at 950 °C to 1.60×10^{-8} cm²/s at 1050 °C. The activation energy determined for the process was 41,600 cal·mol⁻¹. The penetration curves revealed that the silver-110 diffused from the surface of the copper through the oxide layer with the maximum silver concentration near the outer surface of the Cu₂O layer.

It is hard to assess the reliability of these measurements in view of the difficulty in producing a singlephase homogeneous layer of Cu_2O on the copper metal. There is a strong possibility that the layer of scale produced consisted of several oxide phases with the lowest oxidation state located next to the metal and the highest oxidation state in equilibrium with the oxidizing atmosphere. The oxide layer on the copper probably does consist primarily of Cu_2O with only a very thin exterior layer of CuO. What effect all this (plus the other usual problems which plague diffusion studies in oxides) has on the silver-110 diffusion rate was not made apparent by the authors.

The internal oxidation of copper-silver alloys has been studied by both Combe-Brun et al. [88] and Podgurski and Davis [89], the investigations directed towards determining the atom ratio of oxygen to copper.

The process of oxygen absorption in the liquid coppersilver alloy system was found to be controlled by the diffusion of oxygen in the bulk of the metal [90]. Relative to pure molten copper, the alloying addition of 5 at. percent silver increased the oxygen diffusion rate by a factor of three.





Data from Andrievskii et al. [84].

2.12. Cu-Ag-S

The interdiffusion of copper in silver sulfide (Ag_2S) has been studied by Braune and Kahn [91] and Tubandt and co-workers [92, 93]. Their results are listed in table 15 and plotted in figure 16. Braune and Kahn [91] arrived at the following expression for an average interdiffusion coefficient for copper in Ag_2S :

$$\tilde{D}_{Cu}^{avg.} = (1.2 \times 10^{-4}) \exp(-3160 \text{ cal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^{2}/\text{s},$$

where T is expressed in kelvin.

Boltaks [94], using the above data, arrived at the following Arrhenius expression for what he terms a "copper impurity diffusion coefficient" in Ag_2S :

$$D_{cv}^{\text{impurity}} = (4.6 \times 10^{-4}) \exp(-3250 \text{ cal})$$

 $\cdot \operatorname{mol}^{-1}/RT$) cm²/s.



<i>T</i> (°C)	Average \tilde{D}_{Cu} (cm ² /s)	Reference
713 535 420 330 328 230 220 202	$ a 2.32 \times 10^{-5} a 1.67 \times 10^{-5} 1.64 \times 10^{-5} 6.2 \times 10^{-6} a 7.87 \times 10^{-6} 4.1 \times 10^{-6} a 4.72 \times 10^{-6} a 4.14 \times 10^{-6} $	Braune et al. Braune et al. Tubandt et al. Tubandt et al. Braune et al. Tubandt et al. Braune et al. Braune et al.
190 170 150	$\begin{array}{ccc} 3.2 & \times 10^{-6} \\ 3.9 & \times 10^{-7} \\ 1.9 & \times 10^{-8} \end{array}$	Tubandt et al. Tubandt et al. Tubandt et al.

^a Braune's original values divided by four as suggested by Jost.

The same groups of investigators (and in the same published papers) [91–93] also measured the rate of



FIGURE 16. Average interdiffusion coefficients for the interdiffusion of copper in silver sulfide (Ag₂S) as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

Data taken from Braune and Kahn [91] and Tubandt et al. [92, 93].

interdiffusion of silver in Cu_2S (see table 16 and figure 17). From their data, Braune and Kahn [91] arrive at

TABLE 16. Average silver interdiffusion coefficients in Cu₂S [91-93]

<i>T</i> (°C)	Average $\tilde{D}_{A\mu}$ (cm ² /s)	Reference
919	^a 4.65 × 10 ^{−5}	Braune et al.
713	$a 3.25 imes 10^{-5}$	Braune et al.
550	a 2.3 × 10−5	Braune et al.
420	9.43×10-6	Tubandt et al.
330	$4.65 imes 10^{-6}$	Tubandt et al.
315	ª 7.10 × 10−6	Braune et al.
230	1.86×10^{-6}	Tubandt et al.
223	^a 3.15 × 10−6	Braune et al.

^a Braune's original values divided by four as suggested by Jost.

an expression for the average interdiffusion coefficient of silver in Cu_2S ,

$$\tilde{D}_{Ag}^{\text{avg.}} = (3 \times 10^{-6})$$
 . exp $(-4550 \text{ cal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s.}$

Boltaks, [94] using the above data, obtains the following Arrhenius expression for the average interdiffusion coefficient:

$$\tilde{D}_{Ag}^{avg.} = (3 \times 10^{-6}) \text{ exp } (-4610 \text{ cal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s.}$$

Wagner [95] has derived the equations needed for the calculation of the cation distribution in Cu_2S-Ag_2S solid solutions formed on copper-silver alloys.



FIGURE 17. Average interdiffusion coefficients for the interdiffusion of silver in copper sulfide (Cu₂S) as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

Data from Braune and Kahn [91] and Tubandt et al. [92, 93].

2.13. Cu-Ag-Sb

In early interdiffusion studies [49, 120], both the volume and grain boundary diffusion of silver in copperantimony alloys was enhanced with increasing antimony content in the alloy. In these experiments, polycrystalline silver wires were inserted into the core of the copperantimony specimens to form the interdiffusion couples. The copper-antimony alloys contained from 0.003 to 4.72 wt percent antimony and were of varying grain size. The diffusion anneals took place at 630 to 700 °C, ranging in time from 69 to 101 hours. After quenching, the microstructure and width of the interdiffusion zones were examined micrometallographically. From their observations the authors concluded that the mobility of silver within the copper-antimony alloys increased with increasing percentage of antimony as well as with decreasing grain size. Interdiffusion zone widths were found to increase correspondingly. In those experiments utilizing high antimony contents (~ 4.7 wt %), it was found that the grain boundary diffusion contributions of silver dropped off due to increased volume diffusion.

2.14. Cu-Ag-Se

Diffusion studies in this ternary system have been limited to the compounds Ag₂Se, Cu₂Se.

Reinhold and Seidel [96] made e.m.f. measurements on cells constructed of $Cu_xAgSe|Cu_xSe$ and thus were able to study the diffusion of silver ions in these cells. The silver content was kept constant while the copper and selenium compositions were varied. Jost [97] summarizes their results in table 17.

 TABLE 17.
 Silver interdiffusion coefficients in copper-selenium alloys [96]

	$\widetilde{D}(10^{-6}~{ m cm^2/s})$		
Couple conneuration	165 °C	198 °C	272 °C
Cu _{1.77} Ag _{0.05} Se/Cu _{1.77} Se	0.4	0.7	1.6
Cu _{1.89} Ag _{0.05} Se/Cu _{1.89} Se	1.6	2	3.6
Cu _{1.95} Ag _{0.05} Se/Cu _{1.95} Se	1.1	1.3	4.4

Barrer [98] summarized the data from a number of sources [99–101] before 1940 and concluded that the diffusion of copper in the α -modification of Ag₂Se could be expressed as:

 $D = D_0 \exp\left(-\frac{Q}{RT}\right)$

$$= 15.5 \times 10^{-5} \exp(-2940 \text{ cal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^{2}/\text{s}.$$

A recent estimate [103] of the impurity diffusion coefficient of copper in polycrystalline Ag_2Se placed the room temperature value at 4.7×10^{-8} cm²/s. The experiments were restricted to room temperatures. The source of the copper was a Cu|Ag₂Se soldered junction.

The primary purpose of the investigation was to study contact resistance but sufficient data were obtained from the measurement of the rate of change of the resistivity profile of a partially copper-plated ingot of the semiconductor material to permit the calculation of a diffusion coefficient. The method used for the measurement is the same method widely used to study contact resistances of metal-semiconductor junctions [104, 105]. In relating the measured potential profile to the copper concentration, it is necessary to assume that the diffusion coefficient and electron mobility are constant over the concentration range in question. This may not always be true although the diffusion coefficient arrived at is not an unreasonable value.

The diffusion of silver into thin films of $Cu_{1.8}Se$ was observed in an electron microscope, the silver diffusing as a positive ion [102].

2.15. Cu-Ag-Te

The tracer diffusion coefficient of silver-110 in coppertellurium (0.6 wt.% tellurium) alloys has been reported [15]. The radioactive tracer was electrodeposited onto oxygen-free, high conductivity copper and then diffused at temperatures from approximately 700 to 1000 °C. After annealing, the silver penetration was determined by using Gruzin's residual activity method of analysis [29]. The diffusion coefficients obtained from the data are shown in figure 18. Also plotted in the same figure are the silver tracer diffusion coefficients in unalloyed OFHC copper. According to the authors, the tellurium additions resulted in a smaller grain size in the specimens, thus increasing the amount of grain-boundary diffusion taking place. Because of this increased grain boundary contribution, the "apparent" volume diffusion coefficient is somewhat larger than the "true" value.

In the same paper [15], the grain-boundary diffusion of the silver-110 tracer is determined for the same copper-tellurium alloy. Using Suzuoka's method [106], the grain-boundary diffusion coefficients can be expressed by the relation:

$$D_{\rm gb} \cdot \delta (\rm cm^3/s) = 1.10 \times 10^{-6}$$

exp (-27,000 cal · mol⁻¹/RT) cm³/s.

where δ is the thickness of the grain boundary. The specimen grain size was of the order of 100 μ m, but not over 250 μ m. To compare the results to those determinations in unalloyed copper, the grain-boundary diffusion coefficients are plotted as a function of 1/T for both cases in figure 19. It is obvious that tellurium additions result in not only a larger activation energy but also a larger pre-exponential for the grain-boundary diffusion of silver in copper.

Barrer [98] collects the data of several publications [99–101] and gives the following expressions for the impurity diffusion of copper and silver in the compounds A_{g_2} Te and Cu_2 Te respectively:



FIGURE 18. Tracer diffusion coefficients of silver-110 in copper (OFHC) and a coppertellurium alloy (0.6 wt % Te) as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature. Data taken from Barreau et al. [15].



FIGURE 19. The product of the grain boundary diffusion coefficient of silver-110 in a copper-tellurium alloy times the grain boundary thickness as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

The copper-tellurium alloy contains 0.6 wt % Te and had a grain size of $\sim 100 \ \mu$ m (but not more than 250 μ m). For comparison, the same determinations made in unalloyed copper are also shown. Data taken from Barreau et al. [15].

 $D_{Cu \to Ag_{*}Te} = 3.85 \times 10^{-5} exp$

$$(-2.660 \text{ cal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s},$$

 $D_{\text{Ag} \to \text{Cu}_2\text{Te}} = 2.4 \text{ exp} (20,860 \text{ cal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s}.$

2.16. Cu-Ag-Ti

The effect of titanium impurities on the tracer and grain boundary diffusion of silver in copper (see Barreau et al. [15, 16]) is discussed in the sections on $Ag^* \rightarrow Cu$ and grain boundary diffusion.

2.17. Cu-Ag-Zn

The tracer diffusion coefficient of silver in the disordered as well as the ordered phase CuZn has been reported by Camagni and co-workers [108, 109]. Radioactive silver-110 was electrolytically deposited onto the polycrystalline β -brass (47.2 at. % zinc) specimens, diffused at temperatures in the range 320 to 700 °C, and the silver penetration determined by sectioning. The calculated values of the tracer diffusion coefficients are plotted as a function of the reciprocal absolute temperature in figure 20.

In the disordered region (above the transition temperature ≈ 468 °C) a straight line can be drawn through the data points and an Arrhenius relationship established. From a least-squares fit of the data in the disordered region, the following expression is obtained for the silver tracer diffusion coefficient:

$$D_{A\mu}^* = 0.014 \exp(-21.90 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s}.$$

At the transition temperature and below, in the ordered region, the plot has a finite curvature although at lower temperatures a straight line could be fitted to the data.



FIGURE 20. Tracer diffusion coefficients of silver-110 in ordered and dwordered polycrystalline β -bass (47.2 at , % Zn) as a function of reciprocid absolute temperature. Data taken from Camagni and consider silver 1091

2.18. Cu-Ag-Zr

Barreau and co-workers [15, 16] have measured the diffusion of silver (tracer, grain boundary, and interdiffusion coefficients) in a dilute copper-zirconium (0.12 wt%) alloy. These results are included in the discussion dealing with $Ag^* \rightarrow Cu$, chemical interdiffusion, and grain boundary diffusion in copper-silver alloys.

2.19. Cu-Ag-X

Interdiffusion occurring between electrodeposited coatings of silver, gold, tin, and lead on a copper substrate in the temperature range 23 to 212 °C has been studied by Creydt [110] and Creydt and Fichter [111]. Diffusion anneals of up to 11,500 hours were employed, resulting in the formation of the phases $AuSn_2$, $AuSn_4$, Ag_3Sn , Cu_5AuSn_5 , $Cu_3Au_3Sn_5$, $Cu_4Au_2Sn_5$, Cu_3Sn , and Ag_3Sn in the interdiffusion zone.

Interdiffusion processes occurring during the brazing of rhenium-coated titanium with copper-silver braze alloys have been followed by recording the changes in microhardness and microstructure [112]. The interdiffusion zone was found to contain an assortment of phases after brazing in the temperature region 740 to 850 °C for 15 to 30 minutes. No calculations were made with the data.

Modjeska and Kann [113] electroplated a variety of metals onto copper alloys (phosphor bronzes) and diffusion annealed them for short times at 371 and 538 °C, noting in a qualitative manner the interdiffusion which took place.

2.20. Grain Boundary Diffusion

The grain boundary diffusion of silver in copper has been subjected to much investigation [9, 12, 15, 16, 19, 20, 114-125]. Although Berman and Harrington [123] had shown qualitatively for this system that silver diffuses into copper more rapidly in the grain boundaries than in the adjoining grains, it was the studies of Smoluchowski and co-workers [114-118, 126, 127] which resulted in the first direct experimental evidence for such. In fact, it was these pioneering investigations in the copper-silver system which revealed for the first time the variation of grain boundary diffusion rates with relative grain orientation. Achter and Smoluchowski [114-116, 126] and Couling and Smoluchowski [118, 127] in their experiments measured the rate of diffusion of silver between grains of copper having a common cube direction. For small misorientations the silver grain boundary penetration was not distinguishable from lattice diffusion, but at $\approx 20^{\circ}$ misorientation it increased rapidly, reaching a maximum value at 45°. For higher angles, the silver grain boundary penetration decreased again to indistinguishable values. Their results reveal not only a dependence of the silver grain boundary coefficient upon the orientation of the copper grains but also, for fixed orientation, upon the direction within the grain boundary, i.e. an anisotropy of silver grain boundary diffusion. Figures 21, 22, and 23 summarize the results of their measurements. Smoluchowski has variously estimated the activation energy for the grain boundary diffusion of silver in copper as being about 23.8 kcal · mol⁻¹ [115, 126, 128] (or of the order of one-



FIGURE 21. Grain boundary penetration of silver as a function of orientation difference (θ) of two columnar grains of copper after 141 hours of diffusion annealing at 725 °C.

The relative orientation of the two grains flanking the boundary is given by the angle θ between a pair of cube axes normal to the columnar direction. From the data of Achter and Smoluchowski [114].



FIGURE 22. Grain boundary penetration of silver in copper as a function of orientation difference (θ) measured for three different values of ϕ (where ϕ is the orientation of specimens with respect to the common [100] direction and the plane of the grain boundary).

 $\phi = 0^{\circ}$ corresponds to diffusion in the columnar direction. From the data of Couling and Smoluchowski [118].



FIGURE 23. Relative grain boundary diffusion anisotropy, defined as $\frac{\Delta y}{y} = \frac{y(0^\circ) - y(90^\circ)}{y(0^\circ)}$ where y = penetration depth, as a function of orientation difference (θ).

Bicrystals with a common [100] axis but with different θ values were used. For every θ value, the silver penetration was determined parallel, perpendicular, and at 45° to the boundary axis. From the data of Couling and Smoluchowski [118].

half that known for lattice diffusion at the time of his studies). Dawson's [129] criticisms of Smoluchowski's grain boundary investigations are unfounded in view of later results [117, 130].

Arkharov and co-workers [9, 12, 49, 119, 120, 125] investigated the rate of silver diffusion in the grain boundaries of copper, restricting themselves to the single temperature of 650 °C. Using radioactive silver and Gruzin's experimental technique [29, 30], and by applying Fisher's theoretical analysis [83] to the data, silver grain boundary diffusion coefficients of the order of 10^{-8} cm²/s were obtained.

Gertsriken and Revo [20] measured the rate of penetration of radioactive silver in the grain boundaries of pure copper and a dilute copper-silver alloy making their measurements in the temperature range 250 to 450 °C. Similarly, they employed Gruzin's experimental technique, but applied Gertsriken's analysis [131] in

 TABLE 18.
 Average grain boundary diffusion coefficients of silver in copper and Cu-Ag (0.1 at.%) [20]

<i>T</i> (°C)	$D_{ m gb}~(m cm^2/s)$	
	Copper	Cu-Ag (0.1 at.%)
450	1.7×10-11	1.4×10 ⁻¹¹
400	9.0×10 ⁻¹²	$4.5 imes 10^{-12}$
350	$2.7 imes 10^{-12}$	$1.4 imes 10^{-12}$
300	7.1×10 ⁻¹³	$5.7 imes 10^{-13}$
250	1.6×10-13	$1.4 imes 10^{-13}$

their calculations of the silver grain boundary diffusion coefficients. Their results for pure copper and a coppersilver alloy are listed in table 18. The average values of the coefficients are plotted in figure 24. A straight line, when drawn through these points yields the following temperature dependence in the temperature range 250 to 450 °C:



FIGURE 24. Average grain boundary diffusion coefficients of silver in pure copper and a copper-silver alloy (0.1 at. % Ag) as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

Data of Gertsriken and Revo [20]
For silver diffusing along grain boundaries in pure copper,

$$D_{\rm gb}^{\rm avg.} = 3.1 \times 10^{-6} \exp(-17,200 \pm 500 \text{ cal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT)$$

cm²/s

For silver diffusing along the grain boundaries of a copper-silver (0.1 at. %) alloy,

$$D_{gb}^{\text{avg.}} = 1.7 \times 10^{-6}$$

exp (-17,050 ± 500 cal · mol⁻¹/RT) cm²/s

Romashkin and Shestopalov [124] claimed to have measured equivalent activation energies for the grain boundary diffusion of silver in copper.

Most recently, a detailed investigation of the grain boundary diffusion of silver in copper has been reported by Barreau et al. [15, 16]. Electrolytically-deposited radioactive silver-110 was diffused into pure copper (O.F.H.C., with impurities $\times 10^{-6}$: P < 3, S < 10, Zn < 3, Mg < 1, Pb < 10, Cd < 2, Se < 10, Bi ≤ 10 , Te ≤ 10 , O ≤ 10) whose grain size was $\geq 250 \ \mu$ m. The

FABLE 19. Value of the product $D_{sb} \cdot \delta$ from silver-110 grain boundary diffusion in OFHC copper [16]

T(°C)	$D_{\rm gb}\cdot\delta({ m cm^3/s})$			
<i>Γ</i> (C)	Fisher's analysis	Suzuoka's analysis		
618	2.31×10-14	6.63×10-14		
573	$1.93 imes 10^{-14}$	6.36×10-14		
560	$1.33 imes 10^{-14}$	3.89×10-14		
525	1.08×10-14	2.94×10 ⁻¹⁴		
475	3.68×10-15	1.19×10-14		
456	2.75×10^{-15}	9.29×10-15		
398	9.7 $\times 10^{-16}$	3.02×10^{-15}		

 δ = mean grain boundary thickness.

temperature range of the study extended from 398 to 618 °C. Silver-110 penetration was determined through use of Gruzin's technique of measuring residual activity [29, 30] as modified by Seibel [31, 132-134]. Grain boundary diffusion coefficients were calculated with the aid of Fisher's [83] and Suzuoka's [106] analysis and are listed in table 19. When the coefficients are plotted as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature (see figure 25), straight lines can be fitted to the results from both



FIGURE 25. Grain boundary diffusion coefficients of silver-110 in relatively pure copper (OFHC and HC) as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

Data of Barreau et al. [15, 16].

analyses. The temperature-dependence of the silver-110 grain boundary diffusion coefficient derived from Suzuoka's analysis can be expressed as:

$$D_{\rm gb} \cdot \delta = 2.3 \times 10^{-9} \exp(-18,000 \, \text{cal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \, \text{cm}^{3}/\text{s},$$

and from Fisher's method,

$$D_{\rm gb} \cdot \delta = 7.1 \times 10^{-10} \exp(-18,000 \, \text{cal} \cdot \, \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \, \text{cm}^{3}/\text{s},$$

where δ is the mean grain boundary thickness. Suzuoka's method of calculation yields grain boundary diffusion coefficients which are approximately three times larger than those derived from Fisher's analysis at comparable temperatures.

Barreau et al. [16] found that the addition of metallic impurities (0.8 wt. % chromium, 0.6 wt. % tellurium, 0.1 wt. % titanium, and 0.12 wt. % zirconium) to the pure copper caused a change in the grain boundary behavior of the diffusing silver-110 (see figure 26 and table 20). The temperature dependence of silver grain boundary diffusion in these alloys (as determined from Suzuoka's analysis [106]) can be expressed by the following relations:

$$\delta \cdot D^{\rm gb}_{\rm Ag \rightarrow Cull}$$

$$= 1.1 \times 10^{-6} \exp(-27 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^{3}/\text{s},$$

$$\delta \cdot D_{Ag \to CuTi}^{gb}$$

$$= 1.3 \times 10^{-6} \exp(-29 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^{3}/\text{s},$$

 $\delta \cdot D^{\mathrm{gb}}_{\mathrm{Ag} \rightarrow \mathrm{CuZr}}$

$$=9.61 \times 10^{-7} \exp(-31 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^{3}/\text{s}$$

Because of the scatter in the data, no expression was calculated for the copper-chromium (0.8 wt%) alloy.

In contrast to the above-mentioned investigations in



FIGURE 26. The product $[\delta \cdot D_{rb}]$ (where δ is the mean grain boundary thickness and D_{rb} is the grain boundary diffusion coefficient of silver) as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature for silver diffusion in the grain boundary of pure (OFHC) copper, and some dilute copper alloys of (Cu-Cr, Cu-Te, Cu-Ti, and Cu-Zr).

Data taken from Barreau et al. [16].

BUTRYMOWICZ, MANNING, AND READ

<i>T</i> (°C)	$D_{gb} \cdot \delta(\mathrm{cm}^3/\mathrm{s})$					
	Cu-Cr(0.8 wt %)	Cu-Te(0.6 wt %)	Cu-Ti(0.1 wt %)	Cu-Zr(0.12 wt %)		
618	1.61×10^{-13}			2.71×10^{-14}		
611		2.10×10 ⁻¹³	5.60×10^{-14}			
578		1.20×10^{-13}	2.95×10^{-14}			
573	6.65×10^{-14}			1.19×10-14		
525	3.6×10^{-14}			3.88×10-15		
517		4.75×10^{-14}	7.20×10^{-15}			
475	8.16×10^{-15}			1.00×10^{-15}		
465		1.04×10-14	1.80×10^{-15}			
456				$5.82 imes 10^{-16}$		

TABLE 20. Value of the product D_{gb} δ from silver-110 grain boundary diffusion in copper containing dilute alloy additions using Suzuoka's analysis [106]

 δ = mean grain boundary thickness.



FIGURE 27. Grain boundary diffusion coefficients of silver in static and moving grain boundaries of copper as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature. Data taken from Blackburn and Brown [122, 135].

Τ (°C)	$D_{gb}(cm^2/s)$			
<i>I</i> (C)	Unstrained	Strained		
$794 \pm 0.5 731 \pm 0.7 623 \pm 1 623 \pm 1 567 5 \pm 0 5 $	$(7.9\pm2) \times 10^{-5}$ $(1.9\pm0.2) \times 10^{-5}$ $(4.0\pm0.6) \times 10^{-6}$ $(8.4\pm0.5) \times 10^{-7}$	$(1.4 \pm 0.7) \times 10^{-4}$ $(2.8 \pm 0.2) \times 10^{-5}$ $(3.2 \pm 0.3) \times 10^{-6}$ $(1.6 \pm 0.1) \times 10^{-6}$ $(8.4 \pm 0.7) \times 10^{-7}$		
517 ± 0.5	$(6.4 \pm 0.3) \times 10^{-7}$	$(0.7\pm0.7)\times10^{-7}$ $(7.6\pm0.6)\times10^{-7}$		

 TABLE 21.
 Silver 110 grain boundary diffusion coefficients in static and moving grain boundaries of copper ^a [122]

^a Grain boundary width taken as 7.6×10^{-8} cm.

static grain boundaries of copper are the diffusion studies of Blackburn and Brown [122, 135] in moving grain boundaries. They diffused radioactive silver-110 into single tilt boundaries in spectroscopically pure (~ 6 ppm impurity) copper bicrystals over the temperature range 517 to 794 °C. Penetration of silver-110 into static boundaries and boundaries sliding (being sheared along a common boundary) at rates of 0.05 to 3 μ m/h was measured by autoradiography. It was found that the silver grain-boundary diffusion coefficient in sliding boundaries is slightly (30%) higher than in static boundaries of the same orientation. Table 21 and figure 27 summarizes all of their grain boundary diffusion data. No change in activation energy for the process was found, as is indicated in figure 27. The activation energy for the grain boundary diffusion of silver into maximum misorientation grain boundaries of copper was found to be $32,000 \pm 3,500$ cal·mol⁻¹. This is considerably higher in value than any of the previouslymentioned investigations. The results obtained from low-angle boundaries are in agreement with Achter



FIGURE 28. Grain boundary diffusion coefficients of silver-110 in the grain boundaries of copper bicrystals (misoriented at 45°) as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

Data of Renouf [19].

TABLE 22. Grain boundary diffusion coefficients of Ag-110 in the grain boundaries of copper bicrystals misoriented at 45 °C. After the data of Renouf [19].

T °C	$D_{\rm gb}(10^{-6}{\rm cm^2/s})$
543	$14 \pm 6 \\ 6.5 \pm 3$
593	$8 \pm 2 \\ 6.0 \pm 2$
593	$\begin{array}{c} 12 \pm 4 \\ 9.6 \pm 3 \end{array}$
640	10 ± 2
642	11 ± 2
690	20 ± 4
698	25 ± 4
718	37 ± 7
719	30 ± 6
757	52 ± 15

and Smoluchowski [114] who also found that the grainboundary diffusivity of silver in low-angle boundaries was not measureably different in the chosen direction from the lattice diffusivity of the crystal.

Quantitative autoradiographic measurements bv Renouf [19] in the temperature range 543 to 757 °C has yielded another set of data. His technique [18], employing copper bicrystals misoriented at 45 °C, was based on matching the experimental density distribution to a distribution that is computed from an assumed theoretical model. The results of the calculation (obtained from penetration depth measurements taking the mean grain boundary width to be 5 $\times 10^{-8}$ cm) are listed in table 22. An Arrhenius plot of the same data is shown in figure 28. An activation energy of 26 ± 2 kcal \cdot mol⁻¹ and a pre-exponential factor of 15^{+10}_{-3} cm²/s is obtained from the straight line fitted to the data. The marked departure from linearity is apparent at the lower temperatures.

Unfortunately, agreement is not good among these investigations into the rate of grain boundary diffusion of silver in copper. The differences may, in part, be attributed to the large amount of scatter contained in the results obtained in the individual investigations. Additionally, exact comparisions are difficult in view of the differences not only in the experimental conditions but in the methods of interpretation. Until additional results are available confirming one or the other of the above mentioned determinations, the presently published values should be used with caution. Grain boundary diffusion in an electric field is discussed in the subsequent section on electromigration in the copper-silver system. Diffusion along interphase boundaries is discussed in the preceding section on copper-silver-aluminum. Grain boundary diffusion also is mentioned in the section on Cu-Ag-Fe.

2.21. Surface Diffusion

The migration of copper on silver surfaces has been studied by Kehoe et al. [136] and Pines et al. [137]. In the experiments of Kehoe et al., copper was condensed onto a smooth (111) silver surface which had been formed by deposition on heated mica. The silver surface was maintained at a temperature near 270 °C during the copper deposition. After deposition, the copper atoms retained a certain mobility, moving over the silver surface. The authors, in a qualitative fashion, followed the epitaxial growth of the copper crystallites, noting migration distances of the order of 10 μ m, with substrate temperatures of 270 °C. Pines and coworkers studied the kinetics of the surface diffusion on thin films ($\sim 10^{-6}$ cm thick) of silver. Using an electron-diffraction technique to make their measurements, they arrive at an "apparent surface diffusion coefficient" for copper flowing on and near the surface of the thin silver film. Because the mechanism involves a lattice component as well as a surface component, the corresponding total flux being measured is an "apparent surface diffusion coefficient" rather than a pure surface diffusion coefficient. The temperature dependence of this coefficient for copper on silver is shown in figure 29. In spite of the scatter, a straight line was fitted to the data, yielding an activation energy of approximately 14 kcal \cdot mol⁻¹ for the migration process.

Pines and co-workers [137], in a similar experimental manner, measured the migration of silver over a thin film of copper. The results, although similar (see figure 30), yield a somewhat higher activation energy ($\sim 20 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}$). Shpilevskii [138] and Kunin and Shpilevskii [139], also working with thin films of silver and copper, followed surface diffusion processes occurring in the temperature range 120 to 220 °C.

Roulet and co-workers [140–143] have employed a novel oxidation technique in order to follow small concentration changes of silver on singular and vicinal surfaces of copper. Determining these concentration profiles, silver surface diffusion coefficients were measured in the temperature range 250 to 500 °C on a number of planes. When plotted as a function of the reciprocal absolute temperature, activation energies and pre-exponential factors can be calculated. Table 23 contains a summary of their data.

In an early experiment, Frauenfelder [144] followed the diffusion of radioactive copper-64 on the surface of silver at 750 °C. His measurements yielded diffusion rates of the order of 10^{-5} to 10^{-6} cm²/s at this temperature.



FIGURE 29. The "apparent surface diffusion coefficients" of copper on a silver surface as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

Since the measurement contains a lattice diffusion component, as well as a surface component, it is referred to as an "apparent surface diffusion coefficient," rather than a true surface diffusion coefficient. After the data of Pines and co-workers [137].



FIGURE 30. The "apparent surface diffusion coefficients" of silver on a copper surface as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

The measurement contains a lattice diffusion component, as well as a surface component, hence it is referred to as an "apparent surface diffusion coefficient." After the data of Fines and co-workers [137].

Plane Direction Temperature D_0 0 range (°C) (kcal · mol⁻¹) (cm^2/s) 250-500 6.2×10^{-2} 17.5 ± 3.7 (001)isotropic (111)isotropic 250-500 4.6×10-1 17.5 ± 3.7 (110) $\langle 1\overline{1}0 \rangle$ 250 - 4502.8 17.0 ± 5.8 (110) $\langle 001 \rangle$ 250-450 7.3 19.6 ± 6.9 2.4×10^{-4} $(001)^{a}$ (110) 300 - 450 9.7 ± 2.3 $(001)^{a}$ $\langle 1\overline{1}0 \rangle$ 300-450 5.8×10^{-4} 10.4 ± 2.8 $(111)^{a}$ $\langle 112 \rangle$ 250-450 2.3×10^{-2} 14.3 ± 4.1 $(111)^{a}$ $\langle 1\overline{1}0\rangle$ 250 - 450 1.6×10^{-2} 12.9 ± 5.1

 TABLE 23.
 Silver surface diffusion coefficients on the (001), (111), and (110) planes and on some vicinal surfaces of copper. Data from Roulet [143].

^a Vicinal surfaces, rotation of 6° about the $\langle 1\overline{1}0\rangle$.

2.22. Electromigration

The influence of an electric field on the lattice and grain boundary diffusion of silver in copper has been reported by Klotsman and co-workers [145-147]. The lattice diffusion investigations [146] measured the effect of a direct current (with a density of 100 to 150 A/mm²) on the migration of radioactive silver-110 in copper of nominal purity (total content of 11 impurities was less than 0.0025%). The silver-110 was vacuumevaporated onto the polycrystalline specimens. Two specimens with their active faces together were diffusion annealed in an apparatus [148] at each temperature (in the range 790 to 1062 °C). Upon completion of the annealing (7 to 19 h), the specimens were separated and sectioned. The residual activity method of counting was employed [149, 150]. The direction of electromigration was found to be towards the anode in all cases. The effective ion charge was also calculated from the data taken but the calculations not only failed to take into account alterations in the Einstein relation necessary when impurity diffusion is involved but also used incorrect values of silver diffusion coefficients and thus are in error. The silver-110 tracer diffusion coefficients listed for the various temperatures are incorrect since the diffusion annealing temperatures were corrected on the basis of their calculated tracer diffusion coefficient values and the temperature dependence for the lattice diffusion of silver in copper reported by Gertsriken and Revo [20], whose results are incorrect. An attempt [147] to correct this determination of the effective charge by taking into account the correlation factor (though the incorrect temperature was still employed in the calculations) yielded results which were stated to be in agreement with Kuzmenko and Ostrovskii [151]. How the correlation factor was taken into account was not discussed in detail. As a consequence, and because of erroneous temperatures, the calculated magnitudes of effective charge are still of questionable value.

The effect of an electric field on the grain boundary diffusion of radioactive silver-110 in copper has also been studied by Klotsman and co-workers [145, 147]. The experimental technique they used was the same as that used in the lattice diffusion investigations discussed above. The temperature range was 430 to 540 °C. Applying Fisher's analysis [83] with some modification [152], a model was arrived at to describe grain boundary diffusion in an electric field. The Nernst-Einstein relation was used again to determine an effective charge of the diffusing silver ion in the grain boundary. In all their experiments, silver diffusion was found to be directed toward the cathode.

2.23. Thermomigration

The thermomigration of silver in copper has been studied by Jaffee and Shewmon [153] and Schroerschwarz and Heitkamp [154], with the results not in agreement with each other. Although both studies employed similar experimental techniques (a steady-state technique which measured the stationary redistribution of radioactive silver-110 in a linear temperature gradient, similar temperatures, etc.) the redistribution of the silver in the temperature gradient was noticeably less in the experiment of Schroerschwarz and Heitkamp (effective heat of transport $Q^{**} \approx 0$ to $-3 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}$) than in that of Jaffee and Shewmon $(Q^{**} \approx -5 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1})$ at about the same temperature ($\simeq 1000$ °C). Different theoretical models were used to analyze the data. Jaffee and Shewmon applied a rather simple analysis whereas Schroerschwarz and Heitkamp made their calculations with the aid of Heitkamp's model [155], corrected for vacancy-impurity association as suggested by Howard and Manning [156] and the electron interaction contribution as estimated by Gerl [157]. Both investigations do agree that the silver-110 tracer concentration increases towards the hot side of the alloy specimen.

2.24. Strain-Enhanced Diffusion

Strain-enhanced diffusion rates of silver in pure copper have also been reported [124, 158, 159]. Shestopalov and Romashkin [124, 158] diffused radioactive silver-110 into deforming (compression) copper. Their initial results published in [158] were partially in error (see also comments by Ruoff and Balluffi [160]) and so they redid their experiments [124]. Enhanced silver diffusion in coarse-grained copper was found over a range of strains. the amount of enhancement increasing with an increase in strain rate at constant strain, reaching an enhancement factor of 4 at $\epsilon = 200\%$ /h. All the experiments were performed at one temperature (600 °C). Romashkin and Shestopalov claim that their results indicate that plastic deformation causes an acceleration in silver lattice diffusion with increasing distance from the surface of the specimens. They also conclude that their experimental data agree with the phenomenological model of Balluffi and Ruoff [161] as well as the kinetics described in [162, 163].

Fatigue tests conducted on oxygen-free high-conductivity copper specimens (polycrystalline) possessing a surface-alloyed layer of silver have detected enhanced silver diffusion rates [159]. The silver concentration varied from approximately 4 percent at the surface to zero at a depth of 90 μ m in the copper specimens. Fatigue tests were performed at room temperature. After failure of the specimens, the radial distribution of the silver was measured by means of electron-probe microanalysis. Comparison was made with specimens prepared under identical conditions, but not fatiguetested. Differences in silver concentration and penetration revealed that the silver diffusion rate during fatigue was significantly increased. The authors computed that the amount of silver diffusion which took place was equivalent to that which would have occurred had the specimen been diffusion-annealed at 300 °C for 60 hours (the duration of the fatigue test). It was also postulated that the long-range diffusion phenomena found in the fatigue specimens were apparently due to an abnormally high vacancy concentration being produced during fatigue.

2.25. Molten Metals

The tracer diffusion coefficients of silver-110 in molten copper at infinitely high dilution have been studied [164] within the temperature range 1143 to 1290 °C using the capillary-reservoir technique. The temperature dependence of the silver tracer diffusion coefficient can be represented by the expression:

 $D^*_{Ag \to Cu} = (1.93 \pm 0.31) \times 10^{-3}$ exp (-11,210 ± 440 cal · mol⁻¹/RT) cm²/s.

The same authors [164] also showed the concentration dependence of the silver tracer diffusion coefficients on the silver concentration. In the temperature range of 1150 to 1311 °C and for N_{Ag} =0.146, the results can be represented by:

$$D^*_{Ag,-Cu-Ag} = (6.63 \pm 1.43) \times 10^{-4}$$

exp (-8.950 \pm 590 cal \cdot mol^{-1}/RT) cm²/s.

3. Copper-Gold

3.1. Au → Cu

The rate of diffusion of gold (from thin layers) into pure copper (massive specimens) has been reported a number of times [165–173]. Although most of the experiments appear to have been carefully performed, there is disagreement among the results (see figures 31 and 32).

Conventional radioactive tracer and sectioning techniques were employed by Martin and co-workers [165, 166] and Tomizuka [167] in their investigations. Tomizuka restricted his experiments to relatively high temperatures (700 to 1030 °C) and single crystal copper specimens and found that he could express his results (see figure 31) most aptly with the following Arrhenius expression:

$$D_{Au}^* = 0.69 \exp(-49.7 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s}.$$

In a later private communication [168], Tomizuka put the following limits on the pre-exponential factor and the activation energy,

$$D_0 = 0.69 \pm 0.07 \text{ cm}^2/\text{s},$$

 $Q = 49.7 \pm 0.5 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}.$

These values appear to be quite reliable in spite of the lack of reported experimental detail. This data is shown extrapolated to relatively low temperatures in figure 32.

Martin and co-workers made their measurements over a much broader temperature range, 375 to 1000 °C. In view of the apparently large grain-boundary diffusion contributions occurring at the lower temperatures, only the gold-198 tracer diffusion coefficients in the temperature range from 750 to 1000 °C were fitted to the Arrhenius law by the least squares method in order to determine the frequency factor, D_0 , and the activation energy, Q, for the lattice diffusion. The tracer diffusion coefficients, determined by the method of Johnson [174], are compared with others in figure 31. The resulting Arrhenius expression (and probable errors calculated by the least squares method) is given as

$$D_{Au}^* = (0.10 \pm 0.06) \exp(-44.9 \pm 1.3)$$

kcal·mol⁻¹/*RT*) cm²/s.

Because of the short half-life ot the radioactive gold-198. the usual techniques could not be employed in their long-time diffusion anneals (550 to 375 °C). Hence, a thin layer of non-active stable gold was diffused into the copper, after which the specimens were neutronirradiated in a cooled test hole of a reactor and then sectioned in the manner of their other specimens. The resulting values of the calculated coefficients ($D_{Au} \cong$ 2×10^{-12} cm²/s at 550 °C and $D_{Au} \cong 2 \times 10^{-13}$ cm²/s at 375 °C) are appreciably higher than what would be given by the Arrhenius expression quoted above.

Neutron-activation analysis was employed by Archbold and King [171, 172] and Chatterjee and Fabian [173] in determining the lattice diffusion rates of gold impurities in pure copper. These results also are plotted in figure 31. Archbold and King made their measurements on polycrystalline copper (following the experimental procedure of Kirkaldy and co-workers [175, 176]) in the temperature range 700 to 1000 °C. The gold impurity diffusion coefficients calculated from their data exhibited a great deal of non-linearity. The coefficients were fitted to the Arrhenius equation by the



FIGURE 31. Impurity and tracer diffusion coefficients of gold in pure copper in the temperature range 1070 to 500 °C.

Data taken from the research of Archbold and King [171, 172], Chatterjee and Fabian [173], Martin et al. [165, 166], Greenfield and Tweer [178], and Tomizuka [168], Tomizuka reported only the Arrhenius equation and here his data is displayed as a line.



FIGURE 32. Impurity and tracer diffusion coefficients of gold in pure copper (at low temperatures, 500 to 350 °C) as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

Data excerpted from the results of Sippel [169], and Kawasaki and Sakai [170]. The dotted line is an extrapolation of Tomizuka's high-temperature tracer results [168]. The low-temperature results of Martin et al. [165, 166] at 375 °C are not shown as these results were far removed from the other data.

least squares method and the resulting expression (and probable errors) is as follows:

$$D_{Au \to Cu}^{\text{impurity}} = (0.15 \pm 0.07) \text{ exp } (-45,700 \\ \pm 1400 \text{ cal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s}.$$

Chatterjee and Fabian made their study over a much broader temperature range, 400-1050 °C, using both single-crystal and polycrystalline copper specimens. Their procedures [177] for specimen preparation and neutron activation involved the plating of layers of gold of approximately 100 Å thickness, diffusion-annealing, sectioning, and irradiation. Their measurements (and the errors estimated from the scatter of the coefficient values) for the lattice diffusion of gold in copper were summarized in the expression:

$$D_{Au \to Cu}^{\text{impurity}} = (0.03 \pm 0.002) \text{ exp } (-42.6 \pm 1.0 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^{2}/\text{s}$$

Below 750 °C, significant grain-boundary diffusion contributions to the process were found in polycrystalline copper specimens, and non-linear penetration profiles, resulting in the determination of only "apparent values" of the diffusion coefficient which showed considerable scatter.

Greenfield and Tweer [178] arrived at lattice diffusion constants of gold in copper from the determination of compositional profiles near grain boundaries. Gold (from a thin deposit) was diffused into copper grain boundaries and an electron diffraction technique was employed to obtain the gradients in the vicinity (five microns) of the boundaries. The results (see figure 31) yield a rather low activation energy ($\sim 30 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}$) when compared with some of the more traditional methods of investigation.

In addition to the conventional tracer-sectioning techniques and the neutron-activation method, a third technique, that of elastic scattering of protons and deuterons, has been employed in the making of gold diffusion measurements in copper. Sippel [169] used a broadrange magnetic spectrograph [179] to study the impurity diffusion of gold into copper in the temperature range 360-500 °C. Comparison of the proton (and deuteron) spectra with convoluted solutions of the diffusion equation vielded the gold impurity diffusion coefficients listed in table 24. An Arrhenius plot of the data is shown in figure 32, where a straight line is fitted to the individual data points with a root mean square deviation of 12.6 percent. The absolute accuracy of the data points is estimated by the author to be better than ± 20 percent. The resulting expression used to describe the straight line and the gold diffusion rate is:

$$D_{Au \to Cu}^{\text{impurity}} = (0.104 \pm 0.06) \exp(-45,750)$$

 \pm 750 cal·mol⁻¹/RT) cm²/s.

 TABLE 24.
 Gold impurity diffusion coefficients in copper (after Sippel [169])

<i>T</i> (°C)	Time(s)	<i>D</i> (cm²/s)
503	3.60×10^{2}	$1.2 imes 10^{-14}$
457	7.20×10^{2}	1.8×10^{-15}
457	$7.20 imes 10^{2}$	$2.2 imes 10^{-15}$
432	2.25×10^{9}	$7.0 imes 10^{-16}$
389	$7.20 imes 10^{4}$	9.0×10 ⁻¹⁷
362	3.46×10^{5}	$1.5 imes 10^{-17}$
352	$1.78 imes 10^{6}$	1.1×10-17
	·	

Kawasaki and Sakai [170] simplified the above experimental apparatus used by Sippel [169] (by building a silicon semiconductor radiation detector for elastically scattered deuterons) and redid the above gold impurity diffusion experiments in the temperature range 356-440 °C. Their apparatus allowed them to examine diffusion lengths (= \sqrt{Dt}) as small as 2×10^{-7} cm in their high purity, polycrystalline, copper specimens. The electroplated gold layers (~ 0.01 μ) were diffused into the copper specimens at temperatures of 355. 409, and 440 °C, for 100 minutes. The calculated gold diffusion coefficients are listed in table 25 and plotted in figure 32 as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature. As can be seen, the results indicate a somewhat larger rate of gold diffusion than the results of Sippel, who used the same technique (although the activation energies are nearly the same). Tomizuka's reliable high temperature tracer data [168] are extrapolated to these relatively low temperatures for comparison. In view of the disagreement in the low temperature results of Sippel [169], Kawasaki and Sakai [170], and Martin et al. [165], one would be more justified in selecting values of the gold tracer diffusion coefficient from the extrapolation of Tomizuka's data.

Choi and Shewmon [180], as a check on the validity of their experimental procedures used to measure surface diffusion coefficients in the copper-gold system, made four measurements of the lattice diffusion coefficient of radioactive gold-198 at 950 °C. The averaged value of the gold tracer diffusion coefficient was $1.1 \times$ 10^{-9} cm²/s, in general agreement with the more reliable of the above-mentioned tracer studies.

 TABLE 25.
 Gold impurity diffusion coefficients in copper (after Kawasaki and Sakai [170])

<i>T</i> (°C)	D (cm²/s)
440	$(1.3 + 1.4) \times 10^{-15}$
409	$(3.3 - 4.3) \times 10^{-18}$
356	$(0.91 - 2.41) \times 10^{-17}$

3.2. Cu → Au

Vignes and co-workers [181–183] used an electronmicroprobe analyzer to measure the impurity diffusion coefficient of copper into gold between 700 and 906 °C. In their technique, a very thin layer of copper (<2 μ) was vaporized onto the surfaces of polycrystalline gold specimens and then diffusion-annealed. Copper concentration-penetration profiles were determined and impurity diffusion coefficients calculated (see table 26). When the coefficients are plotted as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature, a straight line can be fitted to the data points by the method of least squares (see figure 33). The values of the frequency factor and the activation energy are taken from the plot to give the following Arrhenius equation for the copper diffusion rate in gold.

$$D_{\text{Cu} \rightarrow \text{Au}}^{\text{impurity}} = 0.105 \text{ exp } (-40,650 \text{ cal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^{2}/\text{s}.$$

Since the experimental technique employed depends on the precise determination of copper in very low concentration, it would be interesting to see if the above

TABLE 26. Copper impurity diffusion coefficients in gold [182]

<i>T</i> (°C)	D (cm²/s)
906	3.49×10-9
852	1.36×10^{-9}
823	1.01×10-"
780	$4.21 imes 10^{-10}$
770	$3.95 imes 10^{-10}$
739	$1.97 imes 10^{-10}$
700	8.74×10-11

results can be reproduced in other investigations with electron microprobes.

Leidheiser [184] attempted to measure a copper diffusion coefficient into single crystals of gold at 100 $^{\circ}$ C. A constant copper concentration source at the gold surface was created by polarizing a gold electrode to the corrosion potential of copper in a boiling solution of



FIGURE 33. Copper impurity diffusion coefficients in gold as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

Data taken from Vignes and co-workers [181-183].

2 M hydrochloric acid containing dissolved copper (the concentration of the copper ion was 10^{-2} M). He was not able to detect (gravimetrically) any copper penetration.

3.3. $Au^* \rightarrow Cu_3Au$

The tracer diffusion coefficient of gold-195 in the disordered alloy Cu_3Au has been measured in the temperature range 900 to 500 °C by Benci et al. [185] and by Alexander [186]. Although the details of the latter's experiments are not known, the results are self-consistent, as indicated by the small amount of scatter for this data around the line shown in figure 34. Benci and co-workers relied on the self-absorption method of Zhukhovitsky and Geodakyan [187]. The gold tracer diffusion coefficients calculated from the data are listed in table 27. The temperature dependence of the

TABLE 27. Gold-195 tracer diffusion coefficients in Cu₃Au [185]

<i>T</i> (°C)	D^* (cm ² /s)
900	6.31 × 10 ⁻¹⁰
850	2.06×10^{-10}
800	8.16×10 ⁻¹¹
750	3.91×10^{-11}
700	1.30×10-11
650	5.72×10^{-12}
600	1.68×10^{-12}
550	4.97×10 ⁻¹³
	

coefficients is illustrated in figure 34. A least squares adjustment of the data yielded the following Arrhenius equation,

$$D_{\rm Au}^* = (6.5 \pm 0.9) \times 10^{-3} \exp(-1.66 \pm 0.04 \text{ eV}/kT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s}.$$



FIGURE 34. The tracer diffusion coefficient of Au-195 in the disordered alloy Cu₃Au as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature. Data taken from Benci and co-workers [185] and Alexander [186].

Independent of the given errors is an additional uncertainty of ± 10 percent in the value of the preexponential factor, D_0 , due to the choice of the geometry selected for the activity measurements as well as the value chosen for the absorption coefficient in Cu₃Au. The activation energy is in agreement with the results described in [189] for the energy of formation and migration of vacancies in this alloy.

Million and Kučera [190, 191] have taken the data of Benci and Gasparrini [192] and arrived at a temperature dependence for gold self-diffusion in an *ordered* Cu₃Au alloy expressed by the following Arrhenius equation:

$$D = 3.15 \exp(-46,400 \text{ cal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s}.$$

The details of how the above expression was obtained are described in the previously mentioned papers [190, 191]:

An anelastic effect has been measured by Goering and Norwick [193] from internal friction experiments. The effect has an activation energy of the order of 1.9 eV and it increased by an order of 0.08 eV on going from the disordered state to the ordered state.

There have been a number of papers dealing with the ordering kinetics of Cu_3Au alloys [189, 194–215]. The experiments have concerned themselves with the measuring of properties such as electrical resistivity, etc., all aimed at the calculation of the "self-diffusion energy," activation energy for vacancy migration, etc. Unfortunately, the complex mathematical procedures needed to sort out the many effects (and thus allow the actual calculation of self-diffusion coefficients for the alloying constituents) have yet to be satisfactorily worked out.

3.4. Ordering in Cu-Au

Similar studies such as those mentioned above regarding the alloy Cu_3Au have also been done for CuAuwith the kinetics of ordering being studied [208, 216– 223] and the characterization of the process by an activation energy [216, 223] which is then compared to activation energies obtained from diffusion experiments (usually the diffusion of copper in gold). Various attempts [208, 209] have been made to describe the diffusion processes occurring in this ordered alloy.

3.5. Cu-Au Interdiffusion

Interdiffusion studies in binary copper-gold alloys have been plentiful even before the year 1940 [221, 224-232]. Bruni and Meneghini [224, 226] published data on the formation of copper-gold solid solutions but did not calculate interdiffusion coefficients. Thompson and Dearden [225] measured the width of the interdiffusion zone (formed at 650 °C after a diffusion anneal of 70 hours) between copper and gold. Jost [227] measured the rate of interdiffusion occurring between gold-plated copper wires in the temperature range 301–616 $^{\circ}$ C and found his results could be summarized by the following relation:

$$D = 1.06 \times 10^{-3} \exp((-27.4 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s}.$$

In similarly designed experiments, Jost [228] also measured the rate of interdiffusion occurring between a gold-copper (25.6 at. %) alloy and pure gold in the temperature range 443-740 °C, and found that his results could be best described by the exponential relation

$$D = 5.8 \times 10^{-4} \exp(-27.4 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^{2}/\text{s}.$$

Tanaka and Matano [232, 233] measured rates of interdiffusion in the copper-gold system using X-ray techniques and electrical resistances. Often referred to are Matano's [229] measurements of the rate of interdiffusion between pure copper and copper-gold alloys in the temperature interval 400–950 °C. (Although Matano reports his alloys as containing approximately 10 at. % gold. Jost in his book [234] notes that Matano's alloys contained 2.4 to 3.5 at. % gold). Matano's results can be summarized in the exponential expression

$$D = 6.8 \times 10^{-6} \exp(-22.5 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s}.$$

DuMond and Youtz [231] reported interdiffusion occurring at a rate of 5×10^{-20} cm²/s at room temperature between thin copper and gold vapor deposits.

Mooradian and Norton [230] examined the interdiffusion occurring in the temperature range 150-500 °C between alternate electrodeposits of copper and gold but did not calculate any interdiffusion coefficients.

In more recent years, the interest in interdiffusion in this binary system has continued [235-251]. Where interdiffusion coefficients were measured as a function of composition, they are summarized in figure 35 for temperatures > 500 °C. Most of these high temperature results were obtained by interdiffusing pure gold and pure copper (except for an occasional differential couple). Ziebold and Ogilvie's results [237] were taken from broader, ternary interdiffusion investigations at 725 °C (discussed in detail in the section devoted to copper-silver alloys). The experimental details of Batz and Birchenall's study [236] are unknown, their results only being mentioned in a survey paper of Birchenall [252]. Austin and co-workers [243, 244], while studying the grain boundary diffusion of gold in copper, also measured gold penetration remote from the grain boundary using Matano's [253] and Hall's [254] analyses, and were able to calculate chemical interdiffusion coefficients [see table 28] for the temperature 750 °C. These same coefficients are compared in figure 35 to other high temperature interdiffusion data. Gold interdiffusion coefficients were also calculated at 760, 706, 660, and 625 °C from Gaussian penetration plots obtained from thin source couples. These results are listed in table 29.

 TABLE 28.
 Interdiffusion coefficients in copper-gold alloys at 750 °C (after Austin et al. [243])

Au Concentration (at. %)	$\tilde{D}(\mathrm{cm}^2/\mathrm{s})$
0.5	3.9×10-11
1.0	4.5×10-11
2.0	5.4×10-11
5.0	7.5×10-11
10.0	1.0×10 ¹⁰
15.0	1.3×10 ⁻¹⁰
20.0	3.0×10^{-10}
30.0	6.0×10 ⁻¹⁰
40.0	1.0×10-9
60.0	1.3×10-9
80.0	1.5×10^{-9}
90.0	1.6×10^{-9}

 TABLE 29.
 Gold interdiffusion coefficients in copper (after Austin et al. [244])

<i>T</i> (°C)	$\tilde{D}(\mathrm{cm}^2/\mathrm{s})$
760	3.4×10 ⁻¹¹
706	8.3×10 ⁻¹²
660	2.0×10^{-12}
625	$6.0 imes 10^{-13}$

Badia [238], Badia and Vignes [239], Pinnel and Bennett [240], and Borovskii and co-workers [245, 246] made somewhat more detailed studies than the previously mentioned investigators. Badia, using massive polycrystalline specimens, interdiffused his couples at temperatures of 773, 743, 770, and 857 °C.



FIGURE 35. Interdiffusion coefficients in the copper-gold system as a function of composition at temperatures ranging from 600 to 860 $^\circ$ C.



Au concentration	$\tilde{D}(10^{-10} \text{ cm}^2/\text{s})$			
(at. %)	733 °C 743 °C		770 °C	857 °C
10	0.43	0.65	1.25	6.0
20	0.8	1.4	2.5	12.0
30	1.55	2.4	4.5	20.0
40	2.4	3.5	7.1	30.0
50	2.9	4.4	9.0	36.0
60	3.3	4.6	9.8	38.0
70	3.3	4.5	9.1	36.0
80	2.7	3.9	-7.5	30.0
90	2.0	3.1	5.7	21.0

 TABLE 30.
 Interdiffusion coefficients in copper-gold alloys. (after Badia [238])

Concentration-penetration curves were determined with an electron-microprobe analyzer. Interdiffusion coefficients were calculated with the aid of the Matano [253] or Hall [254] analysis (see table 30) and are plotted in figure 35 as a function of composition and as

a function of reciprocal absolute temperature in figure 36. Borovskii and co-workers [245, 246], also using massive polycrystalline specimens of copper and gold, interdiffused them at 780, 720, 594, 498, 383, and 370 °C for up to 1,788 hours. Electron-microprobe analysis was used to obtain the concentration-penetration curves. Chemical interdiffusion coefficients (see table 31) were calculated with the assistance of the Matano analysis and are plotted in figures 35, 39, and 40 as a function of composition. The temperature dependence of the interdiffusion coefficient was also determined and activation energies calculated (see figure 37). Germane to the experiments of Borovskii et al. was the effect on interdiffusion of the orderdisorder transition occurring in 50 atomic percent copper-50 atomic percent gold alloys at 410 °C. The temperature-dependence of the interdiffusion coefficient at the 50-50 atomic percent compositions is shown in figure 38. The results indicate that a higher activation energy is required for interdiffusion in the ordered state.



FIGURE 36. Interdiffusion coefficient as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature in the copper-gold alloy system.

Data taken from Badia (238).

		1.1727					
Au concen- tration (at.%)	$\widetilde{D}(10^{-11}~{ m cm}^2/{ m s})$ °						
	370 °C	383 °C	498 °C	594 °C	720 °C	786 °C	
5	0.003	0.004	0.076	0.68		7	
10	.004	.006	.084	.7	5.0	11	
20	.009	.012	.14	1.1	7.4	22	
30		.08	.19	1.9	9.0	35	
40	1		.27	2.6	14	43	
50		.08	.31	2.9	16	43	
60	.008	.015	.28	2.4	12	40	
· 70	.007	.013	.28	1.9	7.5	35	
. 80	.008	.013	.25	1.4	5.3	21	
90	.01	.012	.19	1.0	4.1	12	
95	.009	.01	.12	0.8		8	

Unfortunately, because of the very narrow temperature

range over which data was taken (370-383 °C), as

well as the scatter in the few data points taken, no

activation energy could be calculated for the inter-

diffusion process in the ordered state. Pinnell and

Bennett [240] conducted their interdiffusion experiments with polycrystalline copper/electroplated gold

(nominal plating thickness varied from 2.5 to 100

microns) specimens. Interdiffusion temperatures ranged

from 750 down to 50 °C. Concentration-penetration

profiles were obtained from electron-probe micro-

analysis. Interdiffusion coefficients were calculated

with the aid of the Matano solution [253] and are plotted as a function of composition in figures 39 and 40. Their

low temperature results (≤ 500 °C) appear to be complicated by ordering, recrystallization of the gold

electroplate and grain boundary diffusion contributions.

^a Author's quoted errors range from $\pm 6\%$ to $\pm 50\%$.

 TABLE 31.
 Interdiffusion coefficients in copper-gold alloys (after Borovskii et al. [246])

 TABLE 32.
 Interdiffusion coefficients and parameters in ordered and disordered AuCu [248]

AuCu State	<i>T</i> (°C)	$D(\mathrm{cm}^2/\mathrm{s})$	$D_0(\mathrm{cm}^2/\mathrm{s})$	$Q(ext{kcal} \cdot ext{mol}^{-1})$
Disordered	700 625 550	$\begin{array}{c} 1.94 \times 10^{-9} \\ 1.01 \times 10^{-9} \\ 5.35 \times 10^{-10} \end{array}$	2.36×10−6	13.63
Ordered	350 325 300	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	7.94 × 10 ⁻⁸	10.72

Khobaib and Gupta [248] electroplated copper onto a 50 atomic percent copper-50 atomic percent gold alloy and allowed chemical interdiffusion to occur at 300, 325, 350, 550, 625, and 700 °C, after which the couples were sectioned and the copper concentration determined by a colorimetric method. Chemical interdiffusion coefficients for both the ordered and disordered state were calculated using the Boltzmann-Matano analysis (see table 32). On a log D versus 1/T plot, this data fit well on two roughly parallel straight lines, with the line from couples having an ordered gold-copper alloy predicting diffusion values almost an order of magnitude lower than the line determined from couples having a disordered gold-copper alloy. The resulting Arrhenius expressions are for the disordered state:

 $\tilde{D} = 2.36 \times 10^{-6} \exp((-13.63 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s},$

and for the ordered state:

 $\tilde{D} = 7.94 \times 10^{-8} \exp(-10.72 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s}.$



FIGURE 37. Activation energy for interdiffusion in the copper-gold alloy system as a function of gold concentration as determined by Borovskii and co-workers [246].

For concentrations corresponding to Cu_3Au (~30 at.% Au) and CuAu (~50 at.% Au), the activation energy was determined in the temperature interval 498-786 °C, that is, above the order-disorder transition temperature.





The effect of the order-disorder transition (410 °C) results in a change in the activation energy for interdiffusion. The data shown are that of Borovskii and co-workers [246].



FIGURE 39. Values of the interdiffusion coefficient in the copper-gold allov system as a function of gold concentration. Data taken from Borovskii et al. [246], and Pinnel and Bennett [240].

The activation energies and pre-exponentials obtained by Khobaib and Gupta are unusually low for diffusion in metals and until confirmed by additional experiments should be deemed suspect.

The results of Carpenter and Houska [241] are not displayed as they were only reporting preliminary experimental results utilizing a normal X-ray diffraction technique to study interdiffusion of planar deposits of gold on single crystals of copper. Tenny [242] also used an X-ray diffraction technique to study interdiffusion (750 °C) of thin planar deposits of gold on a copper substrate. No coefficients were calculated although copper was found to diffuse much more rapidly into gold than gold into copper. Also not plotted are the results of da Silva and Mehl [235] who only reported interface and marker motion in their diffusion couples. At 839 °C, after diffusion anneals of 24.5 and 92 hours, they found the copper-gold interface shifting 0.0007

J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data, Vol. 3, No. 2, 1974

and 0.0020 cm, respectively, toward the gold side of their couple.

The results from these chemical interdiffusion experiments lack good agreement. Why this should be is not readily determined since most of the experiments appear to have been good experiments. Badia [238] though seems to have been most careful in his technique.

In contrast to the above interdiffusion investigations utilizing massive specimens, are the studies performed with thin bimetal films of copper and gold [250, 251, 255-257]. These experiments generally involve equipment and techniques uncharacteristic of the usual bulk interdiffusion study because of the total sample thickness involved (usually several thousand angstroms). Pines and co-workers have used electron-diffraction techniques [260-263] to measure concentration changes occurring during interdiffusion between thin films (~ 10⁻⁶ cm) of copper and gold [250]. They annealed





Data taken from the excerpts of Borovskii et al. [246], and Pinnel and Bennett [240].

thin bimetal films (formed through evaporation and condensation) of copper and gold and observed the kinetics of formation of an ordered copper-gold solution. From this they determined an average interdiffusion coefficient. The diffusion annealing was carried out in an electron-diffraction camera at 150 to 300 °C. The resultant values of this average interdiffusion coefficient, near the 50–50 atomic percent compositions, are plotted in figure 41 as a function of the reciprocal absolute

temperature. The equation of the straight line on this figure describing the interdiffusion process is

$$\tilde{D} = 4 \times 10^{-3} \exp(-26 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s}.$$

Unfortunately, this expression represents a line that in all cases falls below his experimental points. What mathematical analysis employed was not reported. Alessandrini and Kuptsis [251] used electron-micro-



FIGURE 41. Values of an average interdiffusion coefficient (determined near the 50-50 at.% composition) as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature. Data obtained by Pines et al. [250] using thin films of copper and gold.

probe spectroscopy as the analytical tool in detecting the amount of interdiffusion occurring between thin films of copper and gold. Their thin films were produced by evaporating copper (1500 Å) on top of 100 Å of gold. After the diffusion anneals (which took place in the temperature range 150 to 350 °C), the amount of gold interdiffusion was determined from the enhancement of the characteristic Au $M\alpha$ radiation intensity and by the decrease of the minimum beam voltage necessary to just detect the Au $M\alpha$ signal. The effect of diffusion annealing time and temperature on voltages was observed. From this data activation energies on the order of 0.8 ± 0.2 eV were calculated.

The activation energies determined from the thin film studies of Pines and co-workers and Alessandrini and Kuptsis are somewhat lower than those found in diffusion couples formed from bulk specimens. This is understandable in view of the fact that the studies were performed at low temperatures in thin films, which may or may not be under a high state of stress, and which contain dislocations and very small grains. What is being measured is not pure lattice interdiffusion, but the influence of stress and significant contributions from high diffusivity paths.

Horl and Rieder [257] used electron microscopy to follow the interdiffusion of copper and gold. The tech-

DIFFUSION IN COPPER AND COPPER ALLOYS



FIGURE 42. "Average atomic diffusion coefficient" as determined from neck width measurements of sintered alloy (50 at.% Au-50 at.% Cu) wires by Tournon and Kuczynski [264].

nique [258] allowed for the continuous observation of the growth of intermetallic phases during the diffusion anneals.

Tu and Berry [256] followed the interdiffusion behavior of pure copper and gold over the temperature range 220 to 160 °C. They used an X-ray method (Seeman-Bohlin diffractometer [259]) to study the kinetics of interdiffusion (and the formation and growth of intermediate phases) in their bimetallic films. A layered structure of Cu | Cu₃Au | CuAu₃ | Au was observed to form in the interdiffusion zone, with the ordered phase CuAu conspicuously absent. The reasons for these curious results are speculated on by the authors.

In sintering copper-gold alloys, Duwez and Jordan [249], observed a pseudoequilibrium between copper

and the gold-copper ordered phase in sintered powdered compacts containing 75 atomic percent copper and 25 atomic percent gold although the same powder compacts yielded homogeneous AuCu₃ alloy at temperatures above 450 °C. Tournon and Kuczynski [264] sintered alloy wires of 50 atomic percent gold – 50 atomic percent copper at temperatures ranging from 350 to 750 °C for time intervals from 4 hours to 20 days. After heating, the specimens were sectioned and examined metallographically. The width of the neck formed by the sintered wires was measured and a diffusion coefficient calculated [265]. This "average atom diffusion coefficient" is plotted as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature in figure 42. The effect of ordering in the gold-copper alloy is apparent. In the disordered region, the data can be summarized by the following Arrhenius expression:

$$D_{\text{avg.}} = 2 \times 10^{-4} \exp(-39,000 \text{ cal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s.}$$

The authors speculate that the reason for the high values of the coefficients at 375 and 350 °C are probably due to the lack of equilibrium, ordering still taking place during sintering. In the disordered region, the values of the "diffusion coefficients" are near those of the copper self-diffusion at these temperatures.

3.6. Cu-Au-Ag

The investigations relating to this ternary system are discussed in a previous section on copper-silver-gold alloys.

TABLE 33. Cobalt-57 tracer diffusion coefficients in Cu₃Au [266]

<i>T</i> (°C)"	$D^*(m cm^2/s)$
900	1.08×10 ⁻¹⁰
850	4.77×10-11
800	1.78×10-11
750	6.62×10 ⁻¹²
700	1.83×10^{-12}
650	5.40×10~13

^a Temperatures measured to ± 2 °C.

3.7. Cu-Au-Co

The diffusion of radioactive cobalt-57 into a Cu₃Au alloy has been studied [266]. The diffusion coefficients were determined over the temperature range of 650 to 900 °C. A thin layer (~ 100 atomic layers) of cobalt-57



FIGURE 43. Cobalt-57 tracer diffusion coefficients in a ${\rm Cu}_3{\rm Au}$ alloy as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

Data taken from Benci et al. [266].

was electrodeposited on large-grained polycrystalline alloy specimens (the alloys were made of components of an unspecified purity). After the diffusion anneals, the cobalt-57 concentration gradient was determined through the use of a "self-absorption" method [185-189]. The calculated tracer diffusion coefficients are listed in table 33. A plot of the temperature dependence of these data is shown in figure 43. A least squares analysis of the data over the considered temperature range can be described by the following Arrhenius equation:

$$D^*_{C_0 \to Cu_3Au} = (4.2 \pm 0.5) \times 10^{-2} \exp \left[-(2.00 \pm 0.04) \text{ eV atom}^{-1}/kT\right] \text{ cm}^2/\text{s}.$$

In addition to the given error in the value of the preexponential factor, D_0 , there is a source of further uncertainty of ± 10 percent to be considered. This additional uncertainty in the value of D_0 arises because of the pre-exponential factor's dependence on the geometry adopted for the activity measurements, as well as the choice of the absorption coefficient used in the calculations.

3.8. Cu-Au-Fe

Creydt [267] and Creydt and Fichter [268] electroeposited thin layers (10-20 μ m) of copper and gold into an iron substrate and interdiffused them in the emperature range 23 to 212 °C for as long as 11,500 hours only to find that although there was much interdiffusion occurring between the copper and gold deposits, there was no detectable interdiffusion across the iron-gold interface.

3.9. Cu-Au-H

Gol'tsov and co-workers [269] measured hydrogen diffusion coefficients, permeability, and solubility in the alloy Cu₃Au as well as the effect of isothermal ordering (at 350 °C) on these quantities. The data were taken via the conventional experimental techniques [270] used in permeability studies, where a thin membrane of the alloy (while being heated) was subjected to a differential hydrogen pressure. Alloy specimens were annealed at 700 °C and then step-cooled (at a mean rate of 5 °/h). The influence of ordering was determined by making measurements in the temperature range 350 to 280 °C. The calculated hydrogen diffusion coefficients are plotted in figure 44 as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature. Where possible, straight lines were fitted to the data and pre-exponential factors (D_0) and activation energies (Q) calculated for the hydrogen diffusion process (see table 34). The data for the hydrogen permeability are also plotted as a function of the reciprocal absolute temperature (figure 45), revealing different exponential temperature dependencies. The pre-exponential factors (P_0) and activation energies (Q) calculated for the permeation process are listed in table 34. Near the critical temperature (~ 400 °C), abrupt changes occur in the hydrogen diffusion and permeability rates. The influence of order-



FIGURE 44. The diffusion of hydrogen through a thin alloy membrane of Cu₃Au alloy as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

The influence of ordering is apparent. All data taken from the permeability experiments of Gol'tsov and co-workers [269].

Cu ₃ Au [209]				
T (9C)	Diffusion parameters		Permeation parameters	
<i>I</i> (°C)	$D_0(\mathrm{cm}^2/\mathrm{s})$	$Q(\text{kcal}\cdot \text{mol}^{-1})$	Poc	Q(kcal·mol-1)
600–430 * 380–275 * 350–280 ^b	$\begin{array}{c} 5.14 \times 10^{-4} \\ 3.16 \times 10^{-4} \\ 5.1 \times 10^{-5} \end{array}$	10.25 9.50 8.50	$\begin{array}{c} 2.42 \times 10^{-1} \\ 1.9 \times 10^{-2} \\ 8.16 \times 10^{-2} \end{array}$	18.6 16.6 19.5

TABLE 34. Hydrogen diffusion and permeation parameters in Cu_3Au [269]

 $^{\rm a}\, \rm Prior$ annealing at 700 °C, then step-cooled at a mean rate of 5 °C/h.

^b Prior isothermal annealing at 350 °C for 25, 40, and 60 hours.

^c Units are cm³ (H₂) \cdot mm \cdot cm⁻²s⁻¹atm^{-1/2}.

ing on both quantities is apparent after prolonged isothermal anneals at 350 °C. A model (which is really an extension of Krivoglaz and Smirov's theory [271]) to describe the anomalous changes in the hydrogen diffusion coefficients at the order disorder transformation has been proposed by the same authors [272-275].

3.10. Cu-Au-Hg

Grain boundary diffusion coefficients of mercury into Cu-Au alloys have been reported [276]. These stresscorrosion studies yielded an indirect method of calculating an approximate diffusion coefficient for largeangle grain boundaries. Values of the grain boundary



FIGURE 45. The permeability of hydrogen through a thin alloy membrane of Cu_3Au as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

586

The influence of ordering on the permeability rate is apparent. All data taken from the permeability experiments of Gol'tsov and co-workers [269].



FIGURE 46. The grain boundary diffusion coefficient for mercury into copper-gold alloys as a function of composition at 120 °C. Data and extrapolations are those of Graf and Klatte [276].

diffusion coefficient at 120 °C calculated from the few experimental points and the author's extrapolations are shown in figure 46.

In view of the way these values were obtained, their use should be with caution.

3.11. Cu-Au-Ni

The influence of small concentrations of gold (0.17 at. %) on the impurity diffusion coefficient of copper in nickel has been measured at 843, 903, and 1000 °C [277]. Thin films of copper were vapor-deposited onto high purity, low dislocation density nickel-gold single crystals. After diffusion, electron-microprobe analysis was used to determine the gold penetration. The copper impurity diffusion coefficients (obtained by using the thin film solution to the appropriate diffusion equations) in the dilute alloy shows very little deviation from the results obtained in pure nickel, except at the lowest temperature 843 °C, where there is a 29 percent increase in the value of the coefficient.

The effect of the mode of preparation of diffusion specimens on radioactive gold diffusion rates in copper-

nickel alloys has been reported [278]. The results indicate that although a controlled metal distillation method was more practicable, no advantage over electrodeposition techniques could be found in this alloy system. No gold tracer diffusion coefficients were reported.

3.12. Cu-Au-O

The rate of oxygen diffusion in molten binary coppergold alloys at 1205 ± 5 °C has been measured by El-Naggar and Parlee [279]. They found that the rate of absorption of oxygen gas by the alloys (containing up to 6 at. % gold) was controlled by diffusion in the liquid phase, thus the rate measurements could be used to calculate oxygen diffusivities in the molten alloy. The 5 atomic percent alloying addition was found to increase the oxygen diffusivity by a factor of 2 compared to pure copper at the same temperature.

3.13. Cu-Au-S

Abbott [280] has studied the mechanism of tarnishing of gold-copper alloys (containing 30, 50, and 70 at. %

gold) while exposed to sulfur and sulfur containing environments at low temperatures (~ 30 °C). The formation of the tarnish film on the alloys was found to be controlled either by diffusion in the surface film or diffusion in the near surface region of the copper-gold alloy.

3.14. Cu-Au-Sn

Interdiffusion between thin films of gold $(10-20 \ \mu m)$ and tin $(200 \ \mu m)$ electrodeposited on a copper substrate in the temperature range 23 to 212 °C has been described [267, 268]. An electronprobe microanalyzer was employed to measure concentration-penetration profiles after interdiffusion anneals ranging up to 11,500 hours. A wide variety of phases (AuSn₂, AuSn₄, Cu₃Au₃Sn₅, Cu₄Au₂Sn₅, Cu₅AuSn₅, and Cu₃Sn) were found in the interdiffusion zone. Interdiffusion coefficients were calculated only for the AuSn₂ and AuSn₄ phases.

3.15. Cu-Au-Zn

The rate of diffusion of zinc in a copper-zinc (6.5 at. %)-gold (2 at. %) alloy has been studied in the temperature range 870-1020 K by Gertsriken et al. [281].



FIGURE 47. The apparent self-diffusion coefficient of zinc in a copper-zinc (6.5 at.%) = gold (2 at.%) alloy as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

The effect of a gold alloying addition to the binary alloy increases the zinc mobility. Data taken from the zinc evaporization experiments of Gertsriken and Dekhtyar [281].

The zinc diffusion rate was measured by evaporating the zinc from polycrystalline alloy foil (2 to 30 μ m thick) specimens at a constant temperature in a vacuum, and following the weight change on a micro-balance. The weight loss was then related to a diffusion coefficient of the volatile component in the solid phase [282]. The "self-diffusion coefficients" calculated in this manner are plotted in figure 47 as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature, as well as the results from experiments performed concurrently where the specimens contained no gold content. The effect of the gold alloying additions was to increase the zinc mobility. The effects of using thin foils in these experiments (and how such were corrected for) were not discussed by the authors although they may have played important roles in the evaporation processes being measured.

3.16. Cu-Au-X

Thin electrodeposits of gold, silver, tin, and lead have been plated onto copper and brass and then interdiffused at temperatures between 23 and 212 °C [267, 268]. Times of interdiffusion were as long as 11,500 hours. Electron-microprobe analysis revealed the formation of a multitude of phases in the interdiffusion zone. No interdiffusion coefficients were calculated from the data.

Thin electrodeposits of gold, nickel, silver, tin, and copper have been plated onto phosphor-bronze substrates and then annealed at 127, 232, 371, and 538 $^{\circ}$ C [283]. No interdiffusion coefficients were reported.

3.17. Grain Boundary Diffusion

The grain-boundary diffusion of gold in copper has been investigated by Austin and co-workers [243, 244] and Chatterjee and Fabian [173]. Their results do not agree, the latter authors obtaining an activation energy of 20 ± 3 kcal mol⁻¹ and the former a value of 25 kcal mol⁻¹.

TABLE 35. Gold grain boundary diffusion coefficients at 750 °C measured by thick layer diffusion into 45° copper bicrystal [243]

A	$D_{ m gb} \cdot \delta(m cm^{3}/ m s)$		
Au concentration (at .%)	Method 1 ª	Method 2 ^b	
0.2	$2.1 imes 10^{-12}$	1.0×10-12	
0.5	1.8×10^{-12}	1.0×10 ⁻¹²	
1.0	$1.3 imes 10^{-12}$	$1.0 imes 10^{-12}$	
1.5	$1.0 imes 10^{-12}$	1.0×10^{-12}	
2.0	7×10^{-13}	1.0×10-12	
5.0	5×10^{-13}	7×10^{-13}	
10.0	$3.4 imes 10^{-13}$	3.2×10-13	
15.0		2×10^{-14}	

^a Calculated from slope of concentration contours.

^b Calculated from grain-boundary concentration penetration.

Austin and co-workers prepared their grain boundary diffusion couple, both thick layer (125 μ m) and thin layer (0.5 μ m) sources by electroplating gold onto copper bicrystals having a 45° tilt boundary along a common [001] axis. The diffusion anneals were made in the temperature range 625 to 760 °C. After diffusion, gold concentration contours were measured on the specimens by electron-microprobe traverses. Results from the thick layer source couples were obtained by applying Whipple's solution [285]. The product of the gold grain-boundary diffusion coefficient (D_{gb}^{Au}) and grain-boundary width (δ) was calculated from values of parameters obtained from an exact solution to Whipple's analysis (Whipple's exact solution to the idealized grain-boundary diffusion problem was evaluated numerically for ranges of parameters appropriate to the experimental data) [243] and are listed in table 35. Suzuoka's solution [286] was applied to the results for the instantaneous or thin source case. The product of the gold grain-boundary diffusion coefficient and grain-boundary width for each temperature studied were averaged. These values are listed (with estimated errors) in table 36. Assuming the half-width of the grain boundary to be 2.5×10^{-8} cm, the gold grain-boundary diffusion rates are calculated and plotted as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature in figure 48. A linear temperature-dependence results and gives an activation energy of 25 ± 2 kcal·mol⁻¹ for the grain-boundary diffusion process.

Chatterjee and Fabian [173], obtained grain-boundary diffusion rates of gold in polycrystalline copper in the temperature range 400–700 °C using the instantaneoussource technique and radioactivation analysis (already described in some detail in an above section dealing with tracer diffusion). To obtain values for the gold grainboundary diffusion coefficient, the logarithm of the gold concentration was plotted against the 6/5 power of the penetration distance for temperatures from 400 to 700 °C, and the results interpreted using Suzuoka's method [286]. When the coefficients (with an expected error of 10%) are plotted (see figure 48), a linear temperature-dependence is revealed. The activation energy obtained from the slope of the line is 20 ± 3 kcal·mol⁻¹.

When one realizes the experimental and computational problems encountered and the many possible sources of error are considered, the order of magnitude difference between these two results does not seem surprising.

 TABLE 36.
 Gold grain boundary diffusion coefficients measured from thin layer diffusion into 45° copper bicrystal [244]

<i>T</i> (°C)	$D_{ub} \cdot \delta(\mathrm{cm}^{3}/\mathrm{s})^{\mathrm{a}}$
760 706 660 625	$1.25 \times 10^{-13} \\ 6.4 \times 10^{-14} \\ 3.8 \times 10^{-14} \\ 1.9 \times 10^{-14} \\ 1.9$

^a Author estimates error to be ±20%.



FIGURE 48. The grain boundary diffusion of gold in copper as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

A grain boundary half-width of 2.5×10^{-8} cm is assumed in the calculations. Data taken from published results of Austin and co-workers [244], and Chatterjee and Fabian [173].

DIFFUSION IN COPPER AND COPPER ALLOYS



FIGURE 49. The surface diffusion coefficients of gold on copper as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

The results of Choi and Shewmon [180] are for gold diffusing on the (100) and (111) faces of pure copper. The straight line shown drawn through the data of Austin et al. [244] is obtained from a least squares analysis of their tabulated data and yields an activation energy of ~ 28 kcal mol⁻¹. See the text for more detailed description of the coefficients measured by Pines and co-workers [255].

591

3.18. Surface Diffusion

The surface diffusion investigations in the copper-gold system [180, 244, 250, 287] are not in general agreement with each other (when it is possible to compare results). The disagreement (see figure 49) may be in part due to the fact that a different experimental technique was employed in each investigation as well as different mathematical approaches to the computations of the coefficients.

Choi and Shewmon [180] used a radioactive tracer (gold-198) and a "thin-layer" model (with a mathematical analysis given by Shewmon [288]) for the spreading of a tracer from a point source on the surface. With this approach, surface diffusion coefficients of gold-198 on the (100) and (111) surfaces of copper were measured in the temperature range between 780 and 1050 °C. The results are plotted as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature in figure 49. A straight line can be fitted to the data points and an Arrhenius expression obtained. The surface diffusion of the gold tracer on the (100) plane can be described by

$$D_s = 2.1 \times 10^5 \exp(-52,000 \text{ cal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s},$$

and on the (111) plane by

$$D_s = 3.6 \times 10^5 \exp(-51,100 \text{ cal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}/RT) \text{ cm}^2/\text{s}.$$

Choi and Shewmon, in their original paper, obviously interchanged the pre-exponential factors in the two Arrhenius equations. If one uses their original expressions, straight lines, somewhat removed from the data points, are obtained. Simply interchanging the values of the pre-exponential factors in the two equations will yield lines very close to the appropriate data points as well as comparing favorably with the Arrhenius plots shown in their paper.

Austin and co-workers [244] employed an infinite half-plane thin source and Whipple's analysis [285, 289]



FIGURE 50. Surface diffusion coefficients of copper on gold as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

Data from the experiments of Pines et al. [255].

to measure the surface diffusion rate of gold on the copper (100) surface. Electron-probe microanalysis revealed the gold concentration gradients obtained from surface diffusion. The calculated values of the coefficients are plotted in figure 49. Although the mean slope of the straight line fitted to the data is for an activation energy of ~28 kcal·mol⁻¹ the activation energy could vary from 20 kcal·mol⁻¹ at 600 °C to as much as 30 kcal· mol⁻¹ at 700 °C.

Pines and co-workers [255], working with thin films ($\sim 10^{-6}$ cm thick) of gold and copper, have measured surface diffusion coefficients with the aid of an electron diffraction technique [250, 261, 290]. The experiments though were plagued by complications arising from film thickness [255]. They tried to sort out some of the effects and report measuring a "true" as well as an "effective surface diffusion coefficient." Using thin film couples of different thicknesses (125 Å and 250 Å) such surface diffusion coefficients for gold on copper

(200-500 °C) and copper on gold (480-930 °C) were obtained and are plotted in figures 50 and 51. The authors were able to fit straight lines to their data and calculate activation energies (for the surface diffusion of gold on copper $\approx 16 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}$; for copper on gold $\approx 14 \text{ kcal} \cdot \text{mol}^{-1}$) for the processes. They also concluded that the values of both of the types of surface diffusion coefficients were dependent not only on the thickness of the specimens, but also on the lattice diffusion coefficients as well as the solid solubilities of the metals in each other.

Geguzin et al. [287] concerned themselves with surface self-diffusion occurring in surface layers of coppergold alloys. Mullin's mass-transfer technique [291] was the essential mode of experimentation, with several modifications (as described in [292. 293]). Calculated from the data was the product $D_s\delta_s$, where D_s is a surface diffusion coefficient and δ_s is the depth of the subsurface layer (the depth of which is greater than the



FIGURE 51. Surface diffusion coefficients of gold on copper as a function of reciprocal absolute temperature.

Data taken from the experiments of Pines et al. [255].



FIGURE 52. Product of an "average atom surface self-diffusion coefficient" and the depth of a subsurface layer as a function of composition. In the subsurface layer, lattice diffusion contributions to the surface diffusion processes are occuring. The coefficient does not distinguish between copper and gold atoms. Data excerpted from the paper of Geguzin et al. [287].

interatomic spacing). The concentration dependence they obtained for the product $D_s \delta_s$ is plotted in figure 52. The surface self-diffusion coefficient being described here is some sort of "average atom surface self-diffusion coefficient" containing volume diffusion contributions.

3.19. Electromigration

Nehlep et al. [294] investigated the effects of passing a current (41,000 A/cm²) through copper-gold alloys (containing approximately 35 wt % copper) at temperatures near 750 °C. X-ray analysis of the specimens after three months of current flow revealed that the gold concentrated at the anode, and the copper at the cathode.

3.20. Thermomigration

The phenomena of thermomigration in copper-gold alloys has been observed by Jaffe and Shewmon [295] and Darken and Oriani [296]. The latter investigation utilized alloy specimens containing 26.5 atomic percent gold whereas the former employed dilute alloys, containing radioactive gold-198 as an impurity. These experiments showed apparently opposite effects.

Darken and Oriani [296] found that after 32 days of holding one end of their alloy specimens at a temperature of 830 °C and the other end at 435 °C, copper had migrated to the hotter side. Lattice parameter measurements obtained from X-ray diffraction patterns revealed an enrichment in gold towards the lower temperatures. Oriani [297] indicates that the measured heat of transport in these experiments has a positive sign although no values for the quantity are reported.

Jaffee and Shewmon in their study [295] employed a steady-state technique which measured the stationary redistribution of radioactive gold-198 in a linear temperature gradient (the mean temperature being approximately 1000 °C). After sectioning and counting the amount of redistributed radioactivity in their diffused specimens, they found that the hotter side of their specimens had become *enriched* in gold rather than the colder side (as in the experiments of Darken and Oriani). Jaffee and Shewmon did calculate from their data an effective heat of transport (-4800 ± 3000 cal/mol) using a rather elementary mathematical analysis.

The reason for the disagreement in the results is not readily apparent. Although Kostyukov's calculations [298] appear to lend some weight to the observations of Darken and Oriani, his mathematical analysis [299] (based on the model of Palatnik and Lynbchenko [300]) is incorrect, and thus cannot validate the results of either of the two above experimental investigations. Jaffee and Shewmon do appear to have performed a more elegant experiment which should give a more reliable result.

3.21. Molten Metals

Diffusion of oxygen in liquid copper-gold alloys is discussed in the above section on the Cu-Au-O system.

References

Many references are in non-English languages. Where English translations are available, it has been so noted in brackets following the original citation. The bulk of these translations are available from the National Technical Information Service (NTIS), Springfield, Va. 22151. Others are available from Henry Brutcher Technical Translations (HB), P.O. Box 157, Altadena, Calif. 91001; British Iron and Steel Industry Translation Service (BISI), The Iron and Steel Institute, 39 Victoria Street, London, S.W. 1, England: National Translation Center (NTC), 35 West 33rd Street, Chicago, Illinois 61606.

Introduction References

- Butrymowicz, D. B., Manning, J. R., and Read, M. E., "Diffusion in Copper and Copper Alloys. Part I. Volume and Surface Self-Diffusion in Copper," J. Phys. Chem. Reference Data 2, 643-656 (1973).
- [2] Tomizuka, C. T., "Diffusion," in Solid State Physics, edited by K. Lark-Horowitz and V. A. Johnson (Academic Press, New York, 1959) 6, Part A, Chapter 4.5, pp. 364-373.
- [3] Tomizuka, C. T., "Some Experimental Aspects of Diffusion in Metals," Adv. Mater. Res. 1, 279-299 (1967).
- [4] Lundy, T. S., "Volume Diffusion in Solids," in *Techniques of Metals Research*, edited by R. F. Bunshah (Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1970) 4, Part 2, Physicochemical Measurements in Metals Research, edited by R. A. Rapp, pp. 379-403.
- [5] Adda, Y., and Philibert, J., La Diffusion Dans Les Solides, in two volumes, (Presses Universitaires de France, Paris, 1966) 1268 pp.
- [6] Gjostein, N. A., "Surface, Grain Boundary and Dislocation Pipe Diffusion," in *Techniques of Metals Research*, edited by R. F. Bunshah (Wiley-Interscience, New York, 1970) 4, Part 2, Physicochemical Measurements in Metals Research, edited by R. A. Rapp, pp. 405-457.
- [7] Manning, J. R., "Cross Terms in the Thermodynamic Diffusion Equations for Multicomponent Alloys," Metall. Trans. 1, 499-505 (1970).
- [8] See e.g., Manning, J. R., Diffusion Kinetics for Atoms in Crystals (D. Van Nostrand, Princeton, 1968) 257 pp.

Copper-Silver References

- [9] Arkharov, V. I., Klotsman, S. M., Timofeyev, A. N., and Rusakov, I. I., "Concerning the Questions of the Study of Intercrystalline Diffusion in Metals and Alloys," in *Metallurgiya i Metallovedeniye* (Izdatel'stvo Akad. Nauk SSSR, 1960) (in Russian) pp. 165-175 [translation available from NTIS as NP-TR-448].
- [10] Lazarus, D., "Tracer Studies of Intermetallic Diffusion," Proc. U. N. Intern. Conf. Peaceful Uses Atomic Energy, 2nd, Geneva, 20, 108-112 (1958).
- [11] Mercer, W. L., "Atom Movements in Alloys," Ph.D. Thesis, Univ. Leeds, 1955, 122 pp.
- [12] Arkharov, V. I., Klotsman, S. M., Timofeyev, A. N., and Rusakov,
 I. I., "A Study of Intergranular Diffusion in Metals and

Alloys," Issledovaniya Po Zharoprochnym Splavam, (in Russian) edited by I. P. Bardin, G. V. Kurdumov, et al. (Izdetel'sto Akademii Nauk SSSR, Moscow, 1958) Vol. 3, pp. 198-207 [translation available from NTIS in Investigation of Heat Resistant Alloys, AD 418153].

- [13] Tomizuka, C. T., "Impurity Diffusion in Copper," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 2, p. 123 (1957).
- [14] Nachtrieb, N. H., Tomizuka, C. T., and Schultz, L. G., Univ. Chicago, Point Imperfections in Metals by Conductivity and Diffusion Measurements, Part 2, Final Report to the Office of Scientific Research, Air Research and Development Command, Contract No. AF18(600)-1489, 1959, pp. 2.1-2.15 [also available from NTIS as AD 232543].
- [15] Barreau, G., Brunel, G., Cizeron, G., and Lacombe, P., "Determination of Volume and Grain Boundary Heterodiffusion Coefficients of Silver in Pure Copper, and Effects of the Alloying Elements Chromium, Tellurium, Titanium, and Ziconium on these Coefficients," (in French) C. R. Acad. Sci. (Paris) 270, 516-519 (1970).
- [16] Barreau, G., Brunel, G., Cizeron, G., and Lacombe, P., "Diffusion in the Copper-Silver System: Heterodiffusion and Chemical Diffusion. Influence of Dilute Alloying Additions of Cr, Te, Ti, and Zr to the Copper," (in French) Mem. Sci. Rev. Metall. 68, 357-366 (1971).
- [17] Spasov, A. V., and Ivanov, G., "Use of Radioactive Isotopes to Study the Diffusion of Ag in a Cu-Ag Alloy," (in Bulgarian) God. Sofii. Univ. Khim. Fak. 62, 717-784 (1970).
- [18] Renouf, T. J., "The Measurement of Volume Diffusion by the Method of Autoradiography," Philos. Mag. 9, 781-795 (1964).
- [19] Renouf, T. J., "The Measurement of Grain Boundary Diffusion by the Method of Autoradiography," Philos. Mag. 22, 359-375 (1970).
- [20] Gertsriken, S. D., and Revo, A. L., "Investigation of the Influence of Small Alloying Additions of Silver on the Parameters of Volume and Boundary Diffusion of Silver in Copper," (in Russian) Fiz. Met. Metalloved. 9, (4), 578-583 (1960) [Phys. Met. Metallogr. 9, (4), 92-97 (1960)].
- [21] Zhukhovitskii, A. A., Janitskaya, M. E., and Sotskov, A. D., "Application of Radioactive Isotopes in Solving Diffusion Problems in Metal Theory," in *Radioisotopes in Scientific Research* (Proceedings of the International Conference held in Paris, Sept. 1957), edited by R. C. Extermann (Pergamon Press, New York, 1958) Vol. 1, pp. 279-301.
- [22] Yanitskaya, M. Ye., and Zhukhovitskii, A. A., "Diffusion and Thermodynamic Characteristics of Certain Dilute Solid Solutions," in *Metallurgy and Metallography* (Izdatel'stvo Akad. Nauk SSSR, 1960) pp. 98-106 [also available from NTIS as NP-TR-448].
- [23] Sotskov, A. D., Rabin'kin, A. G., and Zhukhovitsky, A. A., "Concerning Diffusion in Heterogeneous Systems," in Metallurgiya i Metallovedeniye (Izdatel'stvo Akad. Nauk SSSR, 1960) pp. 141-153 [also available from NTIS as NP-TR-448].
- [24] Schreiner, H., and Mayr, H. H., "Diffusion of Silver in Copper," (in German) Monatsh. Chem. 82, 748-751 (1951) [translation available from NTIS as TT 70-57302].
- [25] Schreiner, H., and Mariacher, J., "The Diffusion Reactions Taking Place in Pressed Metal Powder Objects," Z. Metallkd. 45, 108-111 (1954) [translation available from NTIS as TT 71-55071].
- [26] Morrison, H. M., "Dislocation Enhanced Impurity Diffusion," Philos. Mag. 12, 985-995 (1965).
- [27] Tomizuka, C. T., private communication, cited by H. M. Morrison in "Dislocation Enhanced Impurity Diffusion," Philos. Mag. 12, 985-995 (1965).
- [28] Lazarus, D., "Diffusion in Metals," in Solid State Physics, edited by F. Seitz and D. Turnbull (Academic Press, New York, 1960) Vol. 10, pp. 71-126.

- [29] Gruzin, P. L., "Application of Radioactive Tracers for Studying Diffusion and Self-Diffusion in Alloys, Self-Diffusion of Cobalt," (in Russian) Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 86, 289-292 (1952) [translation available from NTIS as TT 70-57022].
- [30] Gruzin, P. L., Problemy Metallovedeniya i Fiziki Metallov, (in Russian) (Problems of Metallography and the Physics of Metals) No. 3 (1952).
- [31] Seibel, G., Thesis, Paris (1962).
- [32] Hart, E. W., "On the Role of Dislocations in Bulk Diffusion," Acta Metall. 5, p. 597 (1957).
- [33] Mortlock, A. J., "The Effect of Segregation on the Solute Diffusion Enhancement Due to the Presence of Dislocations," Acta Metall. 8, 132-134 (1960).
- [34] Sawatzky, A., "Diffusion of the Elements of the IB and IIB Subgroups in Silver," Ph.D. Thesis, Temple Univ., 1957, 73 pp.
- [35] Sawatzky, A., and Jaumot Jr., F. E., "Diffusion of the Elements of the IB and IIB Subgroups in Silver," J. Met. 9, 1207-1210 (1957).
- [36] Jaumot Jr., F. E., and Sawatzky, A., "Diffusion of Gold in Single Crystals of Silver," J. Appl. Phys. 27, 1186-1188 (1956).
- [37] Sawatzky, A., and Jaumot Jr., F. E., "Diffusion of Zinc in Single Crystals of Silver," Phys. Rev. 100, 1627-1629 (1955).
- [38] Hoffman, R. E., Turnbull, D., and Hart, E. W., "Self-Diffusion in Dilute Binary Solid Solutions," Acta Metall. 3, 417-424 (1955) [also available from NTIS as AD 59353].
- [39] Sato, K., "Self-Diffusion of Silver in Silver-Copper Alloys," Sci. Rep. Fac. Lit. Sci., Hirosaki Univ. 11, 9-17 (1964).
- [40] Hollomon, I. H., and Turnhull, D., General Electric Co., Schenectady, N.Y., Fundamental Research in Physical Metallurgy, Prepared for the U.S. Atomic Energy Commission, Contract No. W-31-109-Eng-52, Report No. RL-819, 1953, 7 pp. [also available from NTIS as AD 7403].
- [41] Yanitskaya, M. E., Zhukhovitskii, A. A., and Bokshtein, S. Z., "Effect of Impurities on the Rate of Self-Diffusion," (in Russian) Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 112, 720-723 (1957) [translation available from NTIS as TT 70-57012].
- [42] Zhukhovitskii, A. A., Kryukov, S. N., and Yanitskaya, M. E., "Self-Diffusion and Diffusion in Binary Solid Solutions." 34th Symp. on Uses of Radioactive Isotopes in Metallurgy, Part II. 1955, pp. 1-22 [also available from NTIS as AECtr-3100].
- [43] Patil, R. V., and Sharma, B. D., "Self-Diffusion in Dilute Silver-Copper Alloys," Trans. Indian Inst. Met. 25, 1-4 (1972).
- [44] Thompson, F. C., and Dearden, W. H., "Note on an Experiment in Solid Diffusion, and its Possible Bearing on the Structure of Solid Solutions." Trans. Faraday Soc. 20, 84-86 (1924).
- [45] Cahoon, J. R., and Youdelis, W. V., "The Diffusion of Copper in Silver (Rich) Copper Alloys," Trans. AIME (Am. Inst. Min. Metall. Pet. Eng.) 239, 127-129 (1967).
- [46] Desch, C. H., "Report on Diffusion in Solids," Brit. Ass. Advan. Sci. Rep. 82, 348-372 (1912).
- [47] Klein, A., Dissertation (Technische Hochschule, Stuttgart, 1948).
- [48] Kubaschewski, O., "The Diffusion Rates of Some Metals of Copper-Silver and Gold," Trans. Faraday Soc. 46, 713-722 (1950).
- [49] Arkharov, V. I., and Gol'dshtein, T. Yu., "On the Frontal Diffusion of Ag in Several Polycrystalline Metals," (in Russian) Tr. Inst. Fiz. Metal. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ural Filial, No. 11, 81-89 (1950) [translation available from NTIS as TT 70-58186].
- [50] Seith, W., and Peretti, E. A., "Diffusion in Solid Metals and Its Relationship to Other Properties," (in German) Z. Elektrochem. 42, 570-579 (1936) [translation available from NTC as NTC 1-641].
- [51] Kuczynski, G. C., and Alexander, B. H., "A Metallographic Study of Diffusion Interfaces," J. Appl. Phys. 22, 344-349 (1951).
- [52] Alexander, B. H., and Kuczynski, C. C., Sylvania Electric Products, Inc., Bayside, N.Y., Self-Diffusion of Metals and

J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data, Vol. 3, No. 2, 1974

Associated Phenomena, Prepared for the U.S. Atomic Energy Commission, Contract No. AT-30-1-GEN-367, AECU-199, 1949, 40 pp.

- [53] Carpenter, J. A., and Houska, C. R., "X-Ray Investigation of Bimetallic Diffusion Zones," Abstr. Bull. Inst. Metals Div., 2, 8-9 (1967).
- [54] Carpenter, J. A., "X-Ray Diffraction Techniques for the Study of Bimetallic Diffusion Zones with Applications to the Copper-Nickel and Copper-Silver Alloy Systems," Ph.D. Thesis, Virginia Polytechnic Inst., 1970, 597 pp.
- [55] Sotskov, A. D., Kao, I-Shang, and Zhukhovitsky, A. A., "Use of Radinactive Isotopes in the Study of the Diffusion Processes, Accompanied by Phase and Chemical Transformations," (in Russian) Izv. Vyssh. Ucheb. Zaved., Khim Khim Tekhnol. 3, 452-456 (1960).
- [56] Grebennik, I. P., and Zyman, Z. Z., "Diffusion and Size Effect in Thin Films of the Systems Cu-Pd and Cu-Ag," (in Russian) Fiz. Met. Metalloved. **32**, (4), 891-893 (1971) [Phys. Met. Metallogr. **32**, (4), 228-230 (1971)].
- [57] Tanzilli, R. A., and Heckel, R. W., "An Analysis of Interdiffusion in Finite-Geometry, Two-Phase Diffusion Couples in the Ni-W and Ag-Cu Systems," Metall. Trans. 2, 1779–1784 (1971).
- [58] Oikawa, H., Takei, H., and Karashima, S., "Interdiffusion in Copper-Rich Cu-Ag Solids Solutions," Metall. Trans. 4, 653-655 (1973).
- [59] Ziebold, T. O., and Ogilvie, R. E., "Ternary Diffusion in Copper-Silver-Gold Alloys," Trans. AIME (Am. Inst. Min. Metall. Pet. Eng.) 239, 942-953 (1967).
- [60] Hall, M. G., and Haworth, C. W., "The Diffusion of Copper in Silver (Rich)-Copper Alloys," Trans. AIME (Am. Inst. Min. Metall. Pet. Eng.) 245, 2476-2478 (1969).
- [61] Guy, A. G., private communication to J. R. Manning, 1966, 53 pp.
- [62] Alexander, B. H., and Balluffi, R., A.E.C. Rept., NYO 663 (1950).
- [63] Matano, C., "On the Relation between the Diffusion-Coefficients and Concentrations of Solid Metals (The Nickel-Copper System)," Jap. J. Phys. 8, 109-113 (1933).
- [64] Hall, L. D., "An Analytical Method of Calculating Variable Diffusion Coefficients," J. Chem. Phys. 21, 87-89 (1953).
- [65] Hansen, M., Constitution of Binary Alloys (McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., New York, 1958) 2nd edition.
- [66] Alexander, W. B., and Slifkin, L. M., "Diffusion of Solutes in Aluminum and Dilute Aluminum All. ys," Phys. Rev. B 1, 3274-3282 (1970).
- [67] Spasov, A., and Ivanov, G., "Diffusion of Ag in Cu-Al Alloys Studies with Radioactive Isotopes," (in Bulgarian) God. Sofii Univ., Khim. Fak. 63, 73-81 (1968/1969; Publ. 1971).
- [68] Aaron, H. B., and Weinberg, F., "Preferential Diffusion Along Interphase Boundaries," Acta Metall. 20, 339-344 (1972).
- [69] Braune, H., "Diffusion in Alloy Crystals," (in German) Z. Phys. Chem. 110, 147-165 (1924).
- [70] Ziebold, T. O., "Ternary Diffusion in Copper-Silver-Gold Alloys," Ph.D. Thesis, MIT, 1964, 157 pp.
- [71] Ziebold, T. O., and Ogilvie, R. E., "Quantitative Analysis with the Electron Microanalyzer," Anal. Chem. 35, 621-627 (1963).
- [72] Ziebold, T. O., and Ogilvie, R. E., "An Empirical Method for Electron Microanalysis," Anal. Chem. 36, 322-327 (1964).
- [73] Ziebold, T. O., and Ogilvie, R. E.; "Correlations of Empirical Calibrations for Electron Microanalysis," in *The Electron Microprobe*, edited by T. D. McKinley (John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1966) pp. 378-389.
- [74] Kirkaldy, J. S., "Diffusion in Multicomponent Metallic Systems," Can. J. Phys. 35, 435-440 (1957).
- [75] Kirkaldy, J. S., and Purdy, G. R., "Diffusion in Multicomponent Metallic Systems. X. Diffusion at and Near Ternary Critical States," Can. J. Phys. 47, 865-871 (1969).
- [76] Guy, A. G., and Philibert, J., "Determination of Intrinsic Diffusion Coefficients in Three-Component Solid Solutions," Z. Metallkd. 56, 841-845 (1965).

- [77] DeHoff, R. T., Anusavice, J. K., Wan, C. C., and Guy, A. G.,
 "Diffusion Composition Path Patterns in Ternary Systems,"
 U.S. National Technical Information Service, Report No. 726458, 1971, 71 pp.
- [78] Arkharov, V. I., Klotsman, S. M., and Timofeev, A. N., "On the Effect of Minor Alloying Additions to the Self-Diffusion Coefficients in Polycrystalline Materials II.," (in Russian) Fiz. Met. Metalloved. 6, (2), 255-260 (1958) [Phys. Met. Metallogr. 6, (2), 66-71 (1958)].
- [79] Arkharov, V. I., Ivanovskaya, S. I., and Skornyakov, N. N., "On the Effect of Certain Alloying Additions on the Frontal Diffusion of Silver into Polycrystalline Copper," (in Russian) Dokl. Akad. Nau, SSSR 89, 669-672 (1953) [translation available from NTIS as NSF-Tr-58].
- [80] Arkharov, V. I., Yefremova, K. A., Ivanovskaya, S. I., Shtolts, A. K., and Yunikov, B. A., "Frontal Diffusion in Iron of Commercial Purity," (in Russian) Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 89, 269-270 (1953) [translation available from NTIS as NSF-Tr-48].
- [81] Arkharov, V. I., Ivanovskaya, S. I., and Skornyakov, N. N., "Influence of Certain Dissolved Alloying Additions on Silver Diffusion into Polycrystalline Copper," Tr. Inst. Fiz. Metal. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ural Filial No. 16, 69-74 (1955).
- [82] Arkharov, V. I., "On the Influence of Minor Alloying Additions of Antimony on the Frontal Diffusion of Silver in Polycrystalline Copper," (in Russian) Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 66, 1113-1115 (1949).
- [83] Fisher, J. C., "Calculation of Diffusion Penetration Curves for Surface and Grain Boundary Diffusion," J. Appl. Phys. 22, 74-77 (1951).
- [84] Andrievskii, A. I., Sandulova, A. V., and Yurkevich, M. I., "Diffusion of Silver into Cuprous Oxide," (in Russian) Fiz. Tverd. Tela 2, 624–628 (1960) [Sov. Phys. – Solid State 2, 581–584 (1960)].
- [85] Andrievskii, A. I., Karelin, A., and Sandulova, A. V., Dokl. L'vovsk. Politekh. Inst., No. 1, p. 1, (1955).
- [86] Andrievskii, A. I., and Mishchenko, M., Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 25, p. 1683 (1955).
- [87] Andrievskii, A. I., Karelin, N. N., and Sandulova, A. V., "Diffusion of Impurities into Cuprous Oxide and Electrical Conductivity," Dokl. L'vovsk. Politekh. Inst., No. 1, 12-16 (1955).
- [88] Combe-Brun, A., Bernardini, J., and Cabane, J., "Internal Oxidation of Silver-Copper Alloys," (in French) C. R. Acad. Sci. (Paris) 273, 1493-1496 (1971).
- [89] Podgurski, H. H., and Davis, F. N., "The Solubility of Oxygen in Silver and the Thermodynamics of the Internal Oxidation of a Silver-Copper Alloy," Trans. Metall. Soc. AIME (Am. Inst. Min. Metall. Pet. Eng.) 230, 731-735 (1964).
- [90] El-Naggar, M. M. A., and Parlee, N. A. D., "Diffusion Studies of Oxygen in Liquid Copper and Copper Alloys by a Solid Electrolytic Cell Technique," High Temp. Sci. 3, 138-154 (1971).
- [91] Braune, H., and Kahn, O., "On the Mobility of Ions in Solid Copper Sulfide," (in German) Z. Phys. Chem. 112, 270-276 (1924) [translation available from NTIS as TT 70-57377].
- [92] Tubandt, C., Reinhold, H., and Jost, W., "Diffusion in Tightly Bonded Crystals," (in German) Z. Anorg. Chem. 177, 253-285 (1928).
- [93] Tubandt, C., and Reinhold, H., "Chemical Reactions Occurring in Solid Salts," (in German) Z. Phys. Chem. A 140, 291-308 (1929).
- [94] Boltaks, B. I., Diffusion in Semiconductors (Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1963) Chapter 10, p. 303.
- [95] Wagner, C., "The Distribution of Cations in Metal Oxide and Metal Sulphide Solid Solutions Formed During the Oxidation of Alloys," Corros. Sci. 9, 91-109 (1969).
- [96] Reinhold, H., and Seidel, H., "Conduction of Electricity and Diffusion in Semimetallic Alloys (Cu₂·x Se) Part II.," (in

German) Z. Phys. Chem. B 38, 245-269 (1939) [translation available from NTC as SLA 62-20247].

- [97] Jost, W., Diffusion in Solids, Liquids, and Gases (Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1952).
- [98] Barrer, R. M., II. "Precipitation in Metals and Age-Hardening-Some Aspects of Diffusion in Solids," Proc. Phys. Soc. (London) 52, 58-70 and 94-104 (1940).
- [99] Jost, W., Diffusion und Chemische Reaktion in Festen Stoffen, edited by J. A. Barth, (Verlag, Dresden, Leipzig, 1937).
- [100] Mehl, R., "Rates of Diffusion in Solid Alloys," J. Appl. Phys. 8, 174-185 (1937).
- [101] Rhines, F., and Mehl, R.; "Rates of Diffusion in the Alpha Solid Solutions of Copper." Trans. Am. Inst. Mining Met. Eng. 128, 185-222 (1938).
- [102] Kur, J., and Senvzyszyn, A., "Diffusion of Cu and Ag into Thin Films of Cu_{1.8}Se," (in Polish) Biul. Wojsh. Akad. Tech. 19, 37-43 (1970).
- [103] Foster, K. W., and Milnes, M. V., "Diffusion of Copper in Polycrystalline Silver Selenide," J. Appl. Phys. 33, 1660-1662 (1962).
- [104] Brennan, W. D., and Shucker, H., "Electrical Contacts between Metals and Lead Telluride," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 3, p. 138 (1958).
- [105] Fritts, R. W., in *Thermoelectric Materials and Devices*, edited by I. B. Cadoff and E. Miller (Reinhold Publ. Corp., New York, 1960) p. 143 ff.
- [106] Suzuoka, T., "Lattice and Grain Boundary Diffusion in Polycrystals," Trans. Jap. Inst. Met. 2, 25-33 (1961).
- [107] Hauffe, K., Reaktionen in und an festen Stoffen, (Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1955).
- [108] Bassani, C., Camagni, P., and Pace, S., "Diffusion of Cobalt and Silver in Ordered and Disordered CuZn," Nuovo Cimento 19, 393-395 (1961).
- [109] Camagni, P., "Some Aspects of Diffusion in an Ordered Alloy," Proc. U.N. Int. Conf. Peaceful Uses Energy, 2nd 20, 113-115 (1958).
- [110] Creydt, M., "Diffusion in Electrodeposited Layers and Between Multilayer Combinations of Soft Solders at Temperatures Between 23 and 212 °C," (in German) Ph.D. Thesis, Eidgenosseschen Technischen Hochschule, Zurich, 1971, 105 pp. [translation available from NTIS as TT 72-53056].
- [111] Creydt, M., and Fichter, R., "Diffusion in Electrodeposited Layers and Between Multilayer Combinations of Soft Solders at Temperatures Between 23 and 212 °C," (in German) Metall 25, 1124–1127 (1971).
- [112] Bondarev, V. V., and Shinyayev, A. Ya., "Investigation of Diffusion Processes in Brazing Rhenium-Coated Titanium," in Trudy Instituta Metallurgii imeni A. A. Baykova, Vypusk XIV. Metallurgiya Metallovedeniye, Fiziko-Khimicheskiye Metody Issledovaniya, (in Russian) (Academy of Sciences USSR, Moscow, 1963) pp. 86-89 [translation available from NTIS in Studies in the Metallurgy of Various Alloys (Works of the Institute of Metallurgy imeni A. A. Baykova, No. 14. Metallurgy, Metallography and Physicochemical Methods of Research), JPRS 24,761].
- [113] Modjeska, R. S., and Kann, S. N., "Diffusion Phenomena in Plated Precious Metals," Proc. Am. Electroplat. Soc. 50, 117-124 (1963).
- [114] Achter, M. R., and Smoluchowski, R., "Diffusion in Grain Boundaries and Their Structure," J. Appl. Phys. 22, 1260-1264 (1951).
- [115] Achter, M. R., and Smoluchowski, R., "Grain Boundary Diffusion," Phys. Rev. 76, p. 1475 (1949).
- [116] Achter, M. R., and Smoluchowski, R., "Anisotropy of Diffusion in Grain Boundaries," Phys. Rev. 83, 163-164 (1951).
- [117] Achter, M. R., and Smoluchowski, R., "Diffusion in Grain Boundaries," J. Appl. Phys. 23, 373-374 (1952).
- [118] Couling, S. R. L., and Smoluchowski, R., "Anisotropy of Diffusion in Grain Boundaries," J. Appl. Phys. 25, 1538-1542 (1954).
- [119] Arkharov, V. I., and Gol'dshtein, T. Yu., "Effects of Small Amounts of Impurities on the Process of Decomposition of a Super-Saturated Solid Solution" (in Russian) Tr. Inst. Fiz. Metal. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ural Filial, No. 11, 104-113 (1950) [translation available from NTIS as TT 70-57078].
- [120] Arkharov, V. I., and Pentina, A. A., "Investigation of the Effect of Relative Crystal Orientation on Phenomena Occurring at Grain Boundaries-II. The Effect of Mutual Grain Orientation on the Antimony Concentration Distribution Anomaly in Copper-Antimony Alloys," (in Russian) Fiz. Met. Metalloved. 5, (1), 68-73 (1957) [Phys. Met. Metallogr. 5, (1), 52-56 (1957)].
- [121] Arkharov, V. I., and Petina, A. A., "A Study of the Effect of the Mutual Orientation of Crystals on Grain Boundary Diffusion and Grain Boundary Precipitation," (in Russian) in Issledovaniya Po Zharporochnym Splavam, edited by I. P. Bardin, G. V. Kurdyumov, et al., (Izdatel'stvo Akad. Nauk SSSR, Moscow, 1958) Vol. 3 [translation available from NTIS as AD 418153, Investigation of Heat Resistant Alloys].
- [122] Blackburn, D. A., and Brown, A. F., "Diffusion and Grain Boundary Slide in Copper Bicrystals," J. Inst. Met. 91, 106-113 (1962).
- [123] Berman, F., and Harrington, R. H., "Fracture Studies of Soldered Joints," Trans. Am. Soc. Met. 34, 143-155 (1945).
- [124] Romashkin, Yu. P., and Shestopalov, L. M., "Diffusion Acceleration by Plastic Deformation as a Function of the Diffusion Layer Depth," (in Russian) in *Diffuzionnye Protessy v Metallkh*, edited by V. N. Svechnikov (Izdatel'stvo, Kiev, 1966) pp. 73-81 [translation available from NTIS as TT 70-50030, *Diffusion Processes in Metals*].
- [125] Arkharov, V. I., Klotsman, S. M., and Timofeev, A. V., "Autoradiographic Study of the Effect of Small Additions of Antimony on Silver Diffusion in Polycrystalline Copper," (in Russian) Fiz. Met. Metalloved. 5, (2), 367-368 (1957) [Phys. Met. Metallogr. 5, (2), p. 152 (1957)].
- [126] Achter, M. R., and Smoluchowski, R., "Structure and Behavior of Grain Boundaries," in *The Physics of Powder Metallurgy* (A Symp. held at Bayside, New York, Aug. 24-26, 1949), edited by W. E. Kingston (McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., New York, 1951) Chapter 5, pp. 77-91.
- [127] Couling, L., and Smoluchowski, R., "Anisotropy of Grain Boundary Diffusion," Phys. Rev. p. 245 (1953).
- [128] Smoluchowski, R., private communication, cited in D. Turnbull's paper "Grain Boundary and Surface Diffusion," in Atom Movements (Amer. Soc. for Metals, Cleveland, Ohio, 1950) pp. 129-152.
- [129] Dawson, M. H., "Diffusion in Grain Boundaries," J. Appl. Phys. 23, p. 373 (1952).
- [130] Flanagan, R., and Smoluchowski, R., "Grain Boundary Diffusion of Zinc in Copper," J. Appl. Phys. 23, 785-787 (1952).
- [131] Gertsriken, S. D., Naukov i Povidomineniya Kiiv'skogo Derzhavnogo Univ., Fizika (Scientific Reports of Kiev State Univ., Physics) Vol. 2, (1957).
- [132] Seibel, G., "Diffusion of Phosphorus in Iron," (in French) C. R. Acad. Sci. (Paris) 256, 4661-4664 (1963) [translation available from NTIS as TT 70-57609].
- [133] Seibel, G., "Diffusion of Sulphur in Iron," (in French) C. R. Acad. Sci. (Paris) 255, 3182-3184 (1962) [translation available from NTIS as TT 70-57610].
- [134] Seibel, G., "Diffusion of Sulphur and Phosphorus in the Solid State," (in French) Mem. Sci. Rev. Metall. 61, 413-436 (1964) Itranslation of pp. 431-434 available from BISI as BISI 45231.
- [135] Blackburn, D. A., and Brown, A. F., "Diffusion in Moving Grain-Boundaries," in *Radioisotopes in the Physical Sciences and Industry*, *I* (Proceedings of the Conference, Copenhagen, Sept. 6-17, 1960) (International Atomic Energy Agency, Vienna, 1962) pp. 145-157.
- J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data, Vol. 3, No. 2, 1974

- [136] Kehoe, R. B., Newman, R. C., and Pashley, D. W., "The Migration of Copper Atoms on the Surface of Silver," Philos. Mag. 1, 783-785 (1956).
- [137] Pines, B. Ya., Grebennik, I. P., and Gektina, I. V., "Electron Diffraction Study of Surface Diffusion in the Copper-Nickel and Copper-Silver Systems," (in Russian) Kristallografiya 12, 639-645 (1967) [Sov. Phys. - Crystallogr. 12, 556-561 (1968)].
- [138] Shpilevskii, E. M., "Surface Energy Role in Surface Heterodiffusion," (in Russian) Vestn. Beloruss Univ., 1, 73-76 (1972).
- [139] Kunin, N. F., and Shpilevskii, E. M., "Diffusion in Silver-Copper Thin Films," (in Russian) Mater. Nauch. Tekh. Konf. Fiz. Metal., Metalloved. Obrab. Metal. Davlenium 72-76 (1969).
- [140] de Ribaupierre, Y., and Roulet, C., "A Method of Direct Measure of Heterodiffusion on the Surface," (in French) C. R. Acad. Sci. (Paris) 268, 881-883 (1969) [translation available from NTIS as TT 71-55334].
- [141] Roulet, C. A., and Borel, J. -P., "Surface Diffusion of Silver on Primary and Secondary Planes of Copper," (in French) C. R. Acad. Sci. C 274, 2133-2136 (1972).
- [142] Roulet, C. A., "Solution of the Fick Equation for Surface Diffusion from a Constant Source of Adatoms. Application to the Diffusion of Ag Adatoms on Cu," (in French) Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 23, 412-419 (1972).
- [143] Roulet, C. A., "Surface Diffusion of Silver on (001), (111), (110) planes and on Vacinal Surfaces of Copper," (in French) Surf. Sci. 36, 295-316 (1973).
- [144] Frauenfelder, H., "Investigation of Surface Processes with Radioactivity," (in German) Helv. Phys. Acta 23, 347-380 (1950).
- [145] Klotsman, S. M., Timofeyev, A. N., and Trakhtenberg, I. Sh., "Influence of an Electric Field on Grain Boundary Diffusion in Noble Metals of the I Group," (in Russian) Fiz. Met. Metalloved. 24, (2), 278-282 (1967) [Phys. Met. Metallogr. 24, (2), 75-79 (1967)].
- [146] Archipova, N. K., Klotsman, S. M., Timofeev, A. N., and Trakhtenberg, I. Sh., "Effect of a DC Field on the Lattice Diffusion of Silver-110 in Copper and Gold," Phys. Status Solidi 16, 729-736 (1966).
- [147] Klotsman, S. M., Timofeev, A. N., and Trakhtenberg, I. Sh., "Transfer of Silver in an Electric Field in Polycrystals of Group I Noble Metals," in Diffuzionnye Protessy v Metallkh, (in Russian), edited by V. N. Svechnikov (Izdatel'stvo, Kiev, 1966) pp. 73-81 [translation available from NTIS as TT 70-50030, Diffusion Processes in Metals].
- [148] Klotsman, S. M., Timofeev, A. N., and Trakhtenberg, I. Sh., "Intergranular Self-Diffusion of Silver in an Electric Field," (in Russian) Fiz. Tverd. Tela 5, 3276-3281 (1963) [Sov. Phys.-Solid State 5, 2396-2400 (1964)].
- [149] Gruzin, P. L., "Application of Artificial Radioisotopes in the Study of Diffusion and Self-Diffusion of Alloys. Self-Diffusion in γ-Iron," (in Russian) Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Otd. Tekh., 383-392 (1953).
- [150] Malkovich, R. Sh., "Methods for Calculating the Mobility of Impurity Ions in a Solid," (in Russian) Fiz. Tverd. Tela 2, 2784-2794 (1960) [Sov. Phys. - Solid State 2, 2479-2488 (1961)].
- [151] Kuz'menko, P. P., and Ostrovskii, L. F., "Electric Transfer of Silver in Copper," (in Russian) Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Chern Met. 11, 146-149 (1962).
- [152] Klotsman, S. M., Timofeyev, A. N., and Trakhtenberg, I. Sh., "Diffusion in Polycrystals," (in Russian) Fiz. Mct. Mctallovcd. 16, (6), 895-903 (1963) [Phys. Met. Metallogr. 16, (6), 86-92 (1963)].
- [153] Jaffe, D., and Shewmon, P. G., "Thermal Diffusion of Substitutional Impurities in Copper, Cold, and Silver," Acta Metall. 12, 515-527 (1964).
- [154] Schroerschwarz, R., and Heitkamp, D., "Thermotransport of Substitutional Impurities in Copper," Phys. Status Solidi 45, 273 286 (1971).
- [155] Heitkamp, D., "On the Interpretation of the Heat of Transport

of Substitutional Impurities in Noble Metals," Z. Naturforsch. 26a, 21-31 (1971).

- [156] Howard, R. E., and Manning, J. R., "Theory of Thermal Diffusion in Dilute Alloys," J. Chem. Phys. 36, 910-916 (1962).
- [157] Gerl, M., "A Contribution to the Calculation of the Forces Existing on an Impurity in a Metal by a Temperature Gradient," (in French) J. Phys. Chem. Solids 28, 725-736 (1967).
- [158] Shestopalov, L. M., and Romashkin, Yu. P., "Diffusion of Silver in Plastically Deformed Copper," (in Russian) Fiz. Tverd. Tela 2, 2998-3008 (1960) [Sov. Phys. - Solid State 2, 2664-2672 (1961)].
- [159] Jones, W. J. D., and Dover, W. D., "Enhanced Diffusion Rates During the Fatigue of Metals," Nature (Lond.) 209, p. 704 (1966).
- [160] Ruoff, A. L., and Balluffi, R. W., "On Strain-Enhanced Diffusion in Metals. III. Interpretation of Recent Experiments," J. Appl. Phys. 34, 2862-2872 (1963).
- [161] Balluffi, R. W., and Ruoff, A. L., "On Strain-Enhanced Diffusion in Metals. I. Point Defect Models," J. Appl. Phys. 34, 1634– 1647 (1963).
- [162] Romashkin, Yu. P., "The Theory of Diffusion During the Plastic Deformation of Metals. II. General Functional Relations," (in Russian) Fiz. Tverd. Tela 2, 3059-3064 (1960) [Sov. Phys. – Solid State 2, 2716-2721 (1961)].
- [163] Romashkin, Yu. P., "The Theory of Diffusion During the Plastic Deformation of Metals," III. Possible Nature of the Phenomenon," (in Russian) Fiz. Tverd. Tela 2, 3065–3076 (1960) [Sov. Phys. – Solid State 2, 2722–2731 (1961)].
- [164] Niwa, K., Kado, S., and Ohno, T., "Diffusion of Silver in Molten Copper and Copper-Silver Alloy," (in Japanese) Nippon Kinzoku Gakkaishi 26, 726-730 (1962).

Copper-Gold References

- [165] Martin, A. B., and Asaro, F., "The Rate of Diffusion of Gold into Copper at Low Gold Concentrations," Phys. Rev. 80, p. 123 (1950).
- [166] Martin, A. B., Johnson, R. D., and Asaro, F., "Diffusion of Gold into Copper," J. Appl. Phys. 25, 364-369 (1954).
- [167] Tomizuka, C. T., "Impurity Diffusion in Copper," Bull. Am. Phys. Soc. 2, p. 123 (1957).
- [168] Tomizuka, C. T., private communication, cited by R. F. Sippel in "Diffusion Measurements in the System Cu-Au by Elastic Scattering," Phys. Rev. 115, 1441-1445 (1959).
- [169] Sippel, R. F., "Diffusion Measurements in the System Cu-Au by Elastic Scattering," Phys. Rev. 115, 1441-1445 (1959).
- [170] Kawasaki, S., and Sakai, E., "Measurement of Diffusion of Gold in Copper by Elastic Scattering of Deuterons," J. Nucl. Sci. Technol. 4, 273-277 (1967).
- [171] Archbold, T. F., and King, W. H., "Diffusion of Gold into Copper," Trans. Metall. Soc. AIME (Am. Inst. Min. Metall. Pet. Eng.) 233, 839-841 (1965).
- [172] King, W. H., "A Study of the Diffusion of Gold in Copper Using Neutron Activation Analysis," MS Thesis, Univ. of Washington, 1964, 53 pp.
- [173] Chatterjee, A., and Fabian, D. J., "Lattice and Grain-Boundary Diffusion of Gold in Copper," Acta Metall. 17, 1141-1144 (1969).
- [174] Johnson, R. D., and Martin, A. B., "The Effect of Cyclotron Bombardment on Self-Diffusion in Silver," J. Appl. Phys. 23, 1245-1254 (1952).
- [175] Kirkaldy, J. S., Mason, G. R., and Slater, W. J., "Neutron Activation Methods for the Study of Multicomponent Diffusion and for the Determination of Thermodynamic Activities of Alloys," Trans. Can. Inst. Mining Met. 64, 53-61 (1961).
- [176] Kirkaldy, J. S., Haq, Z.-U., and Brown, L. C., "Diffusion in Ternary Substitutional Systems," Trans. Am. Soc. Met. 56, 834-849 (1963).

- [177] Chatterjee, A., and Fabian, D. J., "Lattice and Grain-Boundary Diffusion of Gold in Nickel," J. Inst. Met. 96, 186-189 (1968).
- [178] Greenfield, I. G., and Tweer, I., "Determination of Compositional Profiles Near Grain Boundaries by Electron Diffraction," in *Electron Microscopy and Structure of Materials*, (Proc. of the Fifth Internat'l Materials Symp., held at the Univ. of California, Berkeley, Sept. 13-17, 1971), edited by G. Thomas, R. M. Fulrath, and R. M. Fisher (Univ. of California Press, Berkeley, 1972) pp. 236-245.
- [179] Browne, C. P., and Buechner, W. W., "Broad-Range Magnetic Spectrograph," Rev. Sci. Instrum. 27, 899-907 (1956).
- [180] Choi, J. Y., and Shewmon, P. G., "Surface Diffusion of Gold and Copper on Copper," Trans. Metall. Soc. AIME (Am. Inst. Min. Metall. Pet. Eng.) 230, 123-132 (1964).
- [181] Vignes, A., and Haeussler, J. P., "Concerning the Diffusion of Copper in Gold," (in French) C. R. Acad. Sci. C 263, 1504– 1507 (1966) [translation available from NTIS as TT 70-58216].
- [182] Vignes, A., and Haeussler, J. P., "Diffusion of Cu in Au," (in French), Mem. Sci. Rev. Metall. 63, 1091-1094 (1966) [translation avaiable from NTIS as TT 70-57660].
- [183] Vignes, A., Philibert, J., Badia, M., and Levasseur, J., "The Use of the Electron Microprobe for the Determination of Impurity Diffusion Coefficients," Presented at the 2nd National Conf. on Electron Microprobe Analysis, Boston, Mass. (1967), 2 pp.
- [184] Leidheiser Jr., H., "Coefficients for the Diffusion of Lead, Tin, and Copper into Single Crystals of Gold in Boiling 2M HCl," Appl. Phys. Lett. 1, 39-40 (1962).
- [185] Benci, S., Gasparrini, G., Germagnoli, E., and Schianchi, G., "Diffusion of Gold in Cu₃Au," J. Phys. Chem. Solids 26, 687-690 (1965).
- [186] Alexander, W. B., "Studies on Atomic Diffusion in Metals; I. Self-Diffusion in the Volume and Along the Dislocations of Cu₃Au; II. Impurity Diffusion in Aluminum and Dilute Aluminum Alloys," Ph.D. Thesis, Univ. of N.C., 1969, 74 pp.
- [187] Zhukhovitsky, A. A., and Geodakyan, V. A., "The Determination of the Diffusion Coefficient on the Basis of the Absorption of Beta Rays," (in Russian) C. R. Acad. (Dokl.) Sci. URSS 102, 301-304 (1955) [translation available from NTIS as AEC-TR-2265].
- [188] Cattaneo, F., Germagnoh, E., and Grasso, F., "Self-Diffusion in Platinum," Philios. Mag. 7, 1373-1383 (1962).
- [189] Benci, S., Gasparrini, G., and Germagnoli, E., "The Influence of Quenched in Vacancies on the Ordering Rate of the Cu₃Au Alloy," Nuovo Cimento 31, 1165-1175 (1964).
- [190] Million, B. and Kučera, J., "Concentration Dependence of Diffusion of Cobalt in Nickel-Cobalt Alloys," Acta Metall. 17, 339-344 (1969).
- [191] Kučera, J., "Diffusion in Heterogeneous Biphase Structure," (in Czechoslovakian) Czech. J. Phys. B22, 286-301 (1972).
- [192] Benci, S., and Gasparrini, G., "The Activation Energy for Self-Diffusion in the Cu₃Au Alloy," J. Phys. Chem. Solids 27, 1035-1039 (1966).
- [193] Goering, W. A., and Nowick, A. S., "Anelastic Measurements on the Alloy Cu₃Au," Trans. Metall. Soc. AIME (Am. Inst. Min. Metall. Pet. Eng.) 212, 105-106 (1958).
- [194] Sykes, C., and Evans, H., "The Transformations in the Copper-Gold Alloy Cu₃Au," J. Inst. Met. 58, 255–281 (1936).
- [195] Siegel, S., "On the Kinetics of the Order-Disorder Transformation in Cu₃Au," J. Chem. Phys. 8, 860-866 (1940).
- [196] Dugdale, R. A., "Some Properties of Vacancies and Interstitials in Cu₃Au," Philos. Mag. 1, 537–559 (1956).
- [197] Brinkman, J. A., Dixon, C. E., and Meechan, C. J., "Interstitial and Vacancy Migration of Cu₃Au and Copper," Acta Metall. 2, 38-48 (1954).
- [198] Nagy, E., and Nagy, I., "Ordering in Alloy CuaAu-I," J. Phys. Chem. Solids 23, 1605-1612 (1962).
- [199] Elkholy, H., and Nagy, E., "Ordering in Alloy Cu₃Au-II," J. Phys. Chem. Solids **23**, 1613–1619 (1962).

J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data, Vol. 3, No. 2, 1974

- [200] Nagy, E., and Toth, J., "Ordering in Alloy Cu₃Au-III." J. Phys. Chem. Solids 24, 1043–1047 (1963).
- [201] Nagy, I., "Ordering in Alloy Cu₃Au-IV," J. Phys. Chem. Solids 26, 179-183 (1965).
- [202] Elkholy, H., and Zsoldos, L., "X-Ray Investigations of the Kinetics of Ordering in the Alloy Cu₃Au," Acta Phys. Hung. 15, 317-323 (1963).
- [203] Zsoldos, L., "X-Ray Study of the Kinetics of Ordering in the Alloy Cu₃Au," Phys. Status Solidi 3, 2411-2416 (1963).
- [204] Kuczynski, G. C., and Doyama, M., "Transformations in Disordered Gold Copper Alloys," J. Appl. Phys. 27, 651-655 (1956).
- [205] Raether, H., "Electron-Interference Investigations of the Ordered State of Cu₃Au," (in German) Z. Angew Phys. 4, 53-59 (1952).
- [206] Hirabayashi, M., Nagasaki, S., and Kono, H., "Calorimetric Study of Cu₃Au at High Temperatures," J. Appl. Phys. 28, 1070-1071 (1957).
- [207] Damask, A. C., Fuhrman, Z. A., and Germagnoli, E., "Electrical Resistivity Changes in Annealed Cu₃Au Above the Critical Temperature," J. Phys. Chem. Solids 19, 265-280 (1961).
- [208] Schoijet, M., and Girifalco, L. A., "Diffusion in the Face Centered Cubic Ordered Alloys," J. Phys. Chem. Solids 29, 497-508 (1969).
- [209] Krivoglaz, M. A., and Smirnov, A. A., "Theory of Diffusion of Atoms in Crystals," (in Russian) Usp. Fiz. Nauk 55, p. 391 (1955).
- [210] Benci, S., Gasparrini, G., Germagnoli, E., and Schianchi, G., "Quench-Enhanced Ordering in the Cu₃Au Alloy," J. Phys. Chem. Solids 26, 2059-2065 (1965).
- [211] Anquetil, M. C., "The Cu₃Au Allovs," J. Phys. Radium, Paris 23, 113-118 (1962).
- [212] Feder, R., Mooney, M., and Nowick, A. S., "Ordering Kinetics in Long-Range Ordered Cu₃Au," Acta Metall. 6, 266-277 (1958).
- [213] De Jong, M., and Koehler, J. S., "Annealing of Pure Gold Quenched from Above 800 °C," Phys. Rev. 129, 49-61 (1963).
- [214] Blewitt, T. H., and Coltman, R. R., "The Effect of Neutron Irradiation on Metallic Diffusion," Phys. Rev. 85, p. 384 (1952).
- [215] Ling, F. -W., and Starke Jr., E. A., "The Kinetics of Disorder-Order Transformations," Scr. Metall. 5, 741-748 (1971).
- [216] Dienes, G. J., "Kinetics of Ordering in the Alloy AuCu," J. Appl. Phys. 22, 1020-1026 (1951).
- [217] Gorsky, W. S., "On the Transitions in the CuAu Alloy. II. On the Migration of Atoms in the Lattice of CuAu," (in German) Phys. Z. Sowjetunion 6, 69-76 (1934).
- [218] Gorsky, W. S., "Theory of the Order Process and of the Diffusion in Mixed Crystals of CuAu," Phys. Z. Sowjetunion 8, 443-456 (1935).
- [219] Harker, D., "Order Hardening: Its Mechanism and Recognition," Trans. Am. Soc. Met. 32, 210-238 (1944).
- [220] Borelius, G., "On the Equilibrium and Kinetics of Order-Disorder Transformation in Alloys," J. Inst. Met. 74, 17-31 (1948).
- [221] Nystrom, J., "A Calorimetric and Resistometric Study on the Transformations in AuCu," Ark. Fys. 2, 151-159 (1950).
- [222] Borelius, G., Larsson, L. E., and Selberg, H., "Evolution of Heat During Disorder-Order Transformations in AuCu," Ark. Fys. 2, 161-170 (1950).
- [223] Kamel, R., "Relaxation of the Precipitated Copper Atoms in the Binary Alloy AuCu," J. Inst. Met. 84, 55-56 (1955-56).
- [224] Brunt, G., and Meneghini, D., "Formation of Solid Metallic Solutions by Diffusion in the Solid State," (in German) Int. Z. Metallogr. 2, 26-35 (1912).
- [225] Thompson, F. C., and Dearden, W. H., "Note on an Experiment in Solid Diffusion, and its Possible Bearing on the Structure of Solid Solutions," Trans. Faraday Soc. 20, 84-86 (1924).
- [226] Bruni, G., and Meneghini, E., "Formation of Solid Metallic Solution by Diffusion in the Solid State," (in Italian) Atti Accad. Nag. Lincci Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Nat. Rend. 20, 671-674 (1911).

J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data, Vol. 3, No. 2, 1974

- [227] Jost, W., "Rate of Diffusion of Copper into Gold," (in German) Z. Phys. Chem. B 16, 123-128 (1932).
- [228] Jost, W., "Rate of Diffusion of Some Metals in Gold and Silver." (in German) Z. Phys. Chem. B 21, 158-160 (1933) [translation available from NTIS as TT 70-57352].
- [229] Matano, C., "X-Ray Studies on the Diffusion of Metals in Copper," Jap. J. Phys. 9, 41-47 (1934).
- [230] Mooradian, V. G., and Norton, J. T., "Influence of Lattice Distortion on Diffusion in Metals," Trans. Am. Inst. Min. Metall. Eng. 117, 89-101 (1935).
- [231] DuMond, J., and Youtz, J. P., "An X-Ray Method of Determining Rates of Diffusion in the Solid State," J. Appl. Phys. 11, 357-365 (1940).
- [232] Tanaka, S., and Matano, C., "Studies on the Diffusion of Metals in the Solid State, Part II," Mem. Coll. Sci. Kyoto Imp. Univ. 14, 59-66 (1931).
- [233] Tanaka, S., and Matano, C., "Studies on the Diffusion of Metals in the Solid State, Part I," Mem. Coll. Sci. Kyoto Imp. Univ. 13, 343-351 (1930).
- [234] Jost, W., Diffusion in Solids, Liquids, Gases (Academic Press, Inc., New York, 1952).
- [235] da Silva, L. C. C., and Mehl, R. F., "Interface and Marker Movements in Diffusion in Solid Solutions of Metals," Trans. Am. Inst. Min. Metall. Eng. 191, 155-173 (1951).
- [236] Batz, W., and Birchenall, C. E., unpublished research, quoted in "Volume Diffusion-An Empirical Survey," by C. E. Birchenall Atom Movements (Amer. Soc. Metals. Cleveland, Ohio, 1951) pp. 112-128.
- [237] Ziebold. T. O., and Ogilvie, R. E., "Ternary diffusion in Copper-Silver-Gold Alloys," Trans. AIME (Am. Inst. Min. Metall. Pet. Eng.) 239, 942-953 (1967).
- [238] Badia, M., "Interdiffusion of Fe and the Transition Metals," (in French) Ph.D. Thesis, Univ. Nancy, France, (1969), 85 pp.
- [239] Badia, M., and Vignes, A., "Interdiffusion and the Kirkendall Effect in Binary Alloys," (in French) Mem. Sci. Rev. Met. 66, 915-927 (1969) [translation available from BISI as BISI 8881].
- [240] Pinnel, M. R., and Bennett, J. E., "Mass Diffusion in Polycrystalline Copper/Electroplated Gold Planar Couples," Metall. Trans. 3, 1989-1997 (1972).
- [241] Carpenter, J. A., and Houska, C. R., "X-Ray Investigation of Bimetallic Diffusion Zones," Abstract Bulletin of the Institute Metals Division 2, 8-9 (1967).
- [242] Tenny, D. R., "X-Ray Diffraction Investigation of Bimetallic Diffusion Zones in the Cu-Au and Cu-Ni Systems," Ph. D. Thesis, Virginia Polytechnic Inst., (1969), 201 pp.
- [243] Austin, A. E., and Richard, N. A., "Grain-Boundary Diffusion of Gold in Copper," J. Appl. Phys. 33, 3569-3574 (1962).
- [244] Austin, A. E., Richard, N. A., and Wood, V. E., "Surface and Grain-Boundary Diffusion of Gold-Copper," J. Appl. Phys. 37, 3650-3658 (1966).
- [245] Borovskii, I. B., Il'in, N. I., and Loseva, E. L., "Effect of Order-Disorder Transition on Diffusion," (in Russian) Tr. Inst. Met. Akad. Nauk SSSR, No. 6, 77-80 (1960) [translation available from NTIS as TT 70-58200].
- [246] Borovskii, I. B., Il'in, N. I., and Loseva, E. L., "Study of Mutual Diffusion in Cu-Au Systems," (in Russian) Tr. Inst. Met. Akad. Nauk SSSR, No. 15, 32-40 (1963) [translation available from NTIS as TT 70-59113].
- [247] Matysina, Z. A., "Theory of Diffusion in Ordered Alloys of the Au-Cu Type," (in Ukranian) Ukr. Fiz. Zh. 8, 190-195 (1963) [translation available from NTIS as TT 70-59086].
- [248] Khobaib, M., and Gupta, K. P., "Diffusion of Cu in AuCu Alloy," Scr. Metall. 4, 605-609 (1970).
- [249] Duwez, P., and Jordan, C. B., "Sintering of Copper-Gold Alloys," in *The Physics of Powder Metallurgy*, (A Symposium held at Bayside, N.Y., Aug. 24-26, 1949), edited by W. E. Kingston (McGraw-Hill Book Co., Inc., New York, 1951) Chapter 13, pp. 230-237.

- [250] Pines, B. Ya., Grebennik, I. P., and Gribko, V. F., "Electron-Diffraction Study of Volume and Surface Diffusion in the Copper-Gold and Nickel-Gold Systems," (in Ukranian) Ukr. Fiz. Zh. 13, 280-286 (1968) [Ukr. Phys. J. 13, 194-198 (1968)].
- [251] Alessandrini, E. I., and Kuptsis, J. D., "Diffusion in Thin Bi-Metal Films of Au-Cu," J. Vac. Sci. Technol. 6, 647-649 (1969).
- [252] Birchenall, C. E., "Volume-Diffusion An Empirical Survey," in Atom Movements (Amer. Soc. for Metals, Cleveland, Ohio, 1950) pp. 112–128.
- [253] Matano, C., "On the Relation between the Diffusion-Coefficients and Concentrations of Solid Metals (The Nickel-Copper System)," Jap. J. Phys. 8, 109-113 (1933).
- [254] Hall, L. D., "An Analytical Method of Calculating Variable Diffusion Coefficients," J. Chem. Phys. 21, 87-89 (1953).
- [255] Pines, B. Ya., Grebennik, I. P., and Zyman, Z. Z., "The Relation Between the Effective and True Coefficients of Surface Diffusion," (in Russian) Fiz. Met. Metalloved. 27, (2), 307-314 (1969) [Phys. Met. Metallogr. 27, (2), 111-118 (1969)].
- [256] Tu, T. N., and Berry, B. S., "X-Ray Study of Interdiffusion in Bimetallic Cu-Au Films," J. Appl. Phys. 43, 3283-3290 (1972).
- [257] Horl, E. M., and Rieder, K. H., "Diffusion of Metals in Thin Metal Films," J. Vac. Sci. Technol. 9, 276-278 (1971).
- [258] Horl, E. M., Proc. of the Fourth European Regional Conf. on Electron Microscopy, Rome, (1968), Vol. 1, p. 531.
- [259] Feder, R., and Berry, B. S., "Seeman-Bohlin X-Ray Diffractometer for Thin Films," J. Appl. Cryst. 3, 372-379 (1970).
- [260] Pines, B. Ya., and Grebennik, I. P., "Electron Diffraction Determination of Heterodiffusion Coefficients in Cu-Ni, Fe-Ni, Cu-Al and Ag-Al Alloys," (in Russian) Kristallografiya 4, 47-53 (1959) [Sov. Phys. - Crystallogr. 4, 42-47 (1960)].
- [261] Pines, B. Ya., Grebennik, I. P., and Gektina, I. V., "Electron-Diffraction Study of Surface Diffusion in the Copper-Nickel and Copper-Silver Systems," (in Russian) Kristallografiya 12, 639-645 (1967) [Sov. Phys. - Crystallogr. 12, 556-561 (1968)].
- [262] Pines, B. Ya., and Grebennik, I. P., "A High-Temperature Electronograph with Three Magnetic Lenses and Evaporation Chamber," (in Russian) Prib. Tekh. Eksp. No. 1, 156-160 (1961) [Instrum. Exp. Tech. No. 1, 160-164 (1961)].
- [263] Pines, B. Ya., and Kovalenko, S. I., "A Multiframe High-Temperature Electron-Diffraction Camera," (in Russian) Prib. Tekh. Eksp. No. 1, 192-194 (1965) [Instrum. Exp. Tech. No. 1, 195-197 (1905)].
- [264] Tournon, J., and Kuczynski, G. C., "Diffusion Coefficients From Sintering of Au-Cu Alloy Wires," Scr. Metall. 5, 333-335 (1971).
- [265] Kuczynski, G. C., "Study of the Sintering of Glass," J. Appl. Phys. 20, 1160-1163 (1949).
- [266] Benci, S., Gasparrini, G., and Rosso, T., "Diffusion of Cobalt in Cu₃Au Alloy," Phys. Lett. 24A, 418-419 (1967).
- [267] Creydt, M., "Diffusion in Electrodeposited Layers and between Multilayer Combinations of Soft-Solders at Temperatures between 23 and 212 °C," (in German) Ph.D. Thesis, Eidgenossischen Technischen Hochschule Zurich, 1971, 105 pp. [translation available from NTIS as TT 72-53056].
- [268] Creydt, M., and Fichter, R., "Diffusion in Electrodeposited Layers and between Multilayer Combinations of Soft-Solders at Temperatures between 23 and 212 °C," (in German) Metall. 25, 1124–1127 (1971).
- [269] Gol'tsov, V. A., Vykhodets, V. B., Gel'd, P. V., and Krylova, T. A.,
 "Diffusion, Penetration and Solubility of Hydrogen in the Alloy Cu₃Au," (in Russian) Fiz. Met. Metalloved. **30**, (3), 657-659 (1970) [Phys. Met. Metallogr. **30**, (3), 216-219 (1970)].
- [270] Vykhodets, V. B., Gol'tsov, V. A., and Gel'd, P. V., "Apparatus for Measuring Diffusion Coefficients and the Permeation Rate of Hydrogen in Metals," Tr. Ural Politekh. Inst. No. 167, 114– 117 (1968).

- [271] Krivoglaz, M. A., and Smirnov, A. A., "Theory of Diffusion Interstitial Atoms in Ordered Alloys," (in Russian) Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 24, 673-680 (1953).
- [272] Gol'tsov, V. A., Gel'd, P. V., and Vykhodets, V. B., "Activation Energy of Hydrogen Diffusion in Metals with an F.C.C. Lattice," (in Russian) Fiz. Met. Metalloved. 26, (3), 522-526 (1968) [Phys. Met. Metallogr. 26, (3), 144-148 (1969)].
- [273] Vykhodets, V. B., Gol'tsov, V. A., and Gel'd, P. V., "The Activation Energy for Hydrogen Diffusion in Metals with a B.C.C. Lattice," (in Russian) Fiz. Met. Metalloved. 25, (6), 1090-1094 (1968) [Phys. Met. Metallogr. 25, (6), 133-138 (1969)].
- [274] Gol'tsov, V. A., Vykhodets, V. B., Gel'd, P. V., and Simakov, Yu. P., "Effect of Ordering on H Diffusion and Permeation in Ni₂Fe Alloy," (in Russian) Fiz. Khim. Mekh. Mater. 5, 597-601 (1969).
- [275] Vykhodets, V. B., Gol'tsov, V. A., and Gel'd, P. V., "The Theory of Hydrogen Diffusion in Ordered Cu₃Au-Type Alloys," (in Russian) Fiz. Tverd. Tela 12, 2692-2697 (1970) [Sov. Phys. -Solid State 12, 2163-2167 (1971)].
- [276] Graf, L., and Klatte, H., "On the Accelerated Reaction at the Grain Boundaries of Alloys. I. Grain Boundary Diffusion of Mercury in Copper-Gold and Copper-Zinc Alloys," (in German) Z. Phys. Chem. 10, 306-309 (1957).
- [277] Helfmeir, H., and Feller-Kniepmeier, M., "The Effect of Impurities on the Diffusion of Copper in Nickel Single Crystals," in *Diffusion Processes*, edited by J. N. Sherwood, A. V. Chadwick, W. M. Muir, and F. L. Swinton (Gordon and Breach, New York, 1971) Vol. 1, Chapter 4.2, pp. 317-324.
- [278] Chatterjee, A., Crawley, A. F., and Fabian, D. J., "Preparation of Self-Diffusion Specimens Using Metal Distillation," Scr. Metall. 4, 869-871 (1970).
- [279] El-Naggar, M. M. A., and Parlee, N. A. D., "Diffusion Studies of Oxygen in Liquid Copper and Copper Alloys by a Solid Electrolytic Cell Technique," High Temp. Sci. 3, 138-154 (1971).
- [280] Abbott, W. H., Battelle Memorial Inst., Columbus, Ohio, The Mechanism of Tarnishing of Precious-Metal Contact Alloys, 15th Holm Seminar (Seminar by Illinois Inst. of Technology and IIT Research Inst.) 1969, 5 pp.
- [281] Gertsriken, S., and Dekhtyar, I., "Effect of the Valence of a Third Addition Element on the Process of Diffusion in Copper-Zinc Alloys," (in Russian) Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 20, 45-52 (1950) [translation available from NTIS as TT 70-57081].
- [282] Gertsriken, S., Il'Kevich, G., Sakharov, I., and Faingol'd, I., "The Determination of the Diffusion Coefficient of Metals by an Evaporization Method," (in Russian) Zh. Tekh. Fiz. 10, 786-794 (1940) [translation available from NTIS as TT 70-57029].
- [283] Modjeska, R. S., and Kann, S. N., "Diffusion Phenomena in Plated Precious Metals," Proc. Am. Electroplat. Soc. 50, 117-124 (1963).
- [284] Austin, A. E., and Richard, N. A., Battelle Memorial Inst., Columbus, Ohio, Grain-Boundary Diffusion of Gold in Copper, AFOSR No. 61-107, 1962, 9 pp. [available from NTIS as AD 278377].
- [285] Whipple, R. T. P., "Concentration Contours in Grain Boundary Diffusion," Philos. Mag. 45, 1225-1236 (1954).
- [286] Suzuoka, T., "Lattice and Grain Boundary Diffusion in Polycrystals," Trans. Jap. Inst. Met. 2, 25-33 (1961).
- [287] Geguzin, Ya. Ye., Ovcharenko, N. N., and Rusovskaya, O. N., "Self-Diffusion of Atoms in the Subsurface Layer of Binary Alloys From the Study of the Kinetics of Scratch Closure," (in Russian) Fiz. Met. Metalloved. 21, (4), 536-540 (1966) [Phys. Met. Metallogr. 21, (4), 51-54 (1966)].
- [288] Shewmon, P. G., "Surface Diffusion from a Point Source, Part 1," J. Appl. Phys. 34, 755-757 (1963).
- [289] Suzuoka, T., "Mathematical Analysis of Tracer Surface Diffusion," J. Phys. Soc. Jap. 20, 1259-1270 (1965).
- [290] Pines, B. Ya., and Zyman, Z. Z., "The Questions of Unipolar" Surface Diffusion in the System Ge-AL." (in Russian) Fiz. Met.

J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data, Vol. 3; No. 2, 1974

Metalloved. 25, (5), 840-844 (1968) [Phys. Met. Metallogr. 25, (5), 83-87 (1969)].

- [291] Mullins, W. W., "Flattening of a Nearly Plane Solid Surface due to Capillarity," J. Appl. Phys. 30, 77-83 (1959).
- [292] Geguzin, Ya. Ye., and Ovcharenko, N. N., "Surface Energy and Surface Processes in Solids," (in Russian) Usp. Fiz. Nauk 76, 283-328 (1962) [Sov. Phys. Usp. 76, 129-157 (1962)].
- [293] Geguzin, Ya. Ye., and Kulik, I. O., "Investigation of Some of the Physical Processes Occurring on the Surface of Crystalline Bodies at High Temperatures, IV. Calculation of the Kinetics of 'Automatic Closing-Up' of Intentionally Created Defects on the Surface of Solids," (in Russian) Fiz. Met. Metalloved. 9, (3), 379-384 (1960) [Phys. Met. Metallogr. 9, (3), 52-56 (1961)].
- [294] Nehlep, G., Jost, W., and Linke, R., "Electrotransport in Solid Gold-Copper Alloys," Z. Elektrochem. 42, 150-153 (1936) [translation available from NTIS as TT 71-55107].

- [295] Jaffe, D., and Shewmon, P. G., "Thermal Diffusion of Substitutional Impurities in Copper, Gold, and Silver," Acta Metall. 12, 515-527 (1964).
- [296] Darken, L. S., and Oriani, R. A., "Thermal Diffusion in Solid Alloys," Acta Metall. 841-847 (1954).
- [297] Oriani, R. A., "Thermomigration in Solid Metals," J. Phys. Chem. Solids 30, 339-351 (1969).
- [298] Kostyukov, N. S., "Soret Coefficient in Two-Component Solids," (in Russian) Fiz. Tverd. Tela 4, 3326–3327 (1962) [Sov. Phys. – Solid State 4, 2434–2437 (1963)].
- [299] Kostyukov, N. S., "The Effect of a Temperature Gradient on Diffusion in Solid Bodies," (in Russian) Fiz. Tverd. Tela 3, 2953– 2954 (1961) [Sov. Phys. - Solid State 3, 2157-2158 (1962)].
- [300] Palatnik, A. S., and Lyubchenko, A. P., "About Diffusion in Solid Solutions with Varying Concentrations," (in Russian) C. R. Acad. (Dokl.) Acad. Sci. URSS 117, 407-410 (1957).

J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data, Vol. 3, No. 2, 1974